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DECISION

Econg, J

Accused Joel G. Salvador (“Salvador”) stands charged for
three (3) counts of violation of Section 3(e} of Republic Act No.
3019, otherwise known as the Anti-Graft and Corrupt Practlces
Act, and one (1) count of Illegal Use of Public Funds defined and
penahzed under Article 220 of the Revlsed Penal Code. |-

Accused Rolando C. Reyes (“Reyes”} is being charged for
two (2) counts of violation of Section 3(e) of R.A. 3019, while
accused Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr. (“Tolentino”) and Perlita L.
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Mauri. (‘Mauri”) stand charged with one (1) count of violation of
Section 3(e) of R.A. 3019 and one (1) count of Illegal Use of Public
Funds defined and penalized under Article 220 of the Revised
Penal Code. Accused Mariano L. Ang (“‘Ang”) and Dayid O.
Dominong (‘Dominong”) are being charged with one (1) count of
violation of Section 3(e) of R.A. 3019. ’

‘The Informations in these cases read as fdlloWs,l to \X;rit:
SB-15-CRM-0096 {Pp _vs. Salvador, et alJ I
(Violation of Section 3(e), R.A. 3019)

That on or about December 29, 2003, or sometime prior
or subsequent thereto, in Baguio City, Philippines, and within
the jurisdiction of this Honotable Court, the above-named
accused [Joel G. Salvador], a high ranking public officer, being
then Regional Director of Environment and Natural Resources,
Cordillera Administrative Region (CAR), committing the crirhe
herein chatged in relation to his office and taking advantage of
his official functions, acting with manifest partiality and evident
bad faith, did then and there willfully, unlawfully and crimina*ly
give unwarranted benefit, privilege or advantage to David
Dominong by awarding the repair/rehabilitation of the
Regional Director’s Office and Environmental Information
Center locited at the Department of Environment and
Natutal Resources, Bagnio City without public bidding as

" yequired by Republic Act Na, 9184 thereby causing undue
injury to the government and to the public as a whole. :

CONTRARY TO LAW,

SB-15-CRM-0097 (Pp vs. Salvador, et al.}
(Violation of Section 3(e), R.A. 3019}

That on or about December 29, 2003, or sometime prior
or subsequent thereto, in Baguio City, Philippines, and within
the ‘jurisdiction of this' Honorable Court, accused Joel G.
Salvador, being then then the Regional Director and a hihh
ranking public officer, Rolando C. Reyes then Of ficer-in-Charge
of Administrative and Finance Division, Asterio C. Tolentino,
Jr., then Accountant, and Perlita L. Mauri, then Budget Officer,
all of the Environmental Management Burcau, Department, of
Environment and Natural Resources, Cordillera Administratjve
Region (CAR), committing the crime herein charged in relation
to their office and taking advantage of their official lor
administrative functions, acting with manifest partiality and
evident bad faith and conspiring and confederating with
accused Mariano Ang, owner of Pyramid Hardware and
Construction Supply (PHCS) and with one another, did then and
there willfully, unlawfully and criminally give unwarranted

! Records, Vol. 1, page 1.
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henefit to accused Mariano A,-__.EM‘_____MM
the construction materials used in the repair/ rehabilitation
of the Regional Director’s Office and Environmental
Information Center of the Department of Environment and
Natural Resources, Bagulo City in the amount of Seven
Hundred Fifty Eight Thousarid Nine Hundred Ninety Eight
Pesos and Seven Centavos (PhP758,998.07) without public
bidding as required by Republic Act No. 9184 which amount
was already paid to and accepted by accused Ang despite
the fact that the goods had not been delivered, thereby
causing undue injury to the government and to the public
as a whole. : i

CONTRARY TO LAW.

SB-15-CRM-0098 (Pp vs. Salvador, et al,) i}
(Violation of Section 3(e}, R.A. 3019) '

That on or about December 29, 2003, or sometime prior
or subsequent thereto, in Baguio City, Philippines, and witHin
the jurisdiction of this Honorable Court, accused Joel G.
Salvador, being then the Regional Director and a high ranking
public officer, and Rolando C. Reyes, then Officer-in-Charge of
Administrative and Finance Division, both of the Environmental

 Management Bureau, Department of Environment and Natural

Resources, Cordillera Administrative Region’ (CAR), as such
public officers, committing the crime herein charged in relation
to their office and taking advantage of their official functions,
acting with manifest partiality and evident bad faith and

‘conspiring and confederating with accused David _Domim:»l g

and with one another, did then and there willfully, unlawfully
and criminally glve unwarranted benefit, privilege lor
advantage to David Dominong, a private Contractor,
authorizing the payment of retention fee in the amount iof
Thirty Three Thousand Seven Hundred Seventy Nine Pesos
and Fourteen Centavor (Php33,779.14) to the latter despite
glaring structural defects in the repair/rehabilitation of the
Regional Director's Office and Environmental Information
Center of the Department of Environment and Natural
Resources, Baguio City, with DAVID DOMINONG accepting
the same amount knowing fully well that he is not entitled

thereto, thereby causing undue _injury to the government.

CONTRARY TO LAW.

SB-15-CRM-0099 (Pp vs. Salvador, etal.]
(Illegal Use of Public Funds defined and penalize:d
Under Article 220, Revised Penal Code) ;

That on or about December 29, 2003, or sometime. prior
or subsequent thereto, in Baguio City, Philippines, and wit}?in
the jurisdiction of this Honorable Court, accused Joel G.
Salvador, being then the Regional Director and a high ranki:ng

-l
i
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' public officer, Asterio C. Tolentino Jr., Accountant and Perlita

L. Mauri, being then the Budget Officer, respectively, all of the
Environmental Management Bureau, Department ?f

Environment and Natural Resources, Cordillera Administrati}e

Region (CAR), committing the felony in relation to their office,
conspiring and confederating with one another, did then a _rd
there willfully, unlawfully and feloniously apply, without any
lepal authority, the public funds  under their custody
amounting to One Million One Hundred Fourteen Thousand
Seven Hundred Seventy One Pesos and  Thirty Four
Centavos (PhP1,114,771.34) for the repair/rehabilitation of
the Regional Director’s Office and Environmental
Information Center, located at. the Department of
Environment and Natural Resources, Baguio City, knowing
fully well that such public fund has heen specifically
o appropriated by law for the implementation of Ecological
- Waste Management project and for the Maintenance and
' Other Operating Expenses, thereby causing damage [or
embarrassment to the public service. '

CONTRARY TO LAW,

. !

A Hold Departure Order was issued on April 24, 2015
against accused Salvador, Reyes, Tolentino, Mauri, Ang and
Dominiong for Criminal Cases Nos..SB-15-CRM-0096 TO|0098,2
while a Hold Departure Order was issued on April 2&, 2015
against accused Salvador, Tolentino and Mauri for Criminal Case
No. SB-15-CRM-0099.3" Subsequently, a Warrant of Arrest was
issued on April 30, 2015 against accused Salvador,iTReyes,
Tolentino, Mauiri, Ang and Dominong for Criminal Cases Nos. SB-
15-CRM-0096 TO 0098* and another Warrant of Arrest was
issued on the same date against accused Salvador, Tolentino and .

. Mauri for Criminal Case No. SB-15-CRM-0099.° b '

On May 20, 2015, accused - Salvador filed a Motion for
Reduction of Bail,6 which was granted by the Court| in its
Resolution dated May 20, 2015.7 He then posted his consolidated
cash bail on May 20, 2015 in the reduced amount for his
provisional liberty.® ' -

7 Records, Vol. 1, at p. 215.
*1d. at 216.

41d. at 218.

51d. at 219.

51d, at 230.

71d. at 231-A.

B1d. at 233.
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On May 22, 2015 accused Ang posted his cash bail.? On-
May 25, 2015, accused Reyes, Tolentino and Dominong @osted
their cash bail.!o On May 28, 2015, Mauri posted her cash bail. !

Upon being arraigned on June 18, 2015, accused Salvador
assisted by his counsel, pleaded “Not Guilty” to the charges

against him.12

On June 22, 2015, accused Tolentino filed a Moj:ion to
Nullify Decision / Resolution Issued in the Above-Entitled Cases
dated June 17, 2015.13 On July 22, 2015, he also filed an
~Omnibus Motion (To Defer . Proceedings, To Quash the
Information and To Dismiss the Case) dated July 9, 2015.14

During their arraignment on July 23, 2015, accusedl Reyes,
Mauri, Ang and Dominong, assisted by thelr respective counsels
separately pleaded “Not Guilty” to the charges against theth.!5 As
" regards accused Tolentino, his counsel moved for the deferment
of his arraignment on the ground that he has a pending Omnibus
Motion {To Defer Proceedings, To Quash the Information (and To
Dismiss the Case) dated July 9, 2015.16

On August 7, 2015, the prosecution ﬁled its
Comment/Opposition (To Omnibus Motion dated July 9| 2015)
dated August 5, 2015.17 In jts Resolution dated August 15, 2015,
the Court resolved to partially grant accused Tolentino’s Ommbus
Motion (To Defer Proceedlngs To Quash the Information land To
Dismiss the Case) dated July 9, 2015, it appearing that accused
Tolentino had not been accorded his right to prehmmary
investigation. 18 The Court. then ordered the Office jof the
Ombudsman, through the Office of the Special Prosecutor, to
conduct a prehmmary investigation insofar as the a&cused—
"movant Tolentino is concerned and that the proceedlngs in these
cases be suspended-insofar as accused Tolentino is conc gned 19

On October 28, 2015, the prosecution filed an Urgent Ex-
Parte Motion for Extension of Time to Submit the Result of the

*Id. at 271.
1014 at272,273 and 275.
nid. at274. -
1214, at 286-A.
H Id. at 305.
414, at 301.
71d, at 319.
614,

171d. at 383,
114, at 246,
71d.
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Preliminary Investigation dated October 27, 2015, 20 which was

granted by the Court in its Resolution dated October 20, %015.21
R

During Pre-trial, the parties, except for accused Toﬁentino,'
entered into the following stipulations: L

I.  STATEMENT OF ADMITTED FACTS

The accused admitted the following facts:
e Accused Joel Salvador, Rolando Reyes, %Asterio
Tolentino, Jr., Perlita Mauri, Mariano Ang and David
Dominong admitted that they are the same }x')ersons
charged in the information. )

¢ Accused Joel - Salvador admitted that he ,'|as the
Regional Director of the ‘Environmental Management
Bureau (EMB) - Cordillera Administrative'|Region

- (CAR), DENR at the time of the alleged commission of
the offense. ' ='

e Accused Rolando C. Reyes admitted that he was the
Officer-in-Charge of the EMB-CAR, DENR at ‘E}Xe time
of the alleged commission of the offense. _

e Accused Perlita L. Mauri admitted that she was the
Budget Officer of the EMB-CAR, DENR at the ‘time of
. the alleged commission of the offense. i

e Accused Mariano Ang admitted that he was the owner
of the Pyramid Hardware and Construction Sfupplies
located at No. 33 Bonifacio St., Baguio, at the;]time of
the alleged commission of the offense. !

In turn, the prosecution stipulated as follows:

e A Memorandum dated January 26, 2004 was issued
by the Director Julian D. Amador of the EMB'—!Ccntral
Office to the Regional Director, EMB-CAR. |

o The construction materials used in the
repair/rehabilitation of the Regional Director Office
and Environmental Information Center of the| DENR,

|

» Records, Vol. 2, p. 50.
M 1d. at 50. _

|

KX
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Baguio City, was purchased from Mariano Apg, the
owner of PHCS. :

o Accused Perlita Maura certified and obligaﬂed the
availability of funds for the repair and rehabilitation of
Regional Director’s Office of EMB-CAR, DENR on
December 30, 2003 22

The issues proposed to be resolved are as follows: | ‘
As proposed by the prosecution:

+ In SB15CRM0096 - Whether accused Joel G. Salvador
is guilty for the crime of Violation of Section! 3(e) of
Republic Act’ No. 3019 for actlng with manifest -
partiality and evident bad faith, giving unwa&‘ranted

~ benefit, privilege "or advantage to accused David
Dominong by awarding the repair/ rehablhtat:on of the
Regional Director’s Office and Envirorimental
Information Center of the DENR, Baguio City, without.
public bxddmg as required by Repubhc ‘Act No. 9184,
thereby causing undue injury to the govemment

e In SB15CRM0097 — Whether accused Joel G. Sédvador,
Rolando C. Reyes, Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr. Perlita L.
Mauri and Mariano Ang are guilty for violation of
Section 3(e) of Republic Act No. 3019 by acting with
manifest partiality and evident bad faith and
conspiring and confederating with one another to give
unwarranted benefit, privilege or advantage to accused
Mariano Ang by purchasing from Pyramid Hardware
and Construction Supply (PHCS) owned by accused
Mariano, the construction materials used '1n the
repair /rehabilitation of the Regional Director’s Office
and Environmental Information Center of theTDENR
Baguio City, in the amount of P758,998.70 without
public bidding as required by Republic Act Nd. 9184,
which amount was already paid to and accepted by
accused Ang despite the fact that the goods had not
been delivered, causing undue injury to the

governrnent

'
o

¢ In SBISCRMOOQB Whether accused Joel G. Salvador
Rolando C. Reyes and David Dominong are gullty for
violation of Section 3(e) of Republic Act No. 3019 by

B

2714, at 207-208.
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acting with manifest partiality and evident bagl faith
and conspiring and confederating with one another to
give unwarranted benefit, privilege or advantage to
accused Dominong, a private contractor by
authorizing the payment of retention fee in the arnount
of P33,779.14 to the latter despite glaring’ strizctural
defects in the repalr/rehablhtatmn of the Regional
Director’s Office and Environmental Inforlmatlon
Center of the DENR, Baguio City, which amount-was
already paid to and accepted by accused Dommong |
knowing that he was’not entitled thereto, Qausmg
undue injury to the government _ ! 5

¢ In SB15CRMO0Q99 - Whether accused Joel Salvador :
Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr. and Perlita L. Mauri are guilty
for Illegal Use of Public Funds defined and penalized
under Artlcle 220 of the Revised Penal Code for
conspiring- and. confederatmg with one ancther in.
applying without any legal authority, the publi¢ funds

. under their custody amounting to P1,114,771.34 for
the repair/rehabilitation of the Regional Director’s
Office and Environmental Information -Center of the
DENR, Baguio City, knowing fully well that suc
fund has.been specifically appropriated by la v for the
implementation of Ecological Waste Management |
project for the Maintenance and Other Operating
Expenses, causing - damage or embarrassment to the

public service. = o :

As proposed by acc:used Joel G Salvador:

é Whether the .accused should be held 11abIe 'for the
crimes of violation of Section 3(e) of Republlc 'Act No.
3019. . . __ , |;

e Whether the accused should be held llable lfor the .
' crime of Technical Malversation under Artlcld 220 of -
the Rewsed_ _Penal Code.

As proposed by accused Rolando C. Reyes: - |
||
e Whether public bidding is required by law urider the
circumstances then existing for the purc ase of
construction materials for the repair/ rehablhtatlon of
the Regional Director’s Office and Env1ronrnenta1

B
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Information Center of the Department of Natural
Resources in Bagum City.

o Whether there is proof beyond reasonable doulbt that
- construction materials allegedly purchased from PHCS
were not delivered.

¢ Whether there is proof beyond reasonable douht that
the accused gave unwarranted benefit to accused
Mariano Ang | :

. Whether there is proof beyond reasonable doubt that

the accused acted in conspiracy with the other qCCused
-in these cases.

o Whether there is proof beyohd reasonable doubt that
the accused caused undue injury to the government
and the publlc

. 'Whether there i is proof beyond reasonable doqibt that
"at the time the retention fee was purportedly paid to

. David Dominong, the subject building had glarmg
structural defects -

As 'proposed by acéused David Dominong:

¢ Whether the guilt of accused David Dommong in SB-
15-CRM-0098 far violation of Section 3(e) of R.A. 3019
for allegedly accepting the retention fee of P33 77 9.14,
even if he was not entitled thereto, can be |proven
- beyond reasonable doubt.23 |

On November 4, 2015, accused Mauri and Reyes filed their
waivers of appearance both dated November 4, 2015,24 which
were noted by the Court m 1ts Resolution dated Novemher 12,
2015.25 “

: I

On December 4, 2015, the prosecution filed
Manifestation/Compliance dated December 3, 2015, at achmg
thereto the approved Office of the Special Prosecutor s Resolution

"dated November 11, 2015 resolving to maintain the Informations
in Criminal Case Nos. SB-15- CRM 0097 and SB-15-CRM-0099

B1d. at 208-211.
M Records, Vol. 2 at pp. 56-57.
B1d. at 64-A.

Y
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against #accused Tolentlno and the other accused.?¢ IIn its

" Resolution dated December 4, 2015, the Court noted tt}e said

Manifestation/Compliance and ordered the cases against
accused Tolentino to proceed.?? - .
¥

Meanwhile, on February 4, 2016, accused Tolentmo filed a
Motion to Dismiss dated February 4, 2016,2% which was Idenled
by the Court in its Resolution dated March 17, 2016.29

On February 19, 2016 the prosecution filed a Motlon to
Suspend Pendente Lite dated February 19, 2016 as to accused
Salvador, Mauri and Reyes, praying that they be suspended from

their present and from any other public office which they may
occupy pendlng trial. .

On February 29, 2016, the prosecutlon started pre’sentmg
its evidence.30 ,

On May 2, 2016, accused Tolentino filed his Most |Urgent
Motion to Dismiss on Ground of Violation of Right to! Speedy
Disposition of Cases dated May 2, 2016.3! On May 19, 2016, the
prosécution filed its Comment/Opposition (To Most ‘Urgent
Motion to Dismiss on Ground of Violation of Right to: Speedy
Disposition of Cases) dated May 17, 2016.32 On June 9, 2016,
accused. Tolentino filed his Reply (To the Prosecution’s

Comment/Opposition dated May 17, 2016) dated June 9,/2016.33

" In its Resolution dated July 27, 2016 the Court denied accused

Tolentino’s Most Urgent Motion to Dismiss on Ground of Violatmn

of Right to Speedy Disposition of Cases dated May 2, 20 16 34
!

On August 1, 2016 accused Dominong filed his Waiver of
Appearance dated July 29, 2016,35 which was noted by the Court
in 1ts Resolution dated August 11, 2016 36 ,

On August 16, 2016, accused Tolentino filed a MO#IOI’I for

Reconsideration dated August 15, 2016, praying for the Court to
reconsider its Resolution dated July 27, 2016.37 On September

214, at 68.
7 1d at 93.
% 1d, at 99.
#¥1d. at 155.
3 1d. at 138.
A4, at 206.
21d, at 264.
BI1d, at 292,

- M1, at 374.

¥ 1d. at 389.
¥1d. at 416.
M1d. at 422,

P
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2 2016, the prosecutmn filed its Comment/ 0ppos1t1on (toI otion
for Recons1deratlon dated August 15, 2016) dated September 1,
2016.3%8 In its Resolution dated October 6, 2016, the Court
.resolved to deny the  accused Tolentino’s Motlgn for

Reconsideration dated August 15, 2016 39

On September 20, 2016, accused Ang filed his deer of
Appearance dated September 7, 2016, which was noted by the
Court in its Resolution dated September 21, 2016 41 |

On October 6, 2016 upon being arraigned separqtely in
. Criminal Cases No. SB-15-CRM-0097 and No. SB-15- CRM 009,

accused Tolentino refused to enter any plea;42 hence the Court
entered a plea of “Not Guilty” in behalf the said accused. 45

. On October 12, 2016 the prosecution filed a MOthI’l to
. Suspend Accused Pendente L1te dated October 11, 201§ as to
' accused Tolentino.

On January 16, 2017, the prosecution rested its ceilses as
against accused Salvador, Reyes Mauri, Ang and Dornindng 44

In its Resolution dated March 2, 2017, the Court granted
the prosecution’s Motion to Suspend Accused Pendente L1te dated
February 19, 2016 and Motion to Suspend Accused Pendente Lite
dated October 1,2016.45 . |

In ‘a separate Pre-tnal the prosecution and accused
Tolentino entered into the follomng stlpulatlons :

L STIPULATIONS AND ADMISSIONS {
‘From the proposals of the prosecution for stip_{llation,
accused Tolentino admitted the following facts:

1. Asterio Tolentino is the same person chargedl in the
Information SB- 15 CRM 0097 -and SB-15- CRM—O{)99

and

#1d. at 468.

3 1d. at 502.

“1d. at 493.

atyd. at 522.

4214, at 505,

4 Section 1(c), Rule 116 of the Revised Rules of Criminal Procedure,
H Records, Vol. 3, p. 54.

- ¥1d. at 410.
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2. Accused Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr. was the Account nt IT of
EMB-CAR, DENR ‘at the time of the comm1ssmn of the

offenses.

From the proposals for stipulation made by accused
Tolentino, the prosecution admitted the following’ fact:

1. Accused Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr. was not part of the Bids
and Awards Committee (BAC) at the time the queétloned
transaction happened.46 ;

_ On the other hand, the issues proposed to be resolved by the
sa1d parties are as follows

IL. ISSL_JES-;PO BE RESOLVED
As proposed by the plaintiff*

« In SBISCRMO0096 — Whether accused Joel G. Sélvador
is guilty for the crime of Violation of Section|3(e) of
Republic Act No. 3019 for acting with manifest
partiality and evident bad faith, giving unwarranted
benefit, privilege or advantage to accused| David
Dominong by awarding the repair/rehabilitation of the
Regional Director’s Office and Environmental
Information Center of the DENR, Baguio City, without
public blddlng as required by Republic Act No 9184,
thereby causmg undue injury to the governme t

e. In SB15CRMO097 — Whether accused JoeI G. Sa'lvador,
Rolando C. Reyes, Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr. Pérlita L.
Mauri and Mariano Ang are guilty for violation of
Section 3(e) .of Republic Act No. 3019 by actnllg with-
manifest partiality and evident bad faith and
conspiring and confederating with one anotherrto give

- unwarranted benefit, privilege or advantage to accused
Mariano Ang by purchasing from PHCS owned by
‘accused Mariano, the construction materials used in
‘the repair/rehabilitation of the Regional leector S
Office and Environmental Information Center! of the
DENR, Baguio City, in the amount of P758,998.70
without public bidding as required by Republic fAct No.
9184, which amount was already paid to and accepted
by accused Ang despite the fact that the goods had not

4 Records, Vol. 4, p.345.

s
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' been . delivered, causing undue injury t|(;) the
government. : - s

' S . . W
e In SB15CRMO0098 - Whether accused Joel G. Salvador,
Rolando C. Reyes and David Dominong are gul.\ty for
violation of Section 3(e) of Republic Act No. 3019 by
acting with manifest partiality and evident bad faith
and conspiring and confederating with one ano#her to
give unwarranted benefit, privilege or advantage to

accused Dominong, a private contractor, by
authorizing the payment of retention fee in the amount
of P33,779.14 to the latter despite glaring structural

defects in the repair/rehabilitation of the Reglonal
Director’s Office and Environmental Informatmn
Center of the.DENR, Baguio City, which amount was
already paid to and accepted by accused Dor'mnong
knowing that he was not entitled thereto, crausmg_
‘undue injury to the government.

¢ In SBISCRMO0099 — Whether accused Joel Saivador
Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr. and Perlita L. Mauri ar¢ gullty
for Illegal Use of Public ‘Funds defined and penalized
under Article 220 ‘of the Revised Penal Codde for
conspiring and confederating with one another in
applying without any legal authority, the pubhc funds
under their custody amounting to P1,114,77 1 34 for
the repair/rehabilitation of the Regwnal Director’s
Office and Environmental Information Center|of the
DENR, Baguio City, knowing fully well that such public
fund has been specifically appropriated by law for the
implementation ' of Ecological Waste Management
project for the Maintenance and Other Operating

" Expenses, causmg damage or embarrassmentlto the
public service. ) o ‘1

As proposed by the accused:

e Whether accused Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr. is ghilty of

' the cha.rge of Violation of Section 3(e) of R.A. 3019 by
consplrlng and confederating with the other accused in
giving unwarranted benefit, privilege or advantage to
accused Mariano ‘Ang by purchasing from ﬁwmld
Hardware and Construiction Supply (PHCS) owned by

the said accused the construction materials used in
the repair/rehabilitation of the Regional Director’s
Office and Environmental Information Center! of the
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DENR, Bagum City, 1n the amount of Php758 998.70;
and

e Whether accused Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr is guﬂty of

~ the charge of Violation of Article 220 of the Rev1sed
Penal Code (for Technical Malversation) by conapmng
‘and confederating with the other accused in applylng
without authority, - the pubhc funds amountmg to
Phpl,114,771.34 for the repair and rehabilitation of

the Reglonal Director’s Office and Environmental
Information Center of the DENR, Baguio City, k_Jnowmg

- fully well that such public fund has been spemﬁcally

_appropriated by law for the implementation jof the
Ecologlcal Solid Waste Management (ESWM) prb_]ect 47

On F ebruary 13, 2018, the defense started presenﬁng its
evidence.48

. On April 15, 2019, after trial on the merits, the prosécution
and accused Salvador filed their Mcmorandum dated A%rﬂ 10,
2019 and Memorandum dated April 12, 2019, respectlve ly On
April 30, 2019, accused Reyes, Dommong and Ang filed their
Memorandum dated April 15, 2019, Memorandum dated Apnl 12,
2019 and Memorandum dated April 12, 2019, respectwely

EVIDENCE FOR THE PROSECUTION

In support. of its accusations a'gajnst all the ac_cu!sed for
Violation of Sec. 3(e), R.A. No..3019, as amended and/o1 Illegal
Use of Public Funds penalized under Article 220 of the Rev1sed
Penal Code, the Prosecution presented . nine (9) witnesses,
namely: Josephine A. Tilan, Reymax F. Busque, Anabella C.
Laborte, Ligaya C. Garcia, Hermelina D. Lausa, Januario S.
Borillo, Marissa A. Santos, Dennis Marvm H. Agcon and }\dehne
M. Ramos. . | T : \

' I

1. Josephine A. Tilan% (“Tilan”), - Attorney VI of the
Commission .on Audit, Cordillera Administrative Reglon (COA--
CARY}, is the Regional Cluster Director of the Legal & Adjudication
Office of COA at the time material to these cases. She testified,
among others, that on May 4, 2005, she received a iLetter-
Complaint against accused Salvador for which she formed an
Audit Team to audit and 1nvest1gate the said 1nc1dent She

14, at 346-347.
4 Records, Vol. 4, p. 501; TSN dated February 13, 2018.
4 TSN dated February 29 2016 and March 1, 2016
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informed the Court that the transaction complarned of in the
Letter-Complaint is the rehabilitation of the Office of the R gional
Director of the EMB-CAR, DENR because the constr|uet10n
materials were allegedly procured through a particular ha dware
" supplier, while the labor was provided by another cen ractor
without any public bidding. -

it was found out that the project was implemented “without|public
bidding, and that funds used for the construction were taken from
the allotment for Ecological Solid Waste Management Pro;e t, and
additional operating requu‘ements of the EMB.

She further testified that in the course of the 1nvest1fat10n

Tilan also 1dent1ﬁed the follomng documentary exh1h1ts (a)
Anonymous Letter-Complaint .dated May 3, 2005,5° (b) Rpglonal
Legal & Adjudication Office Order No. 05-001 dated July 25,
2005,5! (c¢) Sub-Allotment Advice,52 (d) Audit Observation
Memorandum,53 () Management Comment of Joel G. Salv'ador,54
() Management Comment of Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr.,55 (g)
Management Comment of Perlita L. Mauri,5 (h) Management
Comment of Rolando Reyes,57 (i) Management Comments of other
. officers Hermielina Lausa, Ligaya Garcia, Mario Lopez,|Randy
Langgawan and Sunny D: Florendo,5® (j) Audit Survey Report,5°
(k) Transmittal Letters dated November 15, 2007 addressed to
Regional Director Paquito Moreno, DENR EMB-CAR;| dated
November 19, 2007 addressed to the Deputy Ombudsman for
Luzon, Victor C. Fernandez; and dated November 15, 2007
addressed to Joel G. Salvador,° (l) Certificate of Acceptance dated
January 14, 2005,6! {m) EMB-CAR Special Order No. 57, series of
2001,%2 and (n) Memorandum signed by Julian D. Amador Re: -
Request for the Release of Capital Outlay to Flnance
Implemertation of Land and Building Improvements within EMB-
CAR.63

On cross-examination, the defense pointed out that the
payment was directly madé to. the. contractors involved in these

0 Exhibit G
1 Exhibit H
52 Exhibits X, X-1 and X-2
9 Exhibit
M Exhibit J
3% Exhibit K
* Exhibit L

- 3T Exhibit N

8 Exhibits O to W with sub-markings
# Exhibits F, F-1, F-2, F-3and F4

%0 Exhibits E, E-1 and E-2

¢ Exhibit JJ

8! Exhibit ZZ

3 Exhibit M

4
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cases.r The participation of accused Domlnong wajs also
" mentioned; particularly, that he received the Retention fee
“despite noted defects.” Interestingly, a point of defense re ardlng
~the funds that were used being from end-of-year savmgs was also

ment10ned

2. Reymax F. Busque$* (“Busque”) is the Technical Audit
Specialist in the COA-CAR. He informed the Court that he was
Senior Technical Audit ‘Specialist during the time material ‘to
these cases. He narrated that he conducted the inspection of the
project in question on Aprll 22, 2005. He said that there were
“deflections of the second floor steel deck slab,” as well as|cracks
in the supporting beams. When asked about his professwnal
opinion on these, he said that since “deflections were Ireadily
visible by [sic] to the naked eye, there’s a possibility of str ctural
_failure like maybe collapse of the slab,” and that thete is a
possibility of “collapse of the structure.” o 'l' |

Busque also mentioned his observation that the praject, in
reality, involves the “demolition (of the old) and building of a néiv
EMB structure” despite the fact that the prOJect is for thf|: repair
and rehabilitation of the same.building, as is seen in the title and
descnption of the plans prov1ded

Busque identified the following documents dunng hlS
testimony: (a) First Indorsement signed by accused Asterio C.
Tolentino, Jr. and Ligaya C.- Garcia,55 (b) Contract of Service
executed between. EMB-CAR thru accused Salvador and the
contractor, accused Dominong, (c) Notice of Award ’dated
December 29, 2003,57 '(d) .Notice to. Proceed dated October 15,
2004,58 (e) Certiﬁcate of Acceptance dated January 14, 2005,° (i)
- Plans and Specifications (Perspectlve Location and Site
Development Plan) of the proposed repair and rehabilitatlo of the
Environmental Education and the RD Office of the EMB}CAR,
(g} Specification of the proposed repair and rehablhteitlon of
Environmental Education and RD’s Office in EMB- CAR,” (h)
Summary of Agency Estimated Project Cost,72 (i) Work Activities
and Bar Chart of Work Activities,?3 []] Statements (Tf Work

¢ TSN dated May 3, 2016
8 Exhibit 8S

% Exhibit Z

7 Exhibit AA

¢ Exhibit GG

8 Exhibit JJ

® Exhibit B?

7 Exhibit G, G*1 to G*-3

7 Exhibit J
7 Exhibit I*
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Debit {ADA) for the repair and rehabilitation of the subject EMB

building, specifically, one for (the account. of) Dominong and

(another) one for Ang. On cross-examination, Garcia revealed
_that she was a member of the Bids and Awards Committee in
2000, the year wherein the project was approved. Sh+5 even
signed as witness for the Contract of Service for the same.!

in the course of her testimony, Garcia identified the
following documents: (a) List of Due and Demandable Accounts
Payable-External Creditors submitted to the DBM on March 10,
200438 (b} Advice of NCA Issued dated October 1, 2004 addressed
to Joel G. Salvador from the DBM,8? (c) Advice/Authority t{b Debit
Account, Debit Memo No. 04-10-015 dated October 27, 2004 in
favor of David A. Dominong in the amount of Php 101,397'r 9 with
the handwritten notations on the portion and deduction,® (d)
Advice/Authority to Debit Account, Debit Memo No. 04-}11—019
dated November 30, 2004 in favor of David A. Dominong in the
~amount of Phpl01,397.49,°1 (e) Contract of Service executed
. between EMB-CAR thru accused Salvador and the 'coi"}tractor
accused Dominong,?? (f) Disbursement Voucher No. 01-11-0129
dated November 30, 2004 for - the payment of 30%
accomplishment of EMB-CAR Building in the amount of
Php101,397.49 net of tax,®? and (g) Document Action 6,11' David
Dominong with the handwritten note which states: “Rollyl, Please
~estimate percentage completion for the corresponding Yelease,

initialed and signed December 20.%¢ ' :

5. Hermelina D. Lausa® (“Lausa”) was the Cashier of the
EMB-CAR at the time material to these cases. In her testimony,
Lausa confirmed that she prepared a check for Dominong; as well
as the ADA for accused Ang. ~ - | 'i '

In the course of her testimony, Lausa identified the following
documents: (a) List of Due and Demandable Accounts Payable-
External Creditors submitted to the DBM on March 10,j2004,%
(b) Advice of NCA Issued dated October 1, 2004 addressed to Joel
G. Salvador from the DBM,97 (c} Advice/Authority to debit
Account, Debit Memo No. 04-10-015 dated October 27, 2004 in

.favor of David A. Dominong in the amount of P101,397,49 with

8 Exhibit CC

® Exhibit DD -

% Exhibit C?, C*-1 and C*-3
° Exhibit E*

9 Exhibit Z

9 Exhibit E*2

% Exhibit E3-4

9 TSN dated June 7, 2016
% Exhibit CC

9 Exhibit DD
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the handwritten notations on-the lower portion and deduction,
(d) Advice/Authority to Debit Account, Debit Memo No. 04-10-
017 dated November 18, 2004 in favor of David Dominong in the
amount of P101,397.49,% (e} Advice/Authority to Debit Aﬁicount,
Debit Memo No. 04-11-019 dated November 30, 2004 in favor of
David A. Dominong in the amount of 'P101',397.49J§,100 (f)
" Advice/Authority to Debit Account, Debit Memo No. 04-10-010
dated October 11, 2004 in favor of Mariano Ang in the total
amount of P758,998.70,101 (g) Disbursement Voucher No.f{04—1 1-
0130 dated November 30, 2004 in the amount of P33,779.14,102
(h) Landbank Check No. 691035 dated February 16, 2005 in favor
of David Dominong in the amount of P33,779.14,193 and (i) Report
of Check Issued for the Month of February 1-28, 0004 which
listed Check No. 691035 for payee David Dominong in the amount
of P33,779.14.104 - o Il

H
!

6. Januario S. Borillo195 (“Borillo”) is Engineer II of the City
Buildings and Architecture Office from the time material to these
cases up to the present. He discussed his findings wﬁere he
inspected the Environmental Education building. He said that
~ the construction is “not as per standard practice” and that
hairline cracks on the interior beam tend to establish the
“probability that improper construction was followed.” He also
noted that there were also cracks on the exterior beams which
~ means that there are defects in the construction. |

Pertaining to the building of the Regional Director!,!. Borillo
said that what he inspected is a new building, not a rehabilitated
one.

~Inthe course of his testimony, Borillo identified the f | Hlowing
" documents: (a) Perspective, Location and Site Development Plan
for the construction of a new Regional Director’s Office
building,1 (b) Summary of Agency Estimated Project Cost for the
Project: Repair and Rehabilitation of the Regional Enviroxflmental
Education and Information Center and the Regional Djrector’s
Office dated December 16, 2003.as approved by Joel G. %alvad_or
with attachments,1°7 (c) Inspection Report from the City Bhildings
and Architecture Office of Baguio City dated February 15, 2006

9 BExhibits C3, C3-1 and -3
% Exhibit D?
120 Fivhibit E?
1 Exhibit EE
102 Eyhibit VV
102 Exhibit VV-1
4 BExhibit VV-2
105 TSN dated June 8, 2016
" 106 Exhibit B
107 Exhibit J*
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mgned by Engineer II Januarlo S. Borillo and Engineer IV Rlzahno
M. Banta, together with the transmittal letter of even date
addressed to Atty. Josephine A. Tilan and signed by O \car

Flores, City Building Official;!?® (d) Photographs taken by Engr
Januario S. Borillo showmg the noted structural defects|in the
newly constructed building,1%9 and (e) Letter dated Febrpary 1,

2006 with handwritten note: “Engr. Borillo, Submit repor ASAP.

dated February 9, 2006” with the attached Letter requeet from
 Atty. Josephine A, Tilan dated November 16, 2005.110 ]

The defense herein pointed out that Borillo’s 1nspect1|on was
limited in that it is based on visual inspection only. Furthermore,

the defense posited that the hairline cracks may have been
caused by changes in temperature

. o | i |
7. Marissa A, Santos“l (“Santos ), Chief Administrative

Officer of the Department -of Budget and Management‘gentral |
Records Division, testified that she issued a Certification

pursuant to a subpoena she received from the Ombudsman. The
Certification states that the documents being requested cannot
‘be locdted, particularly the Sub-Allotment Advice, List of Due and
-Dema.ndable Accounts Payable, and the Special Allotment

Release Orders. ' |

In the course of her testimony, she identified the cyllowing'

documents: (a) Subpoena addressed to Ms. Marissa’ A Santos
dated July 11, 2016 and Subpoena addressed to Ruby R. Esteban
dated June 13, 2016,112 (b) National Budget Circular No 488
dated May 22, 2003 from the Department of Budget and
Management (DBM),113 (c) Notice of Cash Allocation No. 224403-
4 dated October 1, 2004 from the Department of Budget and
Management {DBM) 14(d) Advice of NCA Issued dated OcFober 1,
- 2004 addressed to Joel G. Salvador from the DBM 115| and (e}
Certification dated July 7, 2016 signed by Marissa A. Santos
Chief Administrative Officer, Central Records Division of DBM.116

8. Dennis Marvin H. Agconil? (“Agcon”) was State 1Aud1tor
I of Regional Legal and Adjudication Office in COA-CAR at the
time .relevant to these cases. In his testlmony, he a.id he

W8 Bxhibit UTJ

18 Exhibits UU-1 to UU-11
110 Exhibits W? and W*-1 - |
10 TSN dated August 1, 2016 _ I
112 BExhibits X? and Y? _ o _ ) |
113 Exhibit X-3 . : : !I
114 Exhibit X-4 o 3 |
115 Exhibit DD ' S
118 Exhibit Z3 i
UT TSN dated August 3, 20186, September 5 6 and 7, 2016
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s‘1gned by Engineer II Januano S. Borillo and Engineer IV szalmo
M. Banta, together with the transmittal letter of evep date
addressed to Atty. Josephine A. Tilan and signed by Oscar V.
Flores, City Building Official,!°¢ (d).Photographs taken b)!r Engr.
Januario S. Borillo showing the noted structural defectsi in the
newly constructed building,1% and (e) Letter dated February 1,
2006 with handwritten note: “Engr. Borillo, Submit repor} ASAP
dated February 9, 2006” with the attached Letter request from
Atty. Josephine A. Tilan dated November 16, 2005.11° |
'
The defense herein pomted out that Borillo’s 1nspect10n was
" limited in that it is based on visual inspection only. Furthermore

the defense posited that the hairline cracks may have been
caused by changes in temperature i

7. Marissa A. Santoslll (Santos”), *Chief Admmlstratwe

Officer of the Department of Budget and Management Central‘_ '

Records Division, testified that she issued a Certlﬁcatlon
pursuant to a subpoena she received from the Ombudsman. The
" Certification states that the documents being requested [cannot
‘be located, particularly the Sub-Allotment Advice, List of ue and
‘Demsndabie Accounts Payable, and the Special Allotment
Release Orders. ' :

In the cotrse of her testlmony, she identified the followmg'

documents: {a} Subpoena addressed to Ms. Marissa A. ‘'Santos
dated July 11, 2016 and Subpoena addressed to Ruby R. Esteban
dated June 13, 2016,!12 (b) National Budget Circular No. 488
dated May 22, 2003 from the Department of Budget and
Management (DBM]},!13 (c) Notice of Cash Allocation No. 224403-
4 dated October 1, 2004 from the Department of Budget and
Management (DBM) 114(d) Advicé of NCA Issued dated Oc%ober i,
. 2004 addressed to Joel G. Salvador from the DBM,!!S and (e)
' Certification dated July 7, 2016 signed by Marissa A. Santos,
Chief Administrative Officer, Central Records Division of IZ?BM 116

8. Dennis Marvin H. Agcon!!? (“Agcon”) was State Audltor
I of Regional Legal and Adjudicatmn Office in COA-CAR at the.
time relevant to these cases. In his testmlony, he said he

18 Exhibit UU

1% Exhibits UU-1 to UU-11
10 BExhibits W? and W1

11 TSN dated August 1, 2016
12 Exhibits X* and Y?

113 Exhibit X-3

114 Exhibit X-4

115 Exhibit DD

t1¢ Exhibit Z* ) o
" TSN dated August 3, 2016, September 5,6and 7, 2{]16 SE
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investigated accused Salvador for the projects in question and the’

following were his findings: - ' ] i

a. The EMB-CAR constructed a building by entering into a
service contract without the mandatory competitive blddmg,

b. Materials were purchased without the necessary
documentation; j

c. Some materials were not delivered by the supplier; ||

d. The Retention Fee was paid out even though' there were
defects in the construction; -

e. The contract for services and the purchases for rnatenals

came from a fund that was irregularly aligned.

: In the course of his testimony, he identified the" folllowing
documents: (a) Regional Legal and Adjudication Office Order No.
05-001 dated July 25, 2005 signed by Atty. Josephine A. T lan,118
(b) Anonymous letter-complaint. dated May 3, 2005 addressed to
Atty. Josephine A. Tilan, Regional Cluster Director, COA-CAR, La
Trinidad, Benguet from the “Concerned . EMB-CAR, .DENR,
Personnel,”119 (c) 1st Indorsement dated May 16, 2005 signed by
Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr. and Ligaya C. Garcia, #20 (d)
Advice/Authority to Debit-Account, Debit Memo No. 04 |10 015

dated October 27, 2004, with its supporting documents
Disbursement Voucher for the payment of 30% accomphshment
of EMB-CAR Building with the attached Official Receipt No. 0444
dated October 27, 2004 from Darwin’s Welding Shopijin the
amount of P101,397.49, Box D of Disbursement Voucher, which
shows the name and signature of David Dominong in the Recelved
Payment portion, Statement of Work Accomplished (SWA), 'for the
30% accomplishment of thé project, Notice of Completion for 30%
accomplishment  signed by David Dom1nong,1f~jl (e)
Advice/Authority to Debit Account, Debit Memo No. 04- 10-017
dated November 18, 2004 in favor of David Dominong! in the
amount of P101,397.49  and its supporting documents:
Disbursement Voucher for the payment of 30% accompl%hment
. of EMB-CAR Building with the attached Official Receipt No. 0736
dated November 19, 2004 from Darwin’s Welding Shop in the
amount-of P101,397.49, Box D of Disbursement Voucher which
shows the hame and signature of David Dominong in the ecelved
© Payment portion, Statement of Work Accomplished (SWA) for the
60% accomplishment of the project, Notice of Complctlon dated
November 15, 2004 for 30% accomphshment signed by David

!:: *

12 Exhibit H
1% Exhibit G
120 Fxhibit 55
12t Exhibits C* and submarkings : ¥

4
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Dominong,!22 (f) Advice/Authority to Debit Account, Debit Memo
No..04-11-019 dated November 30, 2004 in favor of {David
‘Dominong in the amount of P101,397.49 and its supporting
. documents: Disbursement. .Voucher No. 01-11-0129 ?dated
November 30, 2004 for the payment of 30% accomplishment of
EMB-CAR Building with the attached Official Receipt No, 0858
dated December 23, 2004 from Darwin’s Welding Shop iin the
amount of P101,397.49, Box D of Disbursement Voucher|which
shows the name and signature of David Dominong in the Received
Payment portion, Document Action of David Dominong with the
handwritten note which states: “Rolly, Please estimate percentage
completion for the corresponding release, initialed and, signed
‘December 20, Request letter from David Dominong| dated
December 16, 2004 requesting the release of a certain amount
corresponding to the remaining percentage of the‘ labor
accomplished, Statement of Work Accomplished (SWA)|for the
© 100% accomplishment of the project,!23 (g) Repj:rt of

Disbursement,124 (h) Justification on Why the Deviation lon the
Procedures of Procurement for Infrastructure as Provided for
Under the IRR of RA 9184 signed by accused Rolando C. Réyes, 125
(i) Indorsement Letter dated August 15, 2005 addressed to
Regional Cluster Director of COA-CAR Atty. Josephine A. Tilan®
signed by Loida O. Santiago, State Auditor III, Audit Team Leader
- from the COA-Office of the Auditor, EMB-CAR, together with the
_ transmittal letter dated August 22, 2005,126 (j) Disbursement
" Voucher No. 04-12-969 dated December 29, 2004 with ¢opy of
Check and attached supporting documents,!?7 (k) Disbursement
Voucher No. 04-12-0891 dated December 29, 2004 with copy of
- the Check and attached  supporting documents;,i28 (1)
Disbursement Voucher No. 04-11-0130 dated November 30, 2004
for the payment of 10% retention fee for the labor requirements
in the construction of EMB-CAR building in the amount of
P33,779.14 net of taxes in favor of David Dominong, Landbank
Check No. 691035 dated February 16, 2005 in favor of David
Dominong in the amount of P33,779.14, Report of Check|Issued
" for the Month of February 1-28, 2004 which listed Check No.
691035 for Payee David Dominong in the amount of P33,779.14,
Portion in the Disbursement Voucher (Exhibit VV} under Box D
" which shows the signature above the name David Dominong for
Check No. 691035 dated February 16, 2005,2° (m) Inspection

122 Exhibits D? and submarkings

123 Exhibits E? and submarkings

2 Exhibit TT

125 Exhibit Y

126 Exhibit XX

127 Exhibits NN and submarkings

128 Exhibits OO and submarkings

- 139 Exhibits VV, VV-1, VV-2 and VV-3

l ’*I’SQ\
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Report for Infrastructure Projects prepared by Engr. Reymax F.
Bosqgue, Seniofr Technical Audit Specialist (Sr. TAS) of the RTSO
of COA-CAR dated October 19, 2005, together with the 3
Indorsement dated October 19, 2005 signed by Regional qllustcr |
Director Alfredo P. Pico,!20 (n) Inspection Report from tlﬂ; City
Buildings and Architecture Office of Baguio City dated Fe ruary
15, 2006, together with the  transmittal letter - of evep date
addressed to Atty. Josephine A. Tilan and signed by Oscar V.
Flores, City Building Official,!3! (o) Advice/Authority tq& Debit
Accouht (ADA) Debit Memo No. 04-10-010 dated Octojjer i1,

2004 wunder Payee Mariano Ang in the total amount of

P758,998.70,132 (p) Sub-Allotment Advice SAA No. EMB-03

-11-05
dated November 28, 2003 and the Environmental Management
Bureau List of Transfer of Funds to Regions 1-13, NCR a?- d CAR
as additional operating requirements and for the implementation
of ESWM,133 (q) Contract of Service executed between EMB-CAR
thru accused Salvador and the contractor, accused Dc:)mi,\t{t;ng,134

(r} Notice of Award dated December 29, 2003 in favor of accused

_ David Dominong,135 (s} 'Notice of Temporary Deferment dated

January 15, 2004,136 (t) List of Due and Demandable Accounts
Payable — External Creditors, submitted to the DBM on Mjrch 10,
2004, signed and certified correct by accused Asterio C.
Tolentino, Jr. and as signed and approved by accused ilo_el G.
Salvador,!3” (u) Advice of NCA issued dated October 1, 2004
addressed to Joel G. Salvador from the DBM,!38 (v) Regional

Special Order No. 89, Series of 2004 Designating SEMS ']Iplando
C. Reyes as Project ' Engineer . and Inspector for the

 Improvement/Repair of the. Office of the Regional Dir_ec{or and

EEIS Building of EMB-CAR,'® (w) Letter dated October 22,2004
signed by Rolando C. Reyes which certified and ack:no.r ledged

‘that: the amount. of P357,772.50 was received from RByramid

Hardware and Construction Supply representing thﬂ EXCeSS
amount from the payment of cost of construction materials,!40 {x)

' Notice to Proceed dated October 15, 2004 addressed té David

Dominong and signed by Joel G. Salvador,!4! (y)'.'stateﬂnent of
Account from Pyramid Hardware & Construction Supply dated
December 14, 2004 which listed the date, reference number and

" 133 Exhibits X, X-1 and X-2

-+ 1 Bxhibit DD

1% Exhibit RR
131 Exhibit UU
132 Exhibit EE

134 Exhibit Z with submarking
135 Exhibit AA

86 Exhibit BB

137 Exhibit CC

13 Exhibits V to V-1
140 Exhibit FF
¥l Exhibit GG

. J\ v ES
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amount of materials to be used in the construction of thef RD’s
office building,14? (z) Letter. of Turn-Over dated January 7, 2005
addressed to Engr. Joel G. Salvador and signed by Mr. ;Dav1c1
Dominong,!43 (aa) Certificate of Acceptance dated January 14,
2005 signed by Joel G. Salvador,'** (bb) Canvass Paperé from .
Baguio Victory Furniture and Construction Supply | dated
December 22, 2003145 (cc) Canvass Papers from Pyralmd
Hardwate and Construction Supplies. dated December 22,
2003,146 (dd) Certification .dated October 6, 2005 sigr 1ed by
Accountant Astério C. Tolentino, Jr.,147 (ee) Excerpt. from the
Security Guard loghook,!48 (ffy EMB- CAR Special Order ﬂlo 57,

~ Serijes of 2001 dated August 13; 2001 with Subject: Amendment,

to EMB-CAR Special Order No. 19-2000 re: Creation of anlnterlm
Pre-Qualification, Bidding and -Awards Committee (PBAC) for the
Envirohmental  Management Bureau (EMB-CAR) with| Engr.
Rolando C. Reyes as Chairmar for Infrastructure for EM -CAR
Infrastructure Projects,!49 (gg) Audit Observation Memorandum
. AOM No. 06-003 dated September 12, 2006,150 (hh) Management
Comment of accused Joel 'G. Salvador,!5!  (ii) Mana ement
Comment of the accountant accused Asterio C. Tolentmo Jr.152
(i) Management Comment of Perlita L. Maiiri ,153 (kk)
- Memorandum issued by Julian Amador dated January 26,

2004,154 (ll) Management Comment of Rolando C. Reyes, 13 [mm)
Management Comments of Ligaya C. Garcia with attachments 156
(nn) Management Comment of  Ligaya C. Garcxa with
attachments,157 ‘(0o) Management -Comment of the General
Service Officer/Acting Supply Officer Mario T. Lopez and-
attachments,!58 (pp) Management Comment of the Property
Inspector Randy S. Langgawan and Sallic D. Florend with
attachments,!%® (qq) Audit Survey on the EMB-CAR PI‘O_]CCt

Repair/Rehabilitation - of ' the" ‘Environmental Education &
Information Center and Reglonal Director’s Office subml{tted in

@ Exhibit HH

19 Fxhibit IT

14 Exhibit JJ

145 Exhibit KK

146 Bxhibit MM

7 Bxhibits WW, WW-1 and WW-2 .

M8 Exhibit YY :

19 Exhibit Z7Z

150 Exhibit 1 . - :

41 Exhibit o _ !

12 Exhibit K - :

159 Bxhibit L Lo

. ¥ Exhibit M

155 Exhibit N

15 Exhibit

157 Exhibit Q -

1% Exhibit R . : |
159 Exhibits S, T, U, Vand W ' _ : i
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compliance with Office Order No. 05-001 dated July 25, 2%)05,160_
(rr) Letter dated November 13, 2007 of Dennis Marvin H. [Agcon,
‘Team Leader, from the Legal and Adjudication Sector, CO -CAR
addressed to Regional Cluster Director, Atty. Josephine A.
Tilan,!6! (ss) Treasury Account Current — MDS Checks - B{ionthly
Reconciliation Statement as of October 30, 2004162 with a tached
List of _Outstanding Checks as of October 31, 200_4%3 and
Statement of Account as of October 2004 consisting of 2 pages
and its pertinent portion,16* (tt} Treasury Account 'Curren_t: -~ MDS
Checks — Monthly Reconciliation Statement as’of No‘vemll;)er 30,
2004165 with attached List of Outstanding Checks as of Nlembe'r
30, 2004166 and Statement of Account as of November 2004 and
its pertinent portion,167 fuu) List of Outstanding Checks as of
December 31, 2004 certified correct by Asterio C. Tolentlno, Jr.
with the Statement of Account for the month of December 2004
and its pertinent portion,!6® (vv) Canvass Papers from Baguio
Victory Furniture and Construction Supply dated December 22,
2003,169 Canvass Papers from Wi-Al Construction Builders dated
. December 22, 2003!70 and Canvass Papers from Pyramid
Hardware and Construction Supplies dated December 22,
2003,17! and (ww) Memorandum - No. 2002-053 and pertinent
portions thereof.17? - - | o g
: - 9, Adeline M. Ramos!’3 (‘Ramos”} is the Depdrtment
. Manager of Landbank of the Philippines, Baguio City. Her
testimony was dispensed with after the parties stipulate ' on the

documents she was to authenticate during th.e"-proce‘edinE 's. The
following are the documents or bank records admitted and
stipulated: (a) Certification dated June 20, 2016 si mned by,
witness Adeline M. Ramos,!74 (b) Original Printout from System of
Land Bank of the Philippines Statement of Account (2004} for the
month of October 2004 which shows entry for NCA/NTA}/ Check
No. 410010 dated October 12, 2004 in the amgunt of

P758,008.70,175 (c). Original Printout from System of La.n‘Ld Bank
. 180 Exhibits F and submarkings : , . ' !

1 Exhibit E-3
162 Exhibit K

18 Exhibit K1 S : :

164 Bxhibits K32, K*-2-a, K*-3 and K*-3-a |

185 Exhibit L.} : -

186 Exhibit 1.*-1 . . - . . H :

167 Exhibits 12-2and L-2-a ' . i

188 Exhibits M?, M*-1 and M*-1-a

1¢# Exhibit KK

0 Exhibit LL : _;

- ¥ Bxhibit MM ._ L | I

7 Exhibits A% and submarkings .

1M TSN dated October 10, 2016 - S |
" Exhibit B o i
15 Pxhibits N? and N1 - . .
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of the: Philippines Modified Disbursement Systern Statement of
Account for the month of October 2004 which shows the entry
under NCA/NTA/Check No. 410015 dated October 29, 2004 in
the amount of P101,397.49,176 and (d} Original Printout from
‘System of Land Bank of the Philippines Modified Disbursement
System Statement of Account for the month of Novembm;L 2004
which shows the entry under NCA/NTA/Check No. 410017 dated
November 19, 2004 in the amount of P101,397.49.177 |
~ On February 9, 2017, the prosecution made its Formal Offer’
of Documentary Exhibits dated February 8, 2017.178 A&:cused
Salvador, Reyes, Ang and Mauri then filed their respective
Comments to the Prosecution’s Formal Offer of Evidence.}? The
Court, in its Resolution dated April 19, 2017, resolved to aﬁmit in
evidence all the documentary exhibits offered in the tenor that
they were testified to by the witnesses. It also made the fojlowing
 observations as regards the offer: (1) The description of Exhibit F-
8 does hot correspond to the portion actually marked |in the
document; (2) Exhibits T3, NN-1, OO-1 and C3-1 were attached
to the offer, although not offered; hence shall be disregarded; (3)
Exhibit NN is a Disbursement Voucher dated December 29L 2004,
‘not December 16, 2004, as described in the offer; (4) Exhibit OO
is a Disbursement Voucher numbered 04-12-0891, not’(JO4-12-
969 as described in the offer; {5} The routing slip attached to
Exhibit U is dated 7/18/05, not July 7, 2005 as stated in the
- offer; (6) The document described as Exhibit A4-4 was actually
- marked as Exhibit A4-7.180 ;'

On May 8, 2017, accused Salvador filed a Motion fcﬂ' Leave
_of ‘Court to File Demurrer to Evidence dated May 8, 2017-and -
Demurrer to Evidence (with Prior Leave of Court) dated :May 8,
©2017.181 On' May 15, 2017, the prosecution filed  its-
* Comment/Opposition (to Motion for Leave of Court |to ‘File
'Demurrer to Evidence filed by Accused Joel G. Salvador) dated
'May 12, 2017.182 Following - this, accused Reyes, Ang and
~ Dominong separately filed Motions for Leave of Court to File
Demurrer to Evidence.183 In its Order dated May 18, 2017, the
" Court granted the Motions for Leave of Court to File Dem%rrer to
Evidence as to Reyes, Ang and Dominong.18¢ Thus, on June 2,

178 Exhibits O and O3-1

17t Exhibits P? and P*-1

17 Records, Vol. 3, p. 77
1?14, at 437, 454, 470 and 472
18014, at 493, '

82 1d, at 524. :

18 14, at 544, 552, 559.
1814, at 567.
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20 17, accused Ang, Dommong and Reyes filed their respectlve
Demurrers to Evidence.'®5 On June 15, 2017, accused 1Maur1
filed her Motion for Leave to file Demurrer to Evidence dated June
6, 2017.1% On June 16, 2017, the prosecution ﬁled its
Consohdated Comment/ Opposition (to Demurrer to Ev1dence]
dated June 15, 2017 and Comment/Opposition to the Motjon for
Leave to file Demurrer to Ev1dence ﬁled by Accused Perlita L.
‘Mauri.187 ;

Meanwhile, on July 18, 2017, accused Tolentino ﬁled a
Manifestation dated July 6, 2017, in which he stated that he is
adopting the cross-examinations conducted by the counsefis of all.

~ the other accused for all the witnesses for the prosecution and

~would like to make additional cross-examination for witnesses
Agcon and Lausa.l®8 The same was noted by the Cour¢ in its
Resolutmn dated July 18 2017 189

In its Resolution dated August 1,2017, the Court demed the
Demurrers to Evidence filed by accused Ang, Dommong and
" Reyes, as well as the Motion for Leave to File Demurrer to
Evidence filed by accused Mauiri.19¢ On August 25, 2017, accused
Reyes filed his Motion for Reconsideration of the said Resblut:on
‘dated August 18, 2017.1%1 On September 13, 2017, the
prosecution filed its Comment/Opposition to the Motion for
Reconsideration dated August 18, 2017. In its Resolutio dated
‘September 29, 2017, the Court resolved to deny Reyes’ MO#IOI‘L for
Reconsideration dated August 18, 2017.192 !
| Meanwhile, in its Resolution dated August 30, 20;7 the
Court denied accused Salvador’s Demurrer to Ev1dence dated
May 8, 2017.193 On September 19, 2017, Salvador filed aJMOtIOH
for Recons1derat10n dated Séptember 19, 2017.19¢ On October 4,
2017, the prosecutlon filed its Comment/ Oppos1t1on (to Maotion
for Reconsideratwn dated September 19, 2017) dated October 3,.
2017.195 The Court, in its Resolution dated October 251 2017,
denied Salvador’s Motion for Reconsideration dated September
19, 2017 for lack of merit.19 - ,

. 18 Records, Vol. 4, pp. 30, 34, 61.

13514, at 133,

© 714, at 141, 165.

128 14 at 199.

129 1d, at 203.

190 14, at 209.

1 1d, at 233.

19214 at 317, . ,
193 Id. at 276. _ - |
194 1d, at 311. , N !
w5 1d, at 329. : | :
198 1d, at 391 - o
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On October 27, 2017, accused Tolentino filed his Cor[nrnent
on the Prosecution’s Formal Offer of Documentary Exhibits dated
' October 26, 2017.197 Acting thereon, the Court, in its Resolution
dated November 6, 2017, admitted all the exhibits offered in the
tenor that they were testified on by the witnesses, over -the
objection of accused Tolentino to the purposes and relevance to
the purposes for which the exhibits were offered, the self-serving -
character as to some of the documents offered and the evidentiary
‘weight thereof, which will be considered in the evaluation of the
evidence in the decision of the case on the merits.198

On November 28, 2017, accused Tolentino filed a Motion for
Leave of Court to File Demurrer to Evidence dated Novemllber 27,
n017.19° On December 1, 2017, the prosecution filed its’
Comment/Opposition (to Motion for Leave of Court to File
Demurrer to Evidence filed by Accused Asterio C. Tolentino) dated
November 29, 2017.29 In its Resolution dated December 1,2017,
the Court denied accused Tolentino’s Motion for Leave of Court to
File Demurrer to Evidence.2?! On January 18, 2017, Accused
Tolentino filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Resolution
dated December 1, 2017 dated January 17, 2018. On Janua_ry'

‘31, 2018, the prosecution filed its Comment/Opposition (to
‘Motion for Reconsideration of the Resolution dated December 11,
2017 filed by Accused Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr.) dated Janyary 29, .
n017.202 In its Resolution dated February 20, 2018, the Court
denied accused Tolentino’s Motion for Reconsideration.202

!

EVIDENCE FOR THE DEFENSE i,
In view of the denial of their Demurrer to Eviderice, the
- defense, on. February 13, 2018, started presentin'g their
witnesses. They presented accused Joel G. Salvador, La areta A.
Wakat, Rolando C. Reyes, Perlita L. Mauri, Mariano AngB_1 David
A. Dominiong and Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr. :

1. Accused Joel G. Salvador2%4 is the Regional Director of
the EMB, Regional Office No. 1 of the DENR and was assigned in
Baguio City sometime in October 2003. He stated via Counter-

197 14. at 401,

198 T4, at 408,

¥ 1d. at 445.

e T4, at 453.

14, at 467:

12 14, at 486.

. T4, at 504,

24 TSN dated February 13, 2018

Bk
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Affidavit205 that EMB-CAR had been occupying a very old and
dilapidated building used to house the Forest Research Institute

(FORI) employees and their families in the early 1970s. EMB-CAR

then requested the EMB-Central Office to provide the necessary
funds for the rehabilitation of the EMB-CAR existing old
dilapidated building. As a result, the EMB-CAR was advised
verbally by the EMB-Central Office that it had no released kapital
outlay for calendar year 2003 but the EMB-CAR may use its own
savings and/or the allotment downloaded to the EMB-CAR office
for the improvement of its. old existing building. Thisjverbal

" instruction was later on allegedly confirmed by Memorandum

dated January 26, 2004 of Director Julian D. Amador of th(!;? EMB-

- Central Office. :

' - |
On December 2, 2003, the EMB-CAR received the Sub-
Allotment Advice No. EMB-03-11 dated . December 28, 2003,
which was intended for the implementation of the Ecological Solid
Waste Management Project (ESWMP) and additional operating
requirements of the EMB-CAR. However, since the required
expenditures for the implementation of the ESWMP had already

. been fully covered by the EMB-CAR regular allotment, the EMB-

CAR decided to pursue the repair or rehabilitation of its existing
old EMB-CAR building using the SAA funds considering that the
subject funds already became savings of the EMB-CAR. The same
can allegedly be realigned in conformity with the verb | advice
from the EMB-Central Office.  He further claims that there was
an immediate need to rehabilitate’ or repair the old dila%idated
EMB-CAR building to ensure the safety of all the pe sonnel
working in the subject building considering that the structure
had already been greatly compromised by the earthquake f?that hit

Baguio City sometime in 1990. - .

- He claimed that he approved the project with- a cc;ndition

 that the EMB-CAR sought ‘clearance from the Commission on

Audit (COA-CAR). The COA-CAR then advised the EMBICAR to
use Section 53 of the Implementing Rules and Regulations (IRR}
of R.A. No. 9184, otherwise known as the “Government

Procurement Act” to allocate and obligate subject funds for the

- project considering that it was then reported that if the EMB-CAR

fails to allocate or obligate subject funds at the end of the year, it

would revert back to the national government. As advised, EMB-

CAR secured at least three (3) price quotations from stippliers
pursuaht to Section 53 of subject IRR; hence the SAA funds were

‘allocated and obligated at the year ending December 3}, 2003.

He alleged that under the circumstances, the negotiated
. | :

205 Records, Vol. 1, p. 186
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 procurement under Section 53 of the IRR of R.A. No. 9184 could
“very well be used to forego with the public bidding requirement
becatse of the immediate necessity of rehabilitating or restoring
the old dilapidated EMB-CAR building into a safe and workable
area of the EMB-CAR personnel to ensure an efficient and public

service. |

| Heé further states that EMB-CAR was initially hesitant to

~ implement the project because the requirement under RiA. No.
9184, particularly the bidding process, has not been complied
with. Thus, a meeting between the EMB-CAR representatives and
the resident COA auditors was held on October 5, 2004 to Hliscuss
the issue of whether to pursue with the project. Admittedly, he
was hot present during the meeting. Engr. Rolando; Reyes

_informed him, however, that the COA auditors approved the
project and suggested that the EMB-CAR use Section 53 |of R.A.

- No. 9184 or the negotiated. procurement for the procurelrhent of

" labor while the acquisition of materials for the project would be '
done administratively. L | .

|
As to the findings that the retention fee was paid| to the
contractor despite noted defects and that the fee was charged
from the Environmental Revolving Fund in violation of PD. Na. .
1586 and its IRR, he claims that the noted defects on the|project
as contained in Memorandum dated February 15, 2006 of the
City Buildings and Architecture Office is more apparent than real.

Relative to the audit finding that the retention fee was
allegedly charged from the: Environmental Revolving Funds, he
alleged that the letter dated October 10, 2006 of Hermelina D.
Lausa states that the amount of P33,779.14 was originally
charged to Fund 101 (Accounts Payable}, a fund already jallotted
and obligated. .Check No. 411020 dated November 30, 2(;;)4 was
then issued payable to Mr. David Dominong. But when the
contractor went to the bank to withdraw the amount i‘he was
informed that there was a lapsed NCA as a consequ!ence of-
. funding reversion due to the Land Bank’s fault.. -Si: ce the’
‘accountant was absent at that time, Ms. Lausa was instructed to
communicate with the Accountant of EMB Central Office and the
latter mentioned that though there was an admittance from the
bank of their fault, it is still their obligation to settle their
accounts with the external client. Ms. Lausa was then instructed
to charge the retention fee under the Environmental Rgvolving
Fund of which Ms. Lausa relayed to the Regional Director and
complied with such instruction. Thus Check No. 691935 dated -

February 16, 2005 was issued payable to the claimant.

LA
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Accused Salvador in open court discussed the reason for
dispensing with the public bidding, explaining that there is some
alternative mode of procurement and one is the negotiated
procurement, which allows for procurement without havinlg to go
undergo bidding because there is an immediate need or it
required an immediate action to prevent the loss of life or damage
to property. S ' |

He reiterated the condition of the building, describing it as

a non-workable place in that water goes into the office when it

rains, there were cracks and holes in the walls and the res:tj rooms
cannot be used properly’ that visitors and clients had to b
ditected to go to the other building of the Regional Office.! i '

k

He also pointed out that the Order of the Ombudsman

suspending him for orie year was appealed to the Court of

- Appeals, which teduced the penalty to one month and one ,iday.205

Accused identified . the -following documents: (a)
Memorandum of Regional Director Julian D. Amador}207 (b)
Memorandum dated October 10, 2006;298 (c} Notice of Judgment
in CA - G.R. SP No. 139818, Joel G. Salvador vs.|Public
‘Assistance and Corruption Prevention Office (PACPQ), et al.;2% (d)

" Decision in CA — G.R. No. 139818 promulgated on January 23,
2017:210 and (e) Dispositive portion partially granting the petition
and modifying the assailed decision.2!! C |

On cross-examination, he declared that there was]partial
demolition of the building and that the one-storey building
became two-storey after the construction. He admitted tha}lt there
is no capital outlay in 2003 based on the Memorandum. He also
acknowledged that he entered into Contract of Service witflf‘herein
" accused Dominong despite the absence of public bidding and that
he approved the release of funds in the latter’s favdr. He
mentioned, as well, that he released the funds in favor of gupplier

herein accused Ang, owner of PHCS.

| Accused Salvador alleged that there was perhaps no :(]ielivery
at the time the List of Due and Demandable Accounts Payable
(A/P) was sent to DBM [on March 10, 2004] as deliveries were

206 Byhibits 6-A and 6-A-1-Salvador
27 Exhibit 1-Salvador

208 Exhbit 5-Salvador

1 Exhibit 6-Salvador

29 Exhibit 6-A-Salvador

11 Bxhibit §-A-1-Salvador

R
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rhade only on October 12, 2004. He also admitted that there were
noted defécts in the construction of the building, although the
same are not sufficient cause for alarm. He'stated that there was

' no application for the issuance of a building permit and that there

was no certificate of occupancy issued by the City Building and
Architecture Office. !

He admitted that he asked for deferment on January 15,

2004, but the project only pushed through on October 2004 and

that he has no knowledge of any public bidding from J'ri;muary
until October 2004. . _ |

co 1

On re-direct examination, accused Salvador testiﬁ'e?d that

the EMB-Central Office ‘approved the rehabilitation |lof the

dilapidated building because of the Memorandum of Jirector

Julian Amador that EMB-CAR will use the funds. He alsq stated

that there was o written approval from the Resident Auditor, but .

according to their project engineer who was constantly meeting

with the Resident Auditor, EMB-CAR can go ahead with

negotiated procurement. That allegedly served as their aﬂr'thority
to proceed even without public bidding. . l’

He reiterated that the funds for the repair and rehabli,&itation
of the building were taken from the SAA because it forms|part of
the savings of the office. He further alleges that the purpose of
‘the SAA is for the ESWMP and that it was released in 2003; hence
EMB-CAR can use that as savings because all of the ESWMP
projects that were implemented utilized the regular funds/ Funds
used then for that building referred to the additional operating

requitements stated in the SAA. - |
'He also claims that what was intended to be repaired is the
office of the Regional Director and not the whole building; It was
thus only a rehabilitation or repair of the building. ¢
| o

, | | |
5.  Witness Laureta A. Wakat2!2 (“Wakat”) was next
presented to testify for accused Reyes. She testified via Judicial
Affidavit2!3 that she is the Environmental Management Specialist
II at the time material to these cases. She was then also thee acting
Human Resources Management Officer and the acting|Supply
Officer. She alleged that the building subject matter of the case
was rehabilitated because it was already dilapidated at that time.
Prior to the rehabilitatién of the building, the 30-year old E)uilding
was already very old and worn-out. There were water leaks in the

;
#2 TSN dated March 12,2018 . - :
3 Judicial Affidavit of Laureta A. Wakat dated March 7, 2018. Records, Vol. 5, p. 19 .

|
|
1
|

:%Ndi\
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- walls and ceiling whenever it rains that they had to put plastxc
cans and pa_lls all over the place to catch water leaks. Theie were
also cracks in the walls .and in the floor caused by the big
earthquake that happened in 1990 in Baguio City. There was
only one comfort room that was not working properly, iso the
women share with the men. The comfort room ermts very.
repulsive odor and the smell permeates the whole office.

b
'

She explained that before proceeding with the rehablhtatlon
Ms. Loida Santiago (“Santiago”), who happened to be the Resuient
Auditor of the COA at that time, was consulted through a!face to
face meeting sometime in October 2004. Engr. Rolando‘ Reyes,

Asterio Tolentino-and Ligaya Garcia were also present, ! 'During
the meeting, Santiago called up her superior in the COA and after
they talked, the COA Resident Auditor told them to proce d with
the rehabilitation even without a public b1dd1ng She further
testified that there was a canvass conducted- in relatloq to the
materials and supplies that were used in the rehablhtatld of the
building. They allegedly - obtained quotations from | several
hardware stores in Baguio City, and it was PHCS Wthh appen
to have offered the lowest prices |

3.' Accused Ralando C. Reyes?!4 next took theiwitness
stand and identified his Counter-Affidavit.215 He is the| OIC of
~ Administrative Division, EMB in 2003 and the OIC-Pollution
Control Division Chief, EMB in 2004. He claims that good faith
and fairness attended the purchase of the construction mbtenals
from PHCS used in the repalr and rehabilitation of the I:‘mlldmg
subject matter of the case. He explained that EMB-CAR was
designated to occupy an old and worn-out building constructed
in the 1970s and previously used as a housing unit of the old
forestry bureau. He also alleged that the condition of the said
building was unpleasant, thereby greatly affectlng the
performa_nce of work and the prowsmn of pubhc service. | '

Thus EMB-CAR requested EMB-Central Office to allegedly
allocate funds for its imiprovement. Though EMB-Central Office
agreed to allocate funds for the renovation of the bulldmg it told
- EMB- CAR to wait for the budget for the succeeding year stnce the

fiscal year was about to end. EMB-Central Office, however
advised EMB-CAR that it could utilize the savings on operatlonal
expenses and the upcoming allotment for operational expenses
for the intended repair. The Memorandum of D11'ectc11l Julian
Amador dated Ja.nuary 36, 2004 was the basis in statmg that the

714 TSN dated Aprll 2, 2018, 8:30am & TSN dated Aprll 2, 2013, 1:30pm
. 915 Counter-Affidavit of Rolando C. Reyes dated April 30, 2003 Records, Vol. 1, p.190

- l qrﬁj‘j\ ;.'
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EMB-Central Office authorized the use of savings for the

~ improvement of the said building. On December 2, 2003J EMB-

. CAR received a faxed copy of SAA No. EMB-03-11-05ENOrth
P1,150,000.00. The fund was for additional operating
requirement and as fund for the implementation of Ithe_‘ SWM.

Project. ' o v i

1

The. following day, in a meeting ‘attended by {Reyés,

Tolentino, Jr., Garcia, Wakat, Lausa, Resident Auditor Santiago’

and her assistant Susan Ocon (“Ocon”), the issues and concerns
of the office were discussed and it was allegedly. decided that the
project be done through negotiated procurement inasmuch as
they could not go away with the provisions of R.A. No. 9184 on
~ the requirement of public bidding. Santiago mentioned that she
will call first her superior Atty. Cesar Villena (“Villena”) regarding
- the issues and concerns and it was done through cellphone in

. loud sgpeaker so everyone could hear their conversation. Ms.

~ Santiago mentioned that they are ready to return the money and
" also mentioned ‘Sayang naman ang pera kapag hindi m'r:!lgamit.’
Reyes recalled Santiago saying that Villena has given the go signal
provided that canvassing would be done and the lowest)( prices
would be chosen. " - - ST
EMB-CAR informed the COA that they could not possibly
- comply with all the requirements under R.A. No. 9184 and the
project itself before the end of the year. The COA, through
Santiago, allegedly assured that there is no need to conduct
competitive bidding since the obligation falls under Sectic*n 53 of
the IRR of R.A. No. 9184. - o - |

The EMB-CAR then implemented -the neiégotiated
procureinent by issuing canvass forms to various suppliers for
the latter’s submission of their price quotation, of which PHCS
submittéd the lowest prices of the materials to be used. Accused
Reyes pointed out that prior to the purchase of materials, 'Ihe does
not know accused Ang, the owner of PHCS. P

Accused Reyes admitted that he was designated'i by the

Regional Director (herein accused Salvador) as the | Project .

Engineer and Inspector for the repair or improvement of the
building subject matter of this case. ~He further claims|that he
prepared the site specifications for the repair and rehabilitation
' of the Regional Director’s Office and Environmental -Education
Information Center. No third party was outsourced or engaged to
prepare the site development plan in order to save money and
. avoid additional expenses. No additional compensation for the

;1 . ‘”’3@\



- Decision

People v. Salvador et al.
SB-15-CRM-0096-0099
Page 35 of 99 . ' T
X _ X . | _
" gpecification prepared was also received. The plal‘ll . and
specifications were eventually furnished to accused Dominong
whom accused Reyes described as technically and ﬁngincially
capable contractor to do the project. . Afterwards the A1|1c1)tment
‘and Obligation Slip (ALOBS) for the project was submitted to the

- budget unit on Decembeft 20, 2003. . ! 3
' E

| On January 15, 2004, a Notice of Temporary Deferiﬁent of

the project was issued because of delay in the release of thJa fund.
_ On October 1, 2004, the DBM released the budget but EMB-CAR -
' management was hesitant to start the project as the prdcedure.
required by R.A. No. 9184 was not complied with. Hence, a
meeting was conducted on October 5, 2004 among EMB-CAR
representatives and the COA Auditor with the latter confirming
that the funds be used for the project, On October 19, 2004, he |
was designated by the Regional Director  (herein ccused
Salvador) as project engineer and inspector. Accused Reyes
_ claims that since he was ordered to implement the praject,/he had

_ no other recourse than to follow the order, lest he be charged for

insubordination. L o .

On the issue of technical malversation, Reyes clai‘rhs that
the same has no basis in fact and in law. He stated that his
actions wcre' in consonance to the decisions of the EM -CAR,
‘which were perfected only after due consultation with the advice
of COA. He was only ‘acting under such due advice and decisions
of COA and EMB-CAR and thus should not be faulted if the advice
. is proven wrong in the end. | H

. Furthermore, he contends .that there is mno tgchnical
‘malversation since the fund under SAA No. EMB-03-11-05 is not
exclusively allocated for the implementation of the ESWM. The
fund is also directed to be used as additional operating
requirements. Being an additional operating requirement, the
said fund can be categorized under the EMB-CAR’s Maintenance
and Other Operating Expenses (MOOE)}. Being a fund under the
MOEE, the EMB-CAR then can realign the fund without securing
ah authorization from the DBM. This authority is provided under
Section 58 of R.A. No. 9206 (2003 General Appropriations Act).
- Said provision of law specifically states: ' I

I
. ' : |
Section 58. Augmentation of Maintenance and Otﬁer
‘Operating Expenses (MOOE) Items. Agenciecs may augmént" an
item of expenditure within MOOE, except intelligence - nd
confidential fund, from savings in other items of MOEE withput
prior approval of the DBM. |
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He then relterates that ‘the fund is already con31dered
savings under the MOEE since all the targets fmr the
implementation of the ESWM were already 1mp1emented |by the
EMB-CAR. _ i

: i

As to the issue of non-compliance with the prowsmnsiof R.A.

' No. 9184, accused Reyes alleged that his actions were undertaken

~ after the COA had approved that the provisions of R.A. No. 9184

were satisfied. Thus, his actions should be reviewed ungler the
‘'said conditions. - 1

As also prewously mentmned the condmon of ‘the old
building of the EMB-CAR was -unpleasant, thereby‘ greatly
affectinig the performance of work and the provision. of public
.- service. The clamor to repair ‘and rehabilitate the old huilding

. rehabilitation of the said building. The fund for the rehahilitation

was great; and even the EMB-Central Office agreed {to the

~of the said building, however,” was allegedly hmde ed by
requirements  of official procedures - like budget allocatlon
approval, term for the accomplishment of the said procedup'es and
- the length of time consumed for undertaking the aforeseud
procedures. In the meantime, that the said proces es are
undertaken, the prowswn of pubhc semce is greatly 1mpqded as
well.

Thus, when the EMB-CAR was confronted with the'ich'ance
of using savings to repair the old building, vis-a-vis the ' concern
regarding the usage of funds within a fiscal year, the COA
suggested the use of Sec, 53 of the IRR of R.A. No. 9184. The said
section .of the IRR allows Negotiated Procurement or. the direct
negotlatmn of contract with a contractor when 1mmed1ate action
is necessary in order to -restore vital public servides and
infrastructure facilities.- In ' this - regard, accused] Reyes
mamteuned that the IRR of R.A, No 9184 was not v1olated by the

Moreover he alleged that the EMB-CAR cannot be falulted in
‘further implementing the said project since the COA 1tse1f had
approved of the project during. the meetings condueted on -
December 8, 2003 and October 5, 2004. :

With regard to the 1ssue of the dlsbursement of fund |1n favor
of accused Ang/PHCS accused Reyes insists that he is not
accountable therein since dlsbursement of such funds; is not

within his control

o
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Accused Reyes averred that the materials were !-ﬁﬁndeed
‘purchased from accused Ang / 'PHCS and that the constguction
materials that were purchased were all delivered. The said
purchase was discontinued, however, since the quotation
provided by accused Ang / PHCS in December 2003 were different
to the prices which were prevailing in October 2004. Considering
the possibility of shortfall of the appropriated funds, accused Ang
/ PHCS returned to the EMB-CAR, through accused Reyfes, the
excess of the payment of the materials which were not conjlipletely
utilized in purchasing materials from the aforesaid company.
. Accused Reyes declared that he was present when accused Ang
withdrew the money from Landbank, Harrison Road Branch,
which is.2 kilometers away, and gave it to cashier Lausa.; At the
time when the cashier received the said amount, the cashier did
not issue the official receipt of the Republic -of the Philippines
showing proof that the money of the government was réturned..
Accused Reyes was also certain that he did not see a recéipt that
was Issued. He stated that the value of the materials and s;'upplies
delivered by PHCS was allegedly P401,226.20, for which tHe latter

‘received the same amount and that there was a return by PHCS
of a portion of amount. —

_ He pointed out that in the Certification dated Octc?ber 22,

. 2004,216 the return of the fund for purchase of materials was with
the notation of the COA Resident Auditor and under autﬁority of
the Regional Director, although the cashier has no s'igna]ture on
the acknowledgment receipt. This certification allegedly only goes
to show that the return of funds to EMB-CAR thru Reyes was
under the direct regulation of the COA. _ 3

He further mentioned that in the Statement of Account of
PHCS, EMB-CAR still purchased materials from the said seller on -
. December 23, 2003. Said purchase was made even after the time,
that the seller returned the unused amount to the EMB-CAR on
December 22, 2003. This fact allegedly goes to show that EMB-

CAR was keen on the price of thie materials, such that it/did not
have any reservations to purchase from the said seller if the price
of the said materials are lower compared to other sellers.’

On the other hand, with regard to the donation of 100 bags
_of cement by the Philex Mining Corporation on December 1, 2004,
accused Reyes reasoned out that the same was accepted by him
only because the funds for the project were deficient. At this
point, the remaining amournt of funds allocated for the purchase
"of materials for the said project only amounted to P19,622.00.

16 Exhibits 40, 40-A and 40-B-Reyes

; 7 Vb v;\
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This amount is said to be inadequate to pay the balance owing to
PHCS in the amount of P31,032.00, which is the payr?ent of
purchases made after the return of the fund for materials to the
EMB-CAR. Accused Reyes begged the indulgence lof the
Honorable Ombudsman for not reporting the said donation in the
accounting by the government. He stated, however, that the
donation was not in any way concealed since the deli_ve'iry was
recorded in the logbook and no effort was made to cover!up the
.contents of the said logbook.. Moreover, as can be seen from the
logbook, the construction workers were to receive and wait for the
delivery of the donated cement at the place at 4:20|in the

‘afternoon. The donatiori, however, was not reporfed for
accounting as required by Section 63 of PD1445, |

. , : i

On the other hand, accused Reyes alleged that [neither
undue injury was caused ‘to.the government for unwarranted
benefit given to the private contractor herein accused Dominong
- when the latter’s retention fee of P33,779.14 was paid because no
structutal defect on the building ever existed at 'the‘ time of
payment thereof and up to the present. He went on to 'sFaté that
as of now, the building is still standing and is being used ever
since. Moreover, the retention fee was said to have been released
to accused Dominong as the building has already been finished.
As per evaluation, there are no glaring structural defects, so a
~ lettet of acceptance has been agreed by the Regional Director
herein accused Salvador and the retention fee eventually

released. S _ i

When asked in opencourt if he, being the project manager,
conducted the inspection of the project, accused Reyes declared
~ that the evaluation was discussed with Engr. Raul 'I‘ubaﬁgay. He
admitted that despite the presence of the hairline cracks as
assessed, he never asked for the repair of these hairline cracks
prior to the acceptance. He mentioned that as a licensed Civil
 Engineer who has been a professor for three years, he is of the
-position that it has no glaring structural defects. :

Accused Reyes explained that the hairline cracks near the
stairway are structural by itself and are cracks from thcl.l cement
crust,217 while the big hairline cracks are due to plasterirlg.2i¢ He
further stated that these hairline cracks which are lessithan an
inch in depth and less than a millimeter in width will Lhave no
effect inasmuch as the building itself has been there for fourteen

217 Exhibit 39-F-Reyes , » -
28 Bxhibit 39-G-Reyes - . : : i
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(14) years already and nothing happened. These are the same
cracks that were identified by the COA in their report. :r

Accused Reyes alleged't'hat the repair and rehébilit_atfon was
completed and that he did not receive any pecuniary beneiﬁt from
the repair or rehabilitation.

Accused Tolentino adopted the testimony of accusecf Reyes.

On additional direct examination by counsel of lccused
Mauri, accused Reyes-mentioned that his subordinat;'Fs ‘were
accused Tolentino, accused Mauri, Lausa and Malou Weigan.
Accused Tolentino is allegedly the immediate supervisor of
accused Mauri and all the things that accused Mauri doe’é will be
checked and approved by accused Tolentino. |

Accused Reyes mentioned that he believes that it was after
the transmittal of Amador that there was a collegial discu'ision as
to how the savings would be used sometime in 2003 because
Amador has already authorized .the use of savingé!. The
prosecution notes; however, that the written letter of Julian
Amador is dated January 26, 2004 and not 2003. I
’ 1
|

Counsel for Tolentino adopted the testimony of accused
Reyes with qualification. To be specific, the testimony with
respect to the savings is adopted, but not the following: (1) When
they were into the discussion as to the negotiation and jmeeting
in resorting to some form or modes of procurement, that hecused
Tolentino is present; (2) The letter of acceptance despite the
cracks or minor defects after they checked the building, V:EBI'C the
retention money was based, and (3) That accused Mauri is
directly reporting to accused Tolentino. L

Accused Reyes . identified the following docutlnentary
exhibits: (a) Counter-affidavit of Rolando C. Reyes?!9 :Emd his
signature;22° (b) Regional Special Order No. 89 dated Ocﬁyber 19,
000422! and the signature:222 (¢) Memorandum of Directar Julian
Amador dated January 26, 2000;223 (d) Carwass~paper§1,224 and
' abstract of canvass;2??5 (e) Audit Survey on the EMB-CAR | project,
repair and rehabilitation of the environmental education

219 Exhibit 3-Reyes

320 Exhibit 3-A-Reyes

1l Exhibit 49-Reyes

22 Exhibit 49-A-Reyes

223 Bxhibit 7-Reyes ,

24 Exhibits 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27 and 42- Reyes
1% Exhibit 51- Reyes

T
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information center of the regional director’s office;226 (f) PFrtlon

stating that that review of the submitted documents show that

"canvass forms were issued to various supplies, -for the latters

submission of their price quotation, of which Pyramid Hardware
and Constriiction Supply submitted the lowest bid and there is a
reference;227 (g) Site development plan; ;228 () Speexﬁcatmn' or the
repair and rehabilitation of the Regional Director’s Ofﬁ e and
Environmental Education Information Center2?? and 51gnatures
of Reyes and Regional Director;230 (i) Letter dated October 22,

2004 to COA informing that the money was returned to EMB and
signatures of Reyes and COA Resident Auditor Santlagc!) 231 3)
Delivery Receipts;232 (k) Cash invoice, receipts, statements of
accounts from different hardwares;233 () Pictures |Df the
building;?34 (m) Certificate of Acceptance dated January 11 2005
and 51gnature235 and (n) PHCS Statement of Account.236

During his cross exammatlon accused. Reyes mertioned

~ that the building was only partly demolished, but admitted that

the one-storey building eventually became a two-storey bdﬂdlng
He also stated that the conceptualizing and planning for the

- repair of the building, which ‘then involved the 1mprover§1ent of

the office of the Director with a meeting space for clients, was
begun sometime during the second quarter of 20083, quever ‘
the plan was admittedly finished around 2004.

Reyes averred that the rehab111tat10n of the building 'tarted
sometime in October 2004, or ten (10) months after the amount
was obligated, which was adm1ttedly too long. He exp1a1ned that

‘the funds were already obhgated as of 2003, but they wereﬁot yet

approved Sirnice there was no capital outlay, EMB-CAR can only

Accused Reyes admits that he has already met with aecused
Domiriong, who is a welding shop owner, prior to the transaction

because he made a garage and that he did not ask f‘or any
document to prove his techn1ca1 capabﬂlty or financial capabthty

226 Exhibit 43-Reyes

2% Fxhibit 44-Reyes : : S : A
25 Exhibit 61-Reyes .o , _ : ,
29 Exhibits 61-A and 61-B-Reyes . : |
31 Exhibits 40, 40-A and 40-B-Reyes _ N ' !
22 Exhibit 41-Reyes ’ - i
23 Exhibits 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 45, 47 and 57 Reyes - b

235 Exhibit 18-Reyes and 18-A- Reyes
6 Exhibit 16-Reyes

e i e e e
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He also admits that there is no proof of written authirlty or
advice from COA as ta the use of such method of neg tiated -
procurement of the infrastructure project. = I

| Reyés alleged that he is neither aware of realignment of
funds in this transaction nor that DBM had not approved jany re-
alignmient of funds. | |

As to the previous allegation that all orders from Pyramid
' were delivered, it was clarified that there was already -p'ayment
although there were items still undelivered. And that!fis why
PHCS had to return the money overpaid considering that the
materials paid were not delivered yet. | |

Regarding the release. of the retention fee rigl:ﬁt after

acceptance of EMB-CAR, accused Reyes acknowledged that there
was no one year retention before the release of the bond. ‘ He also
confirmed that he did not ask for the repair of those portions with
hairline cracks, deflection in the steel deck slabs and the roof
deck slabs before the release of the retention amount. H(j opined

that these are minor defects. Reyes admitted that he lost it-ne copy

of the report of Engr. Tubangay who inspected on this before the
- acceptance. - . S .

Accused Reyes admits that from J anuary 2004 when the

notice of temporary deferment was issued.until October 2004,
when the DBM released the budget, no action was taken to
‘rehmbilitate the building for 10 months. Reyes believesil'tho'ugh
that public bidding should have been conducted, which isi'why he
.was hesitant at that time. This is also why he made ajusﬂ ication
with respect to the deviation on the procedure of the procurement

for infrastructure as provided for under the IRR of R.A. No. 9184.
! ) . . . : 1

Also, he alleged'_tﬁat during the meeting with CO_A Resident
Auditor held on October 5, 2004 in the temporary office of the
' Regional Director in'the other building, he does not remernhber the

model of the cellphone when Loida was talking with | Cluster
Director Villena, even on speaker mode. He claims thatlLI)irector
Villena mentioned, “Eh kung ganyan lang ang sinasabj mo, go
with the project.” He also admits that there is no documentary .
evidence of the statement that EMB-CAR was advised *0 finish
the project by the end of December 2004 since the fund has
already been obligated under the 2003 budget and that ifthey fail
to use the fund by the end of 2004, then the fund ljis to be
returned to the National Treasury: Accused Reyes admitted that

they did not want to return the fund to the National Treasury.
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There is also no documentary proof that there was an assurance
on the part of the COA that there is no need to con:t%uct a
competitive bidding since the obligation falls under Section 53 of

the IRR of R.A. No. 9184. -

|
. |
Accused Reyes maintains that there was imminent danger
to the properties of the government although he initially étdmits-
that for that particular period in which they. had a meeting on
December 2003 deciding collegially the use of the negbtiated
procurement, there was no state of calamity. In fact, there was
no state of calamity in 2003 and 2004 but he asserts that he
considers typhoon as a natural calamity and that during
December 2003, there was allegedly a typhoon. P
Accused Reyes further contends that immediate action is
necessary because public service is being sacrificed. He 'F'legreed, '
- however, that there was no immediate action taken from
December 2003 until the stirt of the rehabilitation on October
2004. During that period, employees were housed in the subject
building. The stoppage of work due to the rehabilitatipn was .
admitted to have happened only happened on October 2004, and
not from December 2003. - i '

B ‘ : . _ K

Accused Reyes mentioned that they had to ask for the return
of the excess amount paid to accused Ang/PHCS becalise the
prices of costs of the materials are no longer -applicablel due to
inflation. He admitted that this would not have happene'd if they
followed the public bidding because there shauld be a period of
time where the price quotation of the supplier would be ai:railable.'

i | |

On re-direct examination, accused Reyes clarified t !at as to
the Disbursement Voucher dated November 30, 2004 prepared by
him, payment of the retention fee was received by accused
Dominong on February 16, 2005, as reflected on the lower right
portion of the disbursement voucher in the box, TReceived
Payment.” Accused Reyes explained that the retention |fee was
released because the project was already completed and also for
humanitarian reasons. He wis allegedly informed that two weeks
after the start of the project, @icused Dominong was electrocuted
because of faulty wirings thét ‘were being removed and that the
latter sustained major burns'in the body and confined in Saint
Louis Hospital. Due to the hospital billings, accused Dominong’s
wife frequented their office and asked for the retention fee for the
payment of the hospital bills. '
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~ Accused Reyes also mentioned that accused Domino:'_g was
chosen as the contractor because prior to the project, apcused
Dominong was also contracted to construct the garage near the
subject building and after thé accomplishment of that garage,
EMB-CAR was satisfied of his work. It was thus allegedly
. recommended by the EMB Civil Engineer Engr. Randy leauan

' that accused Dominong bé contracted again to make the project.
With respect to the deﬂe_:'; sl'i_'on, Accused Reyes maintai; hs that
as far as he is technically capable, the deflection appears in a
certain section and not on the whole, entire slab. When he
allegedly took pictures in 2016, the deflection was still the same
and did not freely go further, despite being used, loaded and
placed with heavy materials. = = - | |
 Accused Ang and Doming -adopted the direct testiflrllony .of

accused Reyes, with additional questions. | B |

Duting the additional re-direct by Counsel for Aj\g and

Dominong, accused Reyes claims that he has no participgtion as
to Exhibit EE.237 Also, he -acknowledges that the Letter dated
October 22, 2004,238 which -essentially provides that he
acknowledges the receipt of P357,772.50 from PHCE, was
- executed by him to prove that the amount was really returned to’
him. The said Letter was allegedly made in the office and signed
by the COA Resident Auditor. - IR o
. . . E
'Accused Mauri and Tolentino adopted the testimony.

~direct examination by Counsel for
~ accused Mauri and Tolentin@ accused Reyes admits that when
Lausa and Ligaya prepared gie P758,998.70 payment to PHCS,
there was already a budget;allotted to PHCS in this amount.
Particularly, Mauri had nofhing to do with the preparati n of the
ADA and the payment of P758,998.70 to PHCS. Moreaver, the
total budgetary,‘requir'ernenﬁfor the rehabilitation of th!e EMB-
CAR building was allegedly afound P1.2 million. It was llegedly
the EMB cashier Ms. Lausa, and not accused Mauri, who released
the payments for these ampunts to the contractor and to the
~ supplier of the materials.” o §

During the additional rg

l

| | o o
On re-cross examinatior, accused Reyes again insi#ted that
payment was made after delivery, because the billing statement

7 A dyice/ Authority to Debit Account Debit Memo No. 04-10-010 dated October 11, 2004!j nder Payee
Mariano Ang in the total amount of P758,998.70 . ' - :

8 Eyhibit 40-Reyes :

*
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totalled the delivery receiptg, the individual delivery receipts.
He admits however that heTis not

amounting to [P401,226.20].8
involved in financial matters.;
.o : : !

As to the allegation of conspiracy with accused Do ;linong','-.
accused Reyes reiterated humanitarian reason and insisted that:
accused Dominong is financially capable. He also mentioned that
' they verbally contracted other contractors aside from accused

Dominong but they refused. He admitted that there was other
procedure made by the office and that they merely accepted a
recommendation, There was no written proposal submitted to the
BAC by accused Dominong. - ‘There also no document\ like a
canvass sheet. Reyes admitted that he is the Interim Ch ir of the
BAC at that titne. He also admits that there was no posting of the
project in the bulletin board of the public or public placés. The"
project was also not  published in newspaper of ‘general
circulation, and there was no bid security was submitted by
accused Dominong. Accused Dominong, however, signed a
" contract. | . 3
. . | -
4. ‘Accused Perlita L. Mauri?*® next took the  witness
stand and identified her Coufter-Affidavit.24 “She is the Budget
Officer of the EMB-CAR at the time material to these cases. She
claims that her only partidipation as to the renovation and
construction of the EMB-CAR building is with respect to the =
allocation of funds. - She fas instructed by her immediate
supervisor herein accused Heyes: to look for-a ‘budget|for the
‘purpose of renovating and/or improving the structure Wwhich is
now the Office of the EMB-CAR. The allotment used in obligating
accused = Dominong  (ALOBS#1203635) . and ;| PHCS
. (ALOBS#1203563) under Program/Project/Activity (P/P/A) were
allegedly from the savings generated or pooled at the end of the
year after completion of all the transactions to be funded. The
obligation allegedly occurred on the last working day of the year,
which is December 30, 2003. S

Accused Mauri mentioned that there was at that time a
standing letter request allegedly for fundiong in the improvement
of the existing building to the EMB-Central Office, EMB—ICAR was
advised verbally by EMB-Central Office to use the savings and the
allotment downloaded to their office. - She claims that shje has no
other participation after funding the: transaction. |

29 TSN dated April 3, 2018 L . .
20 (gunter-Afidavit of Perlita L. Mauri'dated December 28,2012, Supra note 1 at 207. -

L |




X

Decision o | .
People v. Salvador et al. . :

SB-15-CRM-0096-0099

Page 45 of 99 o _

X L . :

She averred that befgre,the budget for the improvement of
‘the EMB-CAR building wag 1 epared, advice was first sought by
the EMB-CAR from the EMB-§entral Office which allowed the use
of EMB-CAR’s savings-and/ér capital allotment downloaded to
EMB-CAR by its centrélfQ’gﬁc 241 :

a

Accused Mauri claims that based on SAA No. EMB-03-11-
05 dated November 28, 2003 (Fund 101}, the budget code for the
Ecological Solid Waste “Management project was actually
:dentified as “A.03.a” and “A.03.b.” This account is different from
the budget where the funds-used to improve EMB-CAR's office

came which are: “IlLa” (Account Code 755 and 811). ’I"hei budget
was never used by EMB-CAR to fund the improvcmeq- of its

building. Instead, what was actually used were the savings of

EMB-CAR which came from the Allotment “Ill-a."2¢2 In other
words, the funds coming from this obligation are not those
coming from the ESWM project. These funds came’ from the |
regular fund of EMB-CAR. This regular fund has a budget coming -
directly from the DBM at the start of the year. Allotment Plus 101
. is EMB-CAR’s regular fund at the start of the year - the (ieneral
Appropriations Act (GAA) fund. She further alleged that the COA
Team of Investigators failed in identifying the use of the '
budget allocation identifications considering ‘that they | di
actually talk with the persors involved. She further avers that -
adding the amounts of P790,623.65 in ALOBS (MOEE-03112-636)
dated December 30, 2003243 and P355,780.64 in ALOBS !(MOEE-
03-12-635) dated December 30, 2003,24¢ the total is
P1,146,404.29.  These amounts came from different |funding
sources, which  is the general fund. The ESWM|| budget
downloaded to the office is P1,150,000.00. Also, the amount
obligatéd to the “Ill.a” (755fand 811) account of EMB!CAR is
actually shown in the List of Accounts Payable as of December
31, 2003.245 R o

She further alleged that she had no p’art_icipatioi’:l in the

enigagement of the contractot; preparation and 'executidF of the

Contract between accused Dominong and Salvador, in t :e award
of the project to accused Dominong ‘and the execution of the .

projeét.245 Furthermore, she had no hand in the payme%lt of the

creditors of EMB-CAR in -relation to thel'improver_nen' of the
building of EMB-CAR.?47 o -

|
;

- 41 Exhibits 4-Reyes; 4-A-Reyes . . !
#2 Exhibit 5-Mauri’ _ ' _ N
23 BExhibit 14-Mauri - |
4 PEyhibit 15-Mauri c . !I
24 pxhibit 18-Mauri R .
2§ Eyhibits 6 to §-Mauri S _ _ ‘

|

47 BExhibit 9-Mauri
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. Accused Mauri also contends that she had no partlclwlpatmn
whatsoever in the preparation and payment of the sum of
P758,998.70 in favor of accused Ang as the person respcnmble

‘therein were Acting Cashier Lausa and OIC, Chief Admln &
Finance Division Garcia WhO were never 1mp11cated 1n these
cases.248

Furthermore she stated that none of all those|facing
charges in these cases illegally toock monies to the damage and
prejudice of the government, K going on further to state that
accused Reyes even returned the money he received and which in

turn were turned over by accused Ang due to EXCESS psyment
commitfed by Lausa and Garcia.249 .

Accused Mauri also alleged that she had no partlclpétlon in
the preparation and execution of Disbursement Voucher dated
December 16, 2004 and Disbursement Voucher dated DeFember
29 2004 .250 k

In the course of her testln'iony, she identified the fgllomn‘g -
documents: (a) Position Description Form dated May 6, 1989;25!
(b) Memorandum from Director Julian D. Amador dated J anuary
26, 2004;252 (c) SAA No. EMB-03-11-05 dated November 28 2003
(Fund 101) ;253 (d) Contract of Service dated December 29, 2003 ;254
and (e) Budget Unit FIOWChaI't 285 - |

Accused Ang, Dommong, Salvador Reyes and quentmo
adopted the testimony of accused Mauri. ,

During the additional direct examination by Counsel of.
Reyes, accused Mauri, referring to the Contract of Service with
Dominong?56 admitted that accused Reyes, together thh Ms.
Garcia, merely signed as a witness. i

On additional direct examination by counsel for Tolentmo,
accused Mauri admits that the ALOBS (MOEE-03-12- 63?) dated
December 30, 2003 and ALOBS' (MOEE-03-12-635 dated

#8 BExhibit 10-Mauri

¢ Exhibit 11-Mauri

130 Exhibits 12 and 13-Maur

2 Exhibits 1 and 1-A-Mauri _ .
21 Exhibit 4- Mauri; ExhibitM | I

. 3 Exhibit 5-Mauri o ’ I

4 BExhibit 6-Mauri o : . 1

253 Bxhibit 3-Mauri
U

156 Exhibit 6-Mauri
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December 30, 2003 prepared by her bears only her s1gnat re and

not that of accused Tolentino.

Dunng the additional direct exammatlon by counsel for
accused Mauri, referring to the Sub-Allotment Advice. SAA No.
EMB.01-11.05 dated November 28, 2003,357 accused|Mauri
~declared that the code 969 found below the column New Account
Code was for the solid waste expense. She thinks that this was
“only put in as new account code. The 101 fund code is the general
fund also but it is coming from the Central Office, so it is the
downloaded fund. The general fund for the whole EMB 1s labeled
as 101. ‘

- On cross- exammatlon accused Mauri mentioned that her
immediate supervisor is accused Reyes, the OIC Admin O ficer at
that time. Around the.last” quarter of 2003, accuse Reyes '
allegedly asked Mauri to look:for savings or funds for thé repair
or rehabilitation of the old bu11d1ng Thus, sometime in Ddcember'
2003, accused Mauri.called up the Budget Officer of the, L’:entral '
Office Ms. Laborte. Mauri allegedly talked to her in via tefephone
in person and Laborte said that EMB-CAR can use the savings to
be generated. - He said that there was a go signal from Director
Amador, although accused Mauri did not talk to Director }}mador

When asked where in- the Memorandum of ?rector
Amador?s8 is the advice glven to use the downloaded funds for the
ESWM or additional operatmg expenses, Mauri re1terated that
she only used the savings generated or the pooled funds When
asked if it included the additional operating expen|se, the
additional ESWM downloaded to the office, she answered in the

negative, - :‘

Accused Mauti declared that ‘at . the’ tlme she talkL:d with
. Anabella Laborte (“Laborte”); she requested for a formal| written
instruction. Labotte allegedly said that they will issue alletter to
that effect. Accused Mauri then obligated it at the last day of
December 2003, but she did not wait for the written instructions
anymore. The funds were allocated and obligated before t‘(he copy
of the letter of Julian Amador was received. ’I

When asked as to the t1me11nc with respect to the t:ontract

of service and the ALOBS, accused Mauri cannot reca il which

came first — the executlon of the contract of service or the i suance
||

37 Exhibit X-2
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of the ALOBS. The Contract of Serv1ce959 was dated December
29, 2003 and she obligated it o December 30, 2003.260 Tt was
noted that December 30, 2003 is a holiday, but accused Mauri
stated that she was on overtime because they could, not go on
holiday if the funds were not closed. | o

Moreover, accused Mauﬂ adrmtted that she does ndt krnow
the reason as to why the ALOBS (MOOE-03-12- 636] dated
Decembet 30, 2003 and ALOBS (MOOE- -03-12-635) | dated
'December 30, 2003261 were not signed by the accountant|(herein-
accused Tolentino). She was not sure, as well, if the staff of the
accused Tolentino was at the ofﬁce on that date. ‘ ;

Accused Mauri eventually confessed, while refernng to
Exhibit X,262 that the A.3.a can possibly be the same as [[ll.a in
‘the ALOBS.263  The Ill.a’ allegedly meant Environmental
Management Expenses, not Environmental Solid || Waste
Management, while III. B is for solid waste. - 3.a|is for
Environmental Managemeént and Pollution Control and AJ03.b is
for Toxic Substance and Waste Management ‘ -

Finally, accused Maurl stated earher that she v|vas not .
invited or asked to participate in the COA audit, b t when
confronted with Exhibits 1264 and Exhibit M, 265 it appears that
she was the one who submitted the same to COA _ ‘ |

5. Mariano L. Ang?66 took the witness stand next and he
identified his Judicial Affidavit.26?7 He testified via | ud1c1al
Affidavit that he is the owner and general manager of |
Hardware & Construction Supply. He claims that he d, es not
know accused Salvador, Reyes, Tolentino and Mauri. He does not
personally know accused Reyes but he already saw his name in
the canvass papers brought at the store in December 2003 He
saw him only twice prior to payment — first, when he went to the
store and gave the canvass papers and second; when he g'ave the
list of materials to deliver. When the materials were|already.
delivered, accused Reyes was the one who paid Ang at the bank.

1%-_

2% Bxhibit 6-Mauri S E
2 Exhibits 14 and 15-Mauri : _ et
161 Id ) :
26 oA A No. EMB-03-11-05 dated November 28 2003 . :
263 Pxhibits 14 and 15-Maori
24 COA Audit Observation No. 06-003 dated October 10, 2006 s;gned by Perlita L. Mauri ||
265 Attachment to the Management Comment of Perlita L. Mauri - Memorandum of Du-ecto'r .Iuhan
Amador :

26 TSN dated May 28, 2018
27 Judicial Affidavit of Mariano L. Ang dated March 27, 2018
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Accused Ang testified that on December 22, 2003, PHCS
received canvass papers fromm the EMB-CAR signed by herein
accused Reyes.268 On October 11, 2004, accused Reyes went
back to his store to make’the purchase of the _construction
materials. From October 12 tp October 23, 2004, accused Ang /
PHCS made the deliveries ¢f the.construction materials as
contained in the list of purchased materials.269 Accused Ang
mentioned that it was only after the delivery of all the
construction materials that he, was paid.270 On October 22, 2004,
accused Reyes allegedly paid him in cash in the amount of
P401,226.20, representing the materials that were delivered, at
- the Landbank, Harrison Road Branch, Baguio. On the same date,
Pyramid gave back the amount of P357,772.50, represen'ﬁng-the
excess amount from the payment of cost of construction materials
for the repair and rehabilitation of the EMB-CAR Regional
Director’s Office and Environmental Education and Information
Center, to EMB-CAR through accused Reyes.?2’1 On Octcﬁber 23,
2004, the last delivery for the materials in the amount of
P31,032.00 was made. . = - . i

Because accused Ang was allegedly not paid for #he last
delivery in the amount of P31,032.00, he demanded payment
from the DENR so he sent a statemeént of account to shaw them
that they still have a balance.2’2 He was allegedly not ;%aid the
said amount. : i
- I
In the course of his testimony, Accused Ang identified the
following documentary exhibits: (a) Canvass pgpers;>”
(b)Purchase order which is also the list of materials brought by
Engr. Reyes;27% (c) Delivery Receipts;?’s and (e) De’livery.}-Receipt |
dated October 23, 2004 of last delivery.?76 - |

Accused Salvador and Tolentino adopted the testimony of
accused Ang. Accused Reyes adopted the testimony of accused -
Ang only as to the portion on the canvass and delivery of the
materials. ' .o ‘ |

On cross-examination, accused Ang mentioned that| he does
not remember being asked about PHCS’ financial capability. ‘

i
i

28 Exhibit 1-Ang

%9 Exhibit 2-Ang

M Exhibits 3-Ang to U-Ang
7 Exhibit 4-Ang; Exhibit FF
71 Exhibit 3-W-Ang

M Exhibit 1-Ang

M Exhibit 2-Ang

1718 Exhibits 3 to 3-T-Ang

216 Exhibit 3-U-Ang
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- Meanwhile, it was noted that the date as appearmg i:m the
Adv1ce/Author1ty to Debit. Account Debit Memo No. 04- LO 010
(Exhibit EE) is the same date when Reyes gave the‘ list of
materials, which was October 11, 2004. Ang alleged that he is
not aware of Landbank Account '0221-3223-80, although his
name appears in the Advice/Authority to Debit Acccun Debit
Memo No. 04-10-010 dated October 11, 2004277 as payee. He also
claims that he is not aware of the source of the funds used|to pay
the materials and that he doés not know the signatories. |Also, it
was noted that the price quotatlcn for the construction me erials,
as stated in the canvass papers, has a total of P758,998.70.
Accused Ang reasoned out that this might have been the otal of
the amount in the materials canvassed.2’® He pointed ofat that
"he was only able to deliver what was in the List of

Construction Materials279 and not all the supplies as stated in the
Cativass papers.?80

On re-direct e:xamlnatmn he a.lleged that he verified with the
. Landbank, thtough a certain Christine Santos, as thlo the
- Landbatik Account 0221-3223-80 and he was told that they have
no kriowledge about the existence of this account, eons1der1ng the
length of time that has passed After going to the Landbank,
accused Ang went to Lausa and ihquired from Her of this account,
but the latter also cannot remember about this account. 1

On re-cross exammation accused Ang stated thatlhe and
Lausa went to Landbank on Aprll 2018 but he did not ask [for any
certification from Landbank regardmg Authonty to!l Debit
Account. | - ._ |

He further mentioned that he does not remember if the
DENR required from PHCS the DTI permit, business pernnt etc.
He cannot recall if he gave the required documents for bidding or
canvass. He admits secing Exhibit EE?! only on April 2018.
When Engr. Reyes paid him in Landbank, the total a.mou}nt paid
was P401,226.20, and not P’758 998.70. }

6. David A. Dominong282 was’ presented nextII in the
witness stand: He is a welder and is the contractor for the labor
services of the repair and rehabilitation of the old EMB buﬂdmg

27 Exhibit EE _. o I
27 Bxhibit 1-Ang, pages 1 to 6 ‘
% Exhibit 2-Ang : : : ' _ |
0 Exhibit 1-Ang -
281 ADA Debit Memo No. 04-10- 010 dated C)ctober 11, 2004 : ’ ‘
22 TSN dated May 28, 2018
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of the EMB-CAR. In h1s Counter- Afﬁdawt 283 he stated that the
COA’s Audit Report neither mentioned allegations of consplracy
" between him and the other accused nor any statement that he
colluded with them. He also averred that if 1rregu1ar1t1es were
indeed committed by the officers and personnel of EMB CAR
anent the project he has done, he should not in any way be
faulted together with them for what he merely provided was labor
services in the repair of EMB-CAR’s building. Also, he W?S able
to accomplish and complete the work for wh1ch he |shou1d
necessanly be compensated o i

On direct examination, he declared that after complehng the
work, the EMB-CAR building ‘was. turned over to the EMB
Regional Director (herein -accused Salvador), who eventually
accepted it. EMB-CAR, the end user, duly accepted the completed
repair and rehabilitation project. The repair and rehab1]1tat1on
. project was allegedly duly inspected when it was already 100%
accomplished by Engr. Cubangay, the technical inspector who
was not charged in relation to.this case.28¢ He mentlonjed that
a check representing the retention money was then given|to him.

' This was allegedly given a month after the building was repaired.
He averred that he did not receive any complaints as to hzs work.

.- . Also, prior to the time when he teceived the check, no document

was allegedly received ' from EMB-CAR. After encash}ng the
check, no document was also recewed

In the course of his testlmony, accused Dommong 1dent1ﬁed
the following documents: (a) his own Counter-affidavit; :285] and (b)
Certificate of Acceptance signed by Joel Salvador dated anuary
14, 2005.286 i

Accused Salvador, Reyes Tolentino and Maun adopted the

testimony of accused Domlnong
. _1.

Onh cross- exammatmn, accused Dominong mentiorjed that
accused Reyes contacted him for the repair. He was theh asked
to provide fot requirements before the signing of the contract with
' the DENR. He claims that he has the permits required by law to -
operate the welding shop, including the BIR Certhcate of
Registration and Mayor’s Permit. He alleged that he submitted
financial statements, but these documents were not asked of him
before signing the Contract of Serv1ce

283 Exhibit 5-Dominong.
4 Exhibit 7-Dominong
* 15 Exhibit 5-Dominong
16 Bxhibit 7-Dominong; Exhibit I1J
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Accused Dominong adrmtted that he was’ not asked’of any

“proof of financial capacity or technical capability before | ?1gn1ng
the contract. He alleged that he cons1ders himself as teohnlcally -
capable to render labor services for the rehabilitation of |an old

. building, but only for small buildings around 10 x 5 mqters in

floor area. ' ¥

B
|,

Accused Dominong mentloned that he was eleotnocuted
while rendering labor services in the rehabilitation of [the old
building but he stressed that he was not rendering labor servmes
for the electricity of the building. In connection w1th this,
however;, he denied using the fact that he got electrocuted to
request for the release of the retention fee. | ‘ | '

o

He also confirms that he recewed the Landbank checl in the
amount of P33,779.14 on February 16, 2005, which he allegedly
encashed on the same day. When asked if he was aware of the
one year retention period before the release of the retentjon fee,
he answered in the negat1ve - - o ;

- On re-direct examination, Dommong alleged that at tLe time
when accused Reyes approached him for the rehab111tat fon and
repair of the building, he does nhot know him that well apd that
he only came to know hu’n because of the garage they on ed on.

~Accused Tolentlno adopted the test1mony of hccused
Dommong . o _ ‘ |

' On additional re-direct by counsel for accused Tolentino,
accused Dominong reiterates that prior to the constructioh of the
garage, he has not met Engr. Reyes. Due to the electrpcution
during the construction of the ‘building, as well, he was
hospitalized for more than one month. |

-—-ﬁ——,..g__ i

When asked by the Court as to the scope of h1s wark as a
labor service contractor, Accused Dominong stated t 1at this
includes ‘contracting’ and masonry work. When 'e said
contracting, he meant that the employees he hired 'did the
carpentry works. He admitted that he has no permit fiom the
Contractor’s Association .of -the Philippines to urrhertake
construction work, no pérmit from the DOLE to undertake labor
service contracting. He confessed, as well, that the only safety -
policy of his firm is the use of gloves and harness. FurthErmore,
accused Dominong admitted that he does not have a copy of the
" payroll that indeed he hired the more or less 15 workers to
Undertake thls work for the government. He only has a 'logbook

R ﬁ\
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wh1ch they signed for thelr payrolls He has no SSS cofrage,
PAG-Ibig payments or Philhealth contributions despite: having

more than 10 employees, because they do not have regular work,
He claims that he was not aware that he was makmg the

government liable by not makmg those payments

Accused Dominong contends that when he rendered
services for the DENR, he merely relied on the plan as prowded
by accused Reyes.

7. The last witness ‘for the defense is Asteirio C.
Tolentino.237 He is the Head of the Accounti’ng of EMB—thR.

Accused Tolentino olauns that he was in good fait
performance of his duties and responsibilities being the .
the Accountlng Unit of EMB-CAR. Such duties mcl, de the
preparing the  monthly;  quarterly and financial
requesting Notice of Cash Allocation (NCA) from the D:
certifying funds avallablhty in the contracts of service g
orders |

_ He testified that based on COA Clrcular No. 2006-003,288 he
has a ministerial duty in cerhfymg funds. Paragraph 2. 4rt)hereof
states that “For Contract of Purchase Order, the Head of the
Accounting Unit shall certify the availability of funds based on the
ObR [Obligation Request] or BUR [Budget Utilization Request]
duly certified by the Budget Officer.” ‘The ObR used to be the
ALOBS.289 E

Accused 'I‘olentino alleged that there is a difference b'etween
“funds” and “cash.” He has nd control over the funds, and that it
is his ministerial duty to ‘certify the availability of funds in the
purchase order or contract of services once the budget officer
already determined that there is allotment available throtigh the
ALOBS/OBr.29¢ He allegéd that under the. New Gov rnment
Accounting System (NGAS), which took effect in 2002, “funds” is
constrited to mean appropriations, allotments or budget 291 Tt is
not synoniymous or similar with the term “cash.” It is the Budget

' Officer who has control of the funds. On the other hand, it is the
Accountant who has contr¢l of the cash or rather certifies on the
availability of the cash

287 TSN dated May 28, 2018 and TSN dated October 15, 201 8.
28 Exhibit 7-Tolentino ) )

29 Exhibit 7-A-Tolentino .

M Eyhibit 6-Tolentino, 6-A-Tolentino, 7- Tolentmo 7-A-Tolentino
»l Exhibit 6-A-Tolentino .
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Accused Tolentino mentioned that he certifiedi i funds
available by affixing his signature in the Contract of Serviices or
Purchase Order. He usu _'_,_:'_1y'certiﬁed funds once he rece_iyes the
ALOBS coming from the Budget Officer. He defined th_e?f\LOBS
as an instrument which proves that there is already an allPunent

or budget for that particular purpose or that'a claim has been

obligated and that fund has been certified. Tt allegedly makes the
signing of the Accountant ministerial in nature. :

Accused Tolentino also contends that he never signec'l any of
the Disbursement Vouchers in.favor of accused Dominong and
Ang / PHCS. On this note, he explained the process of
disbursement of government funds. He testified that the basis for
the Budget Officer in preparing the ALOBS is that the netessary
. documents will come from the requesting unit or the end user.
- These documents will be forwarded to the Budget Officer, who will

in turn determine the. completeness of the documents or
sufficiency of the documents. If these documents are incomplete,
the Budget Officer will return-it to its origin for completioﬁl. If the
documents are complete, the Budget Officer will prég")are or
execute a document denominated as ALOBS, certifying the
availability of the allotment or budget, and obligate it by affixing
his signature in that ALOBS., The term “obligation” refers to a
commitment by a government agency arising from an act of a duly
- authorized government officidl, which vice the government to the
immediate or eventual payment of a sum of money. Urlder the
NGAS which took effect in 2002, it is already the Budget Officer
who has the duty or the power to obligate in their office, but before
that, it is the Accountant under the old government accounting
system. On this note, he mentioned that in thq‘_preparatiéﬁj of the
ALOBS, the Purchase Order and the Contract of Services were
used as basis for the claiin of accused Ang/PHCS and accused
Dominong, respectively. .. o !1

~ He went on to state that after the budget or a]lotni?ent has
been obligated, these documents aré forwaided to the accctxnting.
In the accounting unit, there are 3 material things that the
Accountant determines — cash availability, completeness of
documents and the mode of payment (whether this is ‘payable
through a commercial check, MBS check or through the Authority
ADA. If the documents are incomplete,.the Accountant will
simply return those docurnents to its origin for completion. If
cash is not available, the Accountant will request Notice 'of Cash
Allocation (NCA) from the DBM. The Accountant affixes his
signature only after it has already been verified that the
documients are complete, the cash is already available and the

R
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mode of payment has already been determined. The same will

then be forwarded to the head of the office for the approval of
payment. Once approved, it.will be forwarded to the Cashier for
the preparation of the ADA or check: Once this ADA or chéck has

been signed by the Cashier, it will be returned again to the Head .

of the office for counter signing. And then, it will be returned to
the Cashier. From there, the payee shall be paid. The payele shall
acknowledge payment by 31gn1ng in that particular box/of the
Disbursement Voucher and lssumg an official receipt. '

|
1
i

He testified that for purposes of payment there were four (4)

Dlsbursement Vouchers issued in favor of Dominong, whlle there
was none as to PHCS. He testified that he did not ajfﬁx his
signature on the Disbursement Voucher for ADA-04-101015.292
He also stated that he did not certify that the suplportlng
documents are complete or proper and that cash is available. In
additioh, he did not have any participation in the payment and Jor
- dlsbursernent of funds and/or cash allocation in favor of accused
Domiihong.29% In fact, there was even a notation down below in
the Disbursement Voucher294 enumerating the documents that

he requited before affixing his signature. The docurnqnts he

‘required are: (1) the Contract, (2) the Statement of Work
-Accomplished by Technical Inspector, (3) Billing’ by the
Contractor, (4) Agency estimate or specification, (5) Plan Program
of Work, (6) Jusnﬁcatlon (7) Canvass or authority to entei‘ into a
negotiated contract.” He also required the RIS, the Letter of
~ Award, the Notice to Proceed, a building permit in another set of
notation. He also made a notation that before release of the
retention fee, there should be validation from the" Spec1a.1
Technical Aud1tor (STAD). He also required the occupancy
permits. He vehemently objected to the payment iand/or

disbursement of the funds/cash-allocation in favor of dccused -

Dominong. Despite his objection, however it appears that the
funds have been released 295 o _ ;

He also contends that he was by-passed in the other
Disbursement Vouchers, perhaps because of his Annotatlon in
the initial Disbursement Voucher requiring several documents
that they were not able to comply with. Without his 51gnature
there should have been no actual disbursement of funds.i

32 Exhibit 1-Tolentino; Exhibit C*-1 to C’ 3 |
 Exhibit 2-Tolentino, 2-A-Tolentino, 2-B- Tolennno 2-C. Tolentlno 2-D-Tolentino and 2- E Tolentlno

204 I d
%% Exhibit 1-Tolentino, 1-A-Tolentino, 1-B Tolcntmo 1-C- Tolennno 1-D-Tolentino, 1-E- ToIIentmo 1-

F-Tolentino, 1-G-Tolentino

s
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Furthermore, he claims that as the accountant,| he is

prohibited from becoming a member of the Bids and Awards

Committee (BAC) and participate in the bidding/ prqcxil*ément
process,29 o | | |

On the other hand, accused Tolentino -admitted that he

requested for NCA from the DBM including requesting fclfr cash
allocation in favor of accused Dominong and PHCS. However, he
stressed that by requesting for NCA in the favor of the said
accused, it does not follow.that one can be guilty of vf?olating
Section 3(e) of R.A. No. 3019, because requesting NCA from the
DBM is one thing, the actual disbursement of cash allocation is
an entirely different thing. In fact, in the NCA issued by the DBM,
thete is a natation there which states that: “It is understood that
the actual utilization of the disbursement of this cash allbcation
shall be subject to the u1sual accounting, auditing and budgeting
rules and regulations.” Under the NGAS which took effect in
2002, accounts payable are simply obligations that .remained
unpaid at the end of the year, regardless of whether or not the
. goods dte delivered or services are rendered. . i
During the time of the transaction, the new government -
‘accounting system is in effect, but Tolentino admitted using the
old definition and that he committed in error. The re yson for
requesting for NCA from the DBM in favor of accused Ang/PHCS
and Dominong, as can be gleaned from the list of joint demand
accounts payable is the existence of the ALOBS. |

Tolentino admitted having identified the accounts ![ ayable

- using the old government accounting system, instead of .égaplying

the new one. The mistake committed, however, was é:llegedly

fairly common at that time, considering that a lot of accdq;mtants.

were riot yet thoroughly familiar with all the changes | rought

about by the NGAS at that time. . I!
_ : ; o '] '

. As to the allegation that there is technical malversation by
conspiring with accused Salvador and Mauri in preventing the
SAA from being reverted to’the National Treasury, accused
Tolentino poeints out that what prevented the SAA funds from
being reverted to the National Treasury is the exclusive act of the
Budget Officer (herein accused Mauri) in obligating it in|favor of

accused Dominong and Ang/PHCS.. He mentioned that under the
NGAS, he is no longer the one authorized to obligate.

|
¥

|
1

% Exhibit 9-Tolentino
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Accused Salvador, Maun Ang and Domlnong did not adopt
the testimony of accused Tolentlno whlle accused Reyes adopted
the said testimony. | . - !

|
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In the course of his testimony; accused Tolentino id entiﬁed-
the following documentary evidence: (a) Circular No. 20086, dated
January 31, 2006 and paragraph 2.4, page 2;297 (b} COA Circular
2005-001 dated February 28, 2005 a’nd paragraph 2.4, page 2
thereof;298 (c) Disbursement Voucher with the Advice Autl-]lonty to
Debit Account, particular-portion which provides for the ‘printed
name, Asterio C. Tolentino, Jr., the annotation with lall the
enumerations as read and id'entiﬁed by accused Tolentino, the
particular portion for réproduction. pyramid papers and
Tolentino’s signature on. bottom portlon of document;2%% (d) box
containing the printed name as’Asterio C. Tolentmo Jr. Lmthout, -
signature;300 () Disbursement Voucher, second page thereof and
the particular name appearing on left bottom most portion;30! (f)
Disbursement Voucher and the name of Asterio Tolentino3? (g)
COA Clrcula.r dated July 30, 2003 No. 2003-004 and the last
sentence in the first pa.ragraph and the second paragraph 303

On cross-examination by the counsel for Mauri, accused
~ Tolentino stated that the process as to the budget a]locatmns he
mentioned is the same as that of the flow chart pertamlng to the
process on how the budget is allocation.304 He'again denies being
a participant in the approval or in the execution of the contract,
service. -

Accused Ang and Domznong d1d not adopt the testlmony of
Tolentino. .

‘ Dunng the cross-examination by counsel for Ang and

Dominong, accused Tolentino Clarified that while his dulty as to
certifying funds ava11ab111ty is ministerial, his part1c1pat1oh in the
disbursement vouchers is discretionary. Tolentino admiits that
~ he signed the Contract of Service. He has no knowledgeLf there-l
. was a Notice of Award 'as to David Dominong, although he later
on learned that there was a Notice to Proceed. =

7 Exhibits 7 and 7-A Tolentino

298 Exhibits 6 and 6-A Tolentino

#? Exhibits 1 to 1-G-Tolentino .

30 Exhibit C*-1 ’ o - i
1 Exhibits 2 to 2-B-Tolentino o :
32 Exhibit B*-1 | _ !__

33 Exhibits 9 and 9-A-Tolentino - o
- X«:/
h - . .' . . . b -. B

104 BEyhibit 3-Mauri
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_ On cross-examination by the prosecution, a cused
Tolentino acknowledged that the term ministerial, in relation to

his certification of availability of funds, was not mentloned in the
COA Circular 2006-003. He admits that the COA Circular 2006-

2003 and COA Circular 2005-001 were inexistent at the tlme the

transactions happened in 2003 up to 2004, He denies; however

~ that COA Circular 2005-001 was applied only as of April 1? 2005.

) . . . . |
Accused Tolentino again denies certifying first the funds
availability in the Contract of Service prior to checking the iALOBS
issued by Mauri.

~ He claims that, referrlng ta the LlSt of Due and Demandable
Accounts Payable-External Creditors,395 the accounts payable are
‘the ‘obligations where goods are already delivered or services
rendered but remain unpaid under the NGAS. He clarlﬁed that
the meaning of Accounts- Payable is not limited to pI‘lOI‘ years’
unpaid obligations. He also confirms that the List of Due and’
Demandable Accounts Payable was received by the DBM on
March 10, 2004 and that at that time, there was no clehyery yet
of construction supphes from PHCS ' : !

Tolentino testified that what is written in the SAA306 js the
same as that written on the GAA, referring to the Env1r0r'1mental
. Management and Pollution’Control. However, he does not recall

why he did not sign the dOcuméﬁt’s. : : “ : '

He also exp1a1ns that the pr0v1310n in Section 14, NGAS
which provides that the Accountant or Head of the Acc&untmg
Unit shall cértify to the correctness and validity of obligations and
availability of funds has been modified. Way back in 2092 that
provision has allegedly been removed. He mentions, howcver,
that it has not been changed when he signed the Contract of

Service in 2003. : y _ :

On re-direct examination, accused Tolentino clarified that
COA Circular No. 2005-001 and Circular No. 2006-003 |did not
necessarily take effect on those particular dates in 2005 and
2006, even if the same were issued on those dates. He reasoned
out that at the outset of the implementation of the NGAE there
has beent a lot of confusion, which is why they made subsequent
COA circulars to clarify the provisions of the NGAS in 20%)2 The
subsequf:nt COA Circulars were thus issued to merely clarify the
. provisions of the NGAS which took effect way back in 2002 In

%5 Exhibit CC
¢ Exhibit X-2



Decision

People v. Salvador et al.
SB-15-CRM-0096-0099 , |
Page 59 of 99 | . | ;
X _ X - .
2003 and 2004 when the transactions took effect, the NGAS 1s
already in effect. And COA Circulars Nos. 2005-001 and 2006-
003 are merely implementing rules and guidelines in accordance

with the new government accounting system. 5 1 o

Also, he explained that while he certified in the Contract of-
Service that funds are available because of the ALOBS on
‘December 29, 2003, he did not notice the date December 30, 2003
indicated in the ALOBS attached to the contract of service.| At the
time he affixed his signature in the contract of service, the ALOBS
was already there. Regardless of the dates, witness allegedly
already has the ALOBS with him at that time or before that time

or before he affixed his signature in the contract of servicr';. .

He also alleged that under the new government accéounting
system, accounts payable is actually defined as obligatfions in
which the goods are delivered or services are rendered and
remained unpaid on part of the year; and notnecessan’l{ at the
end of the year. Tolentino admitted that in his listing of adcounts
payable or in his request for cash allocation, he included in the
said request the claim of accused Dominong and Ang, des ite the
fact that the goods or services were not yet delivered, because he
~ was not yet totally familiar with all the changes brought about by
the new government accounting system. If they were fqlll'owiﬁg
the definition of accounts payable under the old government
accounting system, he might probably be correct. In other words,
he admits that he committed a mistake or error in requesting for
 the claims of accused Doming and Ang, although the said mistake

~ was made in good faith. © " |

_ Despite .the overstat'egn:ent of accounts payable ]m the
financial statements, particularly in the balance sheet, it allegedly
does not follow that there will be disbursement of government
funds; hence it was not harmfil on the part of the government.
He claims that there is no relevance of the mistake?[ to the
improper disbursement of government funds or cash allocation.
. Thete is ho connection betwegn certifying accounts payable and
the actual disbursement or utilization' of cash allo_cati(f!)n. As
mentioned in the advice .of NCA. issued by the DBM; “It is
understood that actual utilization or disbursement of cash
allocation shall be subject to the usual accounting and auditing
rules and regulations, and one of that usual accounti‘ng and
auditing rules and regulations is that the basis for disbuf{sement
anid in all government agencies is the disbursement voucll*ler, not
any other document being a list of due and demandable accounts
payable whatsoever.” He insists that the Disbursement Voucher

L
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is what actually paved the way to the actual disburserent of
government funds. | : .

Accused Tolentino mentioned that he does not comrm:,micate
with the Budget Officer (herein accused Mauri) with respect to
certifying funds because they allegedly have different duties and
responsibilities. While accused Mauri certifies the availability of
allotment and obligates it, he certifies the availability 0_" funds.
based on the certification made by the Budget Officer. He states
that he does not directly report to the Budget Officer. iNeither
does the Budget Officer directly report to him. o

.~ On te-cross by the counsel for Mauri, accused Tolentino
alleged that after certifying the obligation, the Budget Offider need
‘not do anythihg more and thus she has no pa'rticipatioﬁ in the
release, cash allocation, execution of the disbursement %oucher
and in the issuance of the ADA. |

On re-cross by the prosecution, accused Tolentino’Lalleged
that he cannot recall when he actually received the contract of
services and the ALOBS. The documents were simply forwarded
to him by the bookkeeper. He also did not c‘ommunica!te with
accused Mauri. He is absolutely sure, though, that the ALOBS"
attached to the contract was already signed by the time that he
. received it in the office, although he does not know the daﬂe when
it was signed. He also cannot recall if he was at the office on
December 30, 2003. N L o -

He admits that upon seeing the ALOBS, he saw that there
_was a box supposedly signed by him as the Accountant|II. He
does not remember his reason for not placing his signature. It was
allegedly possible, however, that it was just a mere oversight or
he must have had. a resetrvation -as to the legality {of the
transaction. ' S : : .

it
i’

. He also clarified that under the old accounting rulis, they
are still using the Request of Allotment (ROA). At the end of the
year, they collate all ROAs which remain unpaid, and they
- classified them as accounts payable regardless of whethn#r those
‘goods are delivered or services rendered. Again, he reiterates he
made a mistake. He mentioned that he was not aware that this
mistake or error facilitated the release of funds in favor of dccused
Ang/PHCS and Dominong. |
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Accused Reyes withdrew adoptlon of testlmony of accused

Tolentino.307

After the presentation of the last witness for the defense, all
the accused proceeded to formally offer their documentary
exhibits.308 The Court ruled to admit the following: Exhibits 1 to
7 {of accused Joel G. Salvador); Exhibits 3,7,16,18, 19, 22, 23,
24, 25, 26, 27, 51, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35 36 3’7l 39 to
39g,40 40a 40b 41, 43, 44 47, 49 49a 61 61 -a, 611b 64
and 69-a (of accused Rolando C. Reyes); EXhlbltS 1 1-a, 1-b, 1-c,
1-d, 1-e, 1, 1-g, 2, 2-a, 2-b, 2-c, 2-d, 2-¢, 3, 3-a, 3-b, 3c 3-d,
3-e, 3-f,6,6-a,7,7-a,9 and9 a (of accused Asterio C. ’I‘olentmo
Jrl); Exhibits 1, l-a,” 2,3, 4,  4-a, . 5, b,
7,8,9,10,11,12,13,14,15,17,18, 19 (of accused Perhta L. Maun)
and Exhibits 1 2,3,3-a,5,7,7-1,7-2 and 7-3 (of accused ljawd A.

Dominong); and Exhibits 1 ,2,3 and series, except 3-v and 4 (of
accused Mariano L. Ang).309

REBUTTAL EVIDENCE FOR THE PROSECUTION

The prosectition presented the following rebuttal mtflesses:
(1) Dennis Marvin H. Agcon and (2) Liza Melendez

|
1. The prosecution recalled to the witness stand | ennis
Marvin H. Agcon3!0 who testified and 1dent1ﬁed his f

Afﬁdav1t dated December 28, 2018,311 |[

udicial .

Agcon alleged that COA Circular Nos. 2006-003 and 2005-
001 mentioned by Tolentino, which were issued on Janu 31,
2006 and February 28, 2005 are not applicable in these c SES as
these circulars were not yet available at the time the lsubject
construction happened in 2003 to 2004. The apphcable 1s uance,
“instead, is'COA Circular No. 2002-02 (Prescribing the Manual on
the New Government Accounting System [Manual Version] for
Use in All National Government Agencies) which was isslied on |
. June 18, 2002. Said Manual allegedly makes Tolentino hElble as

accountant. Section 14 of the Manual prov1des ' .j

'~ “SECTION 14. Accountmg for Obhgatlon - Obllgatlon
refers to a commitment by a government agency arising from an
act of a duly authorized official which binds the government to
the immediate or eventual payment of a sum of money. Thc
agency is authorized to incur obligations only in- the

37 TSN dated October 16, 2018

¥ Records, Vol. 5, p. 191

0 1q. _

© M0TSN dated January 7, 2018 :

M Judicial Affidavit dated December 28, 2018 Records, Vol 3, p. 206
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performance of activities which are in pursuit of its functions
and programs authorized in appropriation acts/laws within the

limit of the ARO.

_ . :

Obligations shall be taken up in the registries through the
ALOBS prepared/processed by the Budget Unit. The Budget
Officer/Head of the Budget Unit/designated Budget Officer shall .
certify to the availability of allotment and such is duly obligated
by signing in the appropriate box of the ALOBS. On the other
hand, the Accountant/Head of the Accounting Unit shall certify
to the correctness and validity of obligations; and availability of
funds. Both Budget and Accounting Units shall coordinate|in
the filling up of the Status of the Obligation in their respective
copies of the ALOBS. " - -

. : o . 1
He explained that from the foregoing provision, it{can be

gleaned that the responsibilities of the Budget Officer and the
Accountant were delineated wherein the accountant has the
responsibility to certify the correctness and validity | of the
obligations and availability of funds. The responsibilities |of each
official ate particularly evident in the ALOBS, wherein the!Budget
Officer certifies that the -allotment was available anld duly
obligated while the Responsibility of the Accountant is tq certify
the correctness and validity of the obligations and availability of
fund. Thus, the Accountant cannot claim that he merely relied
on the ALOBS that was certified by the Budget Officer. |This is
aside from the fact that the accountant certified that funds are
available in the Contract of Service which was dated on December
29, 2003 while the ALOBS was dated December 30, 2003.
Moreover, the accountant has the duty to verify the correctness
and validity of the obligations and availability of funds as certified

by the Budget Officer. Accused Tolentino cannot thusjvalidly
claim that his responsibility is merely ministerial in nature.

Furthermore, he testified that with respect to the 'reiversion
to the National Treasury,.this would apply to cash allpcation
. which was not utilized or paid after the validity of the NCA. On
the other hand, unobligated allotment will merely lapse and no
longer require a reversing entry. -Nevertheless, jurisprudence
dictates that reversion to the National Treasury is not la valid

reason to forego public bidding. . : |

He also mentioned fhat accounts payable shall refer to prior
years reported unpaid obligations of the agency fOI‘_WhiCI'il goods
and services have already been delivered and/or rendeﬁ'ed as
provided in DBM Circular Letter No. 99-2. Hence for req esting

‘cash allocation, it is required that goods were already d?livered

and that services were already rendered contrary to the tes.itimony

1
|

»
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of accused Tolentino and that this was not required at the time

material to these cases.

Agcon went on to state that the L1st of Due and Demandable
Accounts Payable-External Creditor signed by the accauntant
(herein accused Tolentino} clearly stated in the certification
portion that “the above List of Due and Demandable A/Ps was
~ prepared in accordance with existing budgeting, accounting and
auditing rules and regulations, including DBM Circular Letter
Nos. 99-2, 99-2A and 2000-17.” These circulars, pardcularly
Circular Letter No. 99-2, specifically provides that A/Ps shall refer
to prior years recorded unpald obligations of the agency, for which
goods and services have already been delivered 4nd/or rehdered,
and, are thus ready for payment in accordance with exxstmg
accounting and aud1t1ng rules and regulatmns '

While it is allegedly true that durmg the old accountmg
system, the obligation was already considered as accounts
payable in the existence of a valid contract, this is for refording
purposes only However, for the purpose of requesting [a cash
allocation, it is required that goods were already delivered and
that the services were. already rendered, hence the neEessary
certification of the accountant 1n the List of Due and Demandable
Accounts. : :

He also stressed that cohtrary to the claim of aecused
Tolentino in his testimony, there is no existing Purchase Order
for the purchase of construction supply from PHCS as n ci)ted by
the Accountant in his Ist Indorsement dated May 16, 2005.312
The Purchase Order mentioned by accused Ang is a mere list of .
construction supplies being requested. Hence, the inclusion of
PHCS in the List of Due and Demandable Accounts has rjo valid
basis. The same is allegedly true, as well, for accused Dominong
in the absence of the performance of his service contract..

On this note, Agcon stated that accused Toléntino fa%ilitated
‘the payment even if he did not sign the disbursement vouchers in
" these transactions. In certifying the List of Due and Demgg\dable
Accounts Payable, accused Tolentino caused the DBM tp issue
NCA. Without the cash allocatlon the payment would not have
been possible if there was no cash in the first place, even if all the
documents are complete, signed by all the certifying officials, and
goods were already deliveréd and services rendered. The act of
the accountant facilitated the payment even in the absence of
performance of service and delivery of goods. The manatement

- — - . |
.32 Exhibit SS ) i F/

| ’v’)
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‘was even forced to make the payment considering that the NCA’s
validity is only until the end of the succeeding month 'frtijm_l_thle
date of issuance, to avoid the reversion of cash to the national -

. |
. treasury. : o |

- He testified that the use of Savings from the MOOE for the
use of capital outlay or realignment is irregular since |it was
without prior approval from the DBM. On this note, he mentloned
that the transaction involves ‘capital outlay and not [MOOE
because the request made by the accused to the central office was
for capital outlay and the site development plan mcludes details
which point to a construction of a néw building.. Furthermore,
the Memorandum of Mr. Julian ‘Amador3!3 categorically| stated
that the savings and/or allotment downloaded to their office could
be used for the improvement of an existing building w 11e the
construction of a new one Was not mentmned

- He declared, as well that there was no- dlStlnCtl()n etween:
“A.3.a in the SAA and the Roman Numeral IlL.a in the AL@BS as

the same was described as environmental - manageme 1t and
pollution control which is the same as that stated iri R.A. No. 9206
or the GAA for the year 2003 and that the SAA mentions Fund
‘Code 101 which is also regular fund as that in the ALOBS,

, In the course of his testmmny, Agcon 1dent1ﬁed the fo lowmg .
- docutnentary evidence: -(a) DBM Circular Letter No, 99-2 dated

Jariuary 15, 1999,  Revised Procedures in:the Payment of
Accounts Payable ;314 as well as (b) the pertinent portion thereof
which defines “Accounts Payable” or A/Ps315 -

On cross- exammatmn by the counsel for Tolentino, agcused
Agcon stated that while he agreed that COA Circular 2002-02
does not mention how the Accountant certifies the correctness -
and validity of the obligation inclhiding the availability of funds
‘and does riot provide that the duty of the Accountant is
mihisterial or dlscretlonary he insists that the COA Circular Nos.
2006-002 and 2005-01 a.re dlfferent from COA Clrcular 2002-
002.

. 3.  The last rebuttal mtness for the prosecutmn is Lisa J.
Melendez (“Melendez”).?16- She is the Assistance Vice President /
Head of Landbank, Baguio Branch.. She was the Manager of a
dlfferent branch during the time materlal to these cases. She

3 Exhibit M
24 Exhibit D*
3 Exhibit D%
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testified, based on the documents available, that the amount of
P763, 998 70 was credited to the account of a certain Mar}ano L.
Ang under the Account No. 0221322380 on October 12, 2004 and
that the said account was already closed as of Septemt?er 15,

2005. S q

l
|
|
|
|

|
In the course of her testimony, she identified the fohowmg
documentary evidence: (a} Statement of Account of accused
‘Mariano Ang, particularly the entry “Account No. 0221 3223 80
dated October 12, 2004 in the amount of P758,998.70; 317|and (b)
the Status of Account of accused Mariano Ang and the pertment
entry “Account No. 0221-3223-80 Mariano L. Ang, 16 MLRoxas

St., Baguio City, 4427307 Date September 16, 2005 CLOSED
TODAY 7318

|

| - On cross- exammatlon by the counsel for Ang and °
Dominong, she admitted that she has no personal knowledge as
to who personally opened the savings time depos1t and asto how
the amount of P758 ,998.70 was paid and as to how and who
closed the. account on September 16, 2005. O:T Cross-

- examination by counsel for Tolentino, she also declared that that
the documents pertaining to Mariano Ang were already subject to
the retention policy of the bank wherein documents of mote than

- 10 years of age already discarded. She confirmed that there is no
document to prove that it was accused Ang who opened the
account based on the docutnents at hand. However, she
mentioned that the records allegedly speak for themselvés and
~that the bank has a very strict policy as to the determma'tlon of

clients who open accounts with them

THE COURT’S FINDING OF FACTS i
The ° testimonial - and " documenta:y ‘evidence df the
prosecution and the defense establish the following facts réelevant
to the charges of violation of Section 3{e), R.A. No. 3019 an _l Illegal .
Use of Public Funds penahzed under Article 220 of the Revised
Penal Code: . | |

On July 10, 1987, Ezxecutive No. 192 createti the
Environmental Management Bureau (EMB) and designated it as
a bureau of the Department of Environment and Natural
Resources (DENR).. By reason of the aforesaid organlzatlon the
"EMB was designated to occctupy an old and worn-out buﬂdmg of
the DENR at the DENR Compound G1bra1tar Road, Baguio City.

M7 Exhibits E* and F4-]
12 Exhibits F4 and F4-1

P
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To elucidate, the EMB- CAR was to utilize, as an office, a building

~which was earlier used as a.bunkhouse for the employees and

families of the personnel of the Forest Research Institute; Said
building has been occupled since the early 1970s as a remdence

The workspace, which consisted of a one storey bu11ding,
with an area of approximately 30 square meters, became the office
of the EMB. At the inception of the bureau, the said office was
fairly decent by the standards at that time. As the time evolved,
the need for environmental management, conservatmh and
‘pollution control rapidly multlphed 320 |

In order to accommodate the | growmg number of emﬁaloyees
in the bureau, a new bulldmg was constructed adjacent to the old-
building. The new building became the office of the Pollution
Control Division and the Regional Environmental Laboratqry and
Training Center. Meanwhrle, all the other divisions of the bureau
retained their office at the old building. Through time, the office
space at the old building underwent minor repairs but then, the
office space technically remained the same. Also, as a rdsult of
the normal wear and tear of usage, plus the passage of time, the

~ old EMB office eventua]ly evoked a desolate working condition.321

. To expllcate the walls and roof would leak durmg the rainy
season, that is, from the months of June to October of every year,
The water seepages could be explalned by the distress caused not
just by time but also of the damage caused by the 1990
earthquake. In addition, the supposed comfort room facﬂltles of
the said office were lnoperatwe and the odor emitted therefrom
was repulsive. It is in this sordid state that demands for the

_rehabilitation of the said office were clamored by the employees.

The EMB-CAR eventually requested the EMB Central Office to
allocate funds that will be used to 1rnprove the bu1ldmg éround
the end of 2003.322 s .
1

On or around November 28, 2003, -the repa1r and
rehabilitation of the subject building was conceived. The amount -
of P1,150,000.00 under SAA No. EMB-03-11-05 was 1ssued in
favor of the DENR-CAR as fund for additional operatmg
requirements and &s  fund for the implementation of the
Ecological Solid Waste Management (ESWM) Prc:gect in the

¥ Records, Vol 1,p. 191
mad
nlq

2214 at 192, Lo . . 1 B,_,
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Mumc1pahty of Tuba, Benguet CAR.322 On December 2 2003
the EMB-CAR received a faxed copy of the said SAA No. EMB 03-
11-05. - |

On December. 3, '200'3,' the - concerned employeesfjof the
DENR-CAR had a meeting where the repair and rehabilitation of
the building and the said appropriation were the subject. ]At that
meeting, it was pointed cut that the targets in the implementation
of ESWM were already implemented, as covered by regula} funds
of the EMB-CAR. The EMB-CAR personnel acquiesced to
prioritize the projects to which the funds may be used. | It was.
suggested during the meeting that instead of waiting for the
allotmerit from the EMB-Central Office for the 1mprovemeﬁt of the
.old EMB-CAR building, the EMB-CAR should act already dnd use
the fund so that the working condition would also improve
quickly. The proposal to use the fund in improving fhe old
building was thoroughly supported 324 ' ,

At the said meeting, the issue as to the use of the fun before
the end of the fiscal year also became an issue. It was said that
the find if not obligated by the end of the year would have to be
returned to the National Treasury and be utilized as funding for
the next fiscal year. Therefore, the EMB-CAR was again faced
with the question of complying with the requirements of R A. No.

9184 or the Government Procurement Reform Act. The EMB-CAR
cannot obligate the funds as expenses for the improvement of the
old building since they would still have to go through the process
of competitive bidding. The coriduct of such process woul d take

‘time and consequently, the fund for improving the old bulldmg
would not be obhgated within the year.325

- At that point, it was suggested that Section 53 |of the
Implementing Rules and Regulations (IRR) of R.A. No. 9184 could
be used in the partlcular instance.32¢ The said section |of IRR
provides:

“Section 53. Negotiated Procurement. !
Negotiated Procurement is a method of procuremerLt

. of goods, infrastructure projects and consulting services,
‘whereby the procuring entity directly negotiates a contract
 with a techinically, legally and financially capable supplie;,

contractor or consultant only in the following cases: :
I

) Exhibits X, X-1 and X-2
3 Supra note 1 at 193, . o
¥ 1d. at 193.194. . '[
4. : :
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b} In case of imminent danger to life or property during#‘:
state of calamity, or when time is of the essence arising fro;
natural or man-made calamities or other causes where -
immediate action is necessadry to prevent damage to or loss i01'
life or property, or to restore vital public services,
infrastructure facilities and other public utilities. Inthe case
of infrastructure projects, the procuring entity has the option ito
undertake the project through negotiated procurement or #;y
administration or, in high security risk areas, through the AFP;

xxx (Italics, Emphasis and Underscoring Supplied)

The EMB-CAR consulted the COA, through its resident
Auditor Santiago, regarding this section of the IRR and th(fy were
advised that they could use such method in the procﬁreiﬁlnent of
such infrastructure project. In the desire to improve the &orking
spacel-ancl the EMB-CAR’s. quality of work as induced Hby the
working condition, it was then agreed that the EMB-CAR shall
follow the advice of the COA and obligate the funds before the end
of the fiscal year. The EMB-Central Office allegedly advised the -
EMB-CAR verbally that in order to make major repairs lon the
building, the EMB-CAR could utilize the savings, on the
operational expenses, of the regional office and the uptoming
allotments for operational expenses.327 F :

-On December 4, 2003, thé EMB-CAR technical pertsonnel
condticted preliminary activities, like site evaluation, assessment
"and survey in order to determine the extent of the prbposed
project. The next day, a meeting was called: by the Régional
Director (herein accused Salvador) in which the proposed project
was discussed. A rough estimate of the proposed 'prcjjegt was
presented by the technical personnel.328 The office.decided to
undertake the construction project by administration and| hire a
service contractor for the hiring of labor and purchase of] goods
required for the construction. - - - |
On December 6, 2003, the engineering plans, specifigations
and.cost estimate were made. The same were then submitted to
the Regional Director for his approval. Eventually, the plafls and
specifications were prepared and furnished to the contractor
(herein accused Dominong). The plan was accepted by the latter
and so the ALOBS for the said project was eventually subI itted
to the budget unit. ' )

2T1d. at 194,
214, at 195.
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On December 22, 2003, a canvass from different suppliers
(Baguio Victory Furniture and- ‘Construction Supply, LW1 -Al .
Construction Builders and PI—ICS) was conducted in relation to
the materials and supplies that were used in the rehablhtattlon of

‘the bulldlng 329

ll
On Deceiber 29, 2003 accused Salvador, representing the
EMB-CAR, entered.into a. Contract of Service with agcused
Dominong for the repair . .or tehabilitation of the EMB| CAR’s
existing building. Accused Tolentino as Accountant1I, 31g1'1ed and
certified that funds are available for the project.33 On the same
~ day of signing of the Contract of Service, accused Salvadorfissued

a Notice of Award in favor of accused Dominong under “Neg tlated
Contract” (Section 53, pat. d, R A, 9184).331

On January 15, 2004 a Notice of Temporary Defe ' ent of
the ptoject was 1ssued due to non-assurance of the date of release
of the allocated funds for the project by the DBM.332 i

On-or arotind January 26 2004 the EMB Centr Ofﬁce
gave an instruction to the EMB CAR via the: Memoran um of

Director Juliah Amador. The Memorandum prowdes

capital outlay to finance implementation of land and buildi
improverients, we regret to inform you that we do not release -
-Capital Outlay for CY 2003. However, for improvement of any -

existing building, you may use your savings and/or allotment
downloaded to your Office.”333 | Sl

|
On March 10, 2004, the List of Due and Demandable
Accounts - Payable- External ‘Creditors was submitted tol DBM
signed and certified correct by accused Tolentino and. s1gr1ed and
approved by accused Salvador, which listed accused Dorhinong
- and PHCS as external cred1tors of EMB-CAR, DENR. The [budget
was then released by DBM on October 1,2004.33%

“With reference to your request for the release of tg

|
On October 5, 2004, 1nasmuch as the procedures p:' ovided
under R.A. No. 9184 were not complied, the management was
allegedly hesitant then to start the project., As such, a other
with the

resident COA auditor. The OIC Chlef of the Pollution

ontrol

‘meeting was conducted by the EMB-CAR representatives cF

5 Exhibits KK, LL and MM | - |
30 Exhibit Z and Z-1 | L |
3 Exhibit AA o
332 Exhibit BB -

"35 Exhibit M
34 Exhibit X-4, DD
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Division, Resident Auditor, Assistant of the Resident Auddor and
Human Resources Officer were present at such meeting. The
‘Regional Director (herein accused Salvador) was then onTOfﬁmal
business but had approved of such meeting. The issue.on the
continuance of the prOJect was discussed. It was discussed at the
said meeting that if there is no prior approval by the COA, it would
be best for EMB-CAR to return:the fund to the National T' reasury.
At that point, the COA Resident Auditor called her Cluster
Director — Director Villena, through cellphone in loud speaker
mode, in front of the convened group. The COA Resident Audltor
inquired regarding the use of the said fund and even mentloned
the following words, “Sayang.naman kung ibabalik ang pera.”
That allegedly served as confirmation on the part of EMB- CAR to
use the fund since the same has been obhgated under Sectlon 53
of the IRR of R.A. No. 9184.

The COA gave the EMB CAR a term to finish the pro_]ect
The EMB-CAR was advised to:finish the project by the end of
December 2004 since the fund has been obligated under the 2003
budget. Therefore, if they fail to use the fund by the end of 2004,
then the fund has to be returned to the National Treasury As
such, the EMB-CAR again informed the COA that they could not
posmbly finish the requirements under R.A. No. 9184 and also
the project before the end of December 2004. The COA allegedly
assured that there is no need to conduct competitive bidding
. since the obligation falls under Section 53 of the IRR of R A. No.
. 9184. Accused Salvador was informed of the matters discussed
during the meeting. 1
On the October 11, 2004, the amount of P758,998, 70 was
debited to accused Ang.335 AccUsed Engr. Reyes allegedly went
back to PHCS on the same date to make the purchase by giving
‘the list of materials needed.336 On October 12, 2004, the amount
of 758,998.70 was credited to the account of a certain Mariano L.
Ang under Landbank Account No. 0221-3223-80.337 On October
12, 14, 16, 19, 20, 21, 22 and 23, 2004, accused Ang| made
delivenes of the construction materials as contained in the list of
purchase matenals subm1tted by accused Reyes 338

On October 15, 2004 accused Salvador 1ssued a Notlce to
Proceed with the project addressed to accused Dominong.33°

|
3 Exhibits EE, HH, K? with submarkings; N’ tD N1 |
¥ TSN dated May 28, 2018 - ‘:
17 TSN dated March 25, 2019, Exhibit E4-1- Rcburtal
28 Exhibit H o _ . : ]
** BExhibit GG . .
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On October 19, 2004 accused Reyes was demgnatcd as
‘project engineetr and mspector 340

On October 22, 2004, accused' Ang met with accused Reyes,
accompanied by the cashier Lausa, in Landbank, Harrison
“Branch, Baguio City. He claims to have. been paid only the
amount of [401,226,20] .for ‘the construction materials -
‘delivered.34! The amount of P357,772.50, which represents the
excess, was returned to accused Reyes.342 |[

On October 23, 2004, accused Ang / PHCS allegcdll' made
its last delivery for matenals in the amount of P31 q32 00.

Claiming that there was no payment for this last delivery, accused
- Ang / PHCS demanded payment from the DENR so a Statement
of Account was sent to EMB-CAR to show the balance. The said
amount was not paid.343 . _ : |

Meanwhile it appears based on the records that accuscd
Dominong recelved the amount of P101,397.49 on three séparate
dates - October 27, 2004, November 19, 2004 and November 30,
2004.34¢ On November 30, 2004, as well, Disbursement Vpucher
"~ No. 04-11-0130 was 1ssued in the amount of P33,779.14 1n favor
~of accused Dominong for the payment of the 10% retentlon fee for
labor requirements.345 Accused Dominong thus received the total
~ amount of P33 971.61 mcludmg the 10% retention fee. @

On December 1, 2004, Philex Mining' Corporation dPnated
100 bags of cement Wthh was accepted by Reyes, which was
- recorded in the logbook. The same was not reported m the
" accounting by the Government.346 ‘

On January 7, 2005, accused Dominong turned m}cr the
project to EMB-CAR through accused Salvador.34? On Jénuary
14, 2005, the prq]ect was accepted by EMB-CAR through accused
Salvador 348

On February 16, 2005_, accused 'Do._rninong received ;i check
in the amount of P33,779.14 as payment for the 10% re_t_}ention

M0 TSN dated April 2, 2018, o ' '
TSN dated May 28 2018; Manlfestatlon of Mariano Ang dated March 27, 2013, Records, Vol 1at
210. X

M2 Exhibit FF : | !

3 Supra note 1 at 338. !

M Exhibits C3, D3, E3 with submarkings; Exhibits K3-3 to K3-3-a; Exhlblts L3 and M3 with
submarkings, and Exhibits O3, P3 and B4 w;th submarkmgs !.

A Exhibit VV

6 TSN dated April 2, 201 8
M7 Exhibit I1 B

M8 Exhibit JJ




Decisior

People v. Salvador et al.
SB-15-CRM-0096-0099

Page 72 of 99 .
X X
fee.3%9 The retention fee was charged from the Environmental
Revolving Fund, as evidenced by the Certification dated October

6, 2005 signed by accused Tolentino,350

On May 3, 2005, an anonymous complaint from concerned
EMB-CAR, DENR personnel relative to the alleged violation of the
usual accounting and auditing rules in the construction, of the
new EMB-CAR, DENR Office of the Regional Director Buildipg and
related tra_nsachons was sttbmitted to the COA-CAR for action.3!
On July 25, 2005, the COA-CAR, through Regional Cluster '
Director Atty. Tﬂan requested for an investigation dlreoted to
Agcon and Marissa C. Cayowet (“Cayowet”). Pursuant to RLA-
CAR Office Order No. 05-001 dated July 9, 2005, an audit team
conducted a survey to determine whether or not the allegatmns'
are true. The audit team submitted its findings in its Audit
Survey on the EMB-CAR Project.352 ' Based on the Audit Burvey

Report, the findings, observations and recommendatmns‘of the
COA are the follong, among others

Finding No. 1 - The pro_]ect awarded to Mr. Dav1d
Dominong and the construction materials purchase_d
from Pyramid Construction Supply were undertaken
without the requisite of public bidding contrary to the
provisions of Repubhc Act No. 9184

Recommendation. - File appropriate charge"s
against Eng. Joel G. Salvador and Engr. Rolando C.
Reyes for violation of the provision of R.A. 9184.

Finding No. 2 - T'he'fun'd spemﬁcally allotted far:
the purpose of the 1mplementatlon of Ecological Soli
Waste Management (ESWM) projectin the Mumc]paht.
of Tuba, Benguet,” was instead wused for ' thi
construction of Regional Director’s Office. ]

Recommendation - File appropriate charge;
against the former Regional Director ‘Engr. Joel
Salvador, Accountant Asterio Tolentino and Budget
Officer Perlita Mauri '

Finding No. 3 - Accounts Payable was set-up m
favor of Mr. David Domlnong and Pyramid Hardware
Construction Supply even in the absence of the actud.l

3?2 Exhibits VV-1to YV-3
M0 Exhibits WW to WW.2
31 Exhibit G

32 Fyhibit H
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performance of the contracted labor and deliveries of
construction mateérials, respectively, in . violation (%)f
existing budgeting, accounting and auditing laws
rules and regulatlons |

Recommendatlon — File appropriste charge]'s
aga_lnst the accountant Asterio Tolentino and former
Reglonal Dlrector Joel G. Salvador

Fmding No. 4 - The amount of P758,998.07 was
dlsbi.n'sed without legal bams due .to absence c{)f
Purchase Order, was paid in' advance to the suppliet,

and in the absence of other essential documents, thus,
Undermining ex1st1ng Iaws rules and regulatmns I

Recommendatlon ~ - File approprlate charg s
agairist Project Engineer Rolando Reyes, accountant |
~ Asteério 'C. Tolentino, Jr. afid Pyramid Hardware and
. Coftistruction Supply, among others _ ”

Flndm,q No. 5 - Reten’uon fee in the amount of
P33, 779.14, net of tax, was paid to the contractdr
: desplte of noted defects L : "

I
. Recommendatxon — File appropriate charge's
against. Engr. Jo¢l G. Salvador, Engr. Rolando Q
Reyes among others

A copy of the report on the Audit Survey was furmshed to
EMB-CAR ' Regional Director Paquito Mareno,333 Deputy
Ombudsman for Luzon, Hon. Victor C. Fernandez,35¢ EMB- Regmn
1 Director Joel G. Salvador,355 and Reglonal Cluster Dlrector Atty
Josephine A Tilarn.336

Aud_it Team Leader Agcon directed the management of‘ EMB-

CAR to  submit . their comments/reply on the ; audit
- observations.3S7 The latter, mcludmg herein accused Salva or,358
' Reyes 359 Tolentlno36° and ‘Mauri®! eventually submltte their

|
|
3 Exhibit E ;
3% Exhibit E-1 _ . e : i
5 Exhibit E-2 e _ ‘
36 Exhibit E-3 : ST
¥ ExhibitT \
18 Exhibits J, J-1
3 Exhibit N : .
360 Exhibits K, K-1_ . |
%! Rxhibits L, M - '
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Management Comments to the findings and observatlons 1 Audlt

Observation Memorandum (AOM) No 06-003.362

1

An 1nspect10n of the subject constructed buﬂdmg was also

- .conducted by the City: Bu11c11ngs and Architecture Office ( BAO)
as per request from Atty. Tilan. The report noted Fertam

structural defects in the building, such as deﬂectmns in t1'|1|e steel

~deck slab, hairline cracks in the exterior beam, deﬂectlon| in the
roof slab and no issuance of bu1ld1ng_:_perm1t among other_l 363

On " February 22, 2008, .the Public Asmstanc! and
Corruption Prevention Office of the Deputy Ombudsm for
Luzon (PACPO- Luzon), represented by then Director Wilbert L.
Candelaria filed the present case: Initially, only accused Sa}lvador
was named as the sole respondent. He is being charged of
Malversation of Public Funds and Violation of R.A. No!|9184.
Eventually, accused Reyes‘,_Tolentino, Mauri, Lausa, Garcia,
PHCS and Dominong were ihcluded as resp'ondents 364

- Finding probable cause td 1r1dlct accused Salvador for three
(3) cotints of violation of Section 3(e) of Republic Act Na. 30 19 and
_.one (1) count of Illégal Use of Public Funds defined and perllahzed
under Article 220 of the Revised Penal Code, accused Reyes for
two (2) counts of violation of Section 3(e) of R.A. 3019, accused
~ Tolentinc and Mauri for-one (1) count of violation of Sectibn 3(e)
of R.A. 3019 and one (1) count of Illegal Use of Pubhc‘F‘unds
defined ahd penalized under Article 220 of the Rev1sed Penal
- Code, accused Ang and Dommong for one (1) count of v101at10n of

Section 3(e) of R.A. 3019, the Office of the Ombudsman ﬁlc d four
(4) separate 1nformat10ns agamst them, .

ISSUES |

- Two issues require rese:lu'tion in the instaﬁt case, to wit:
(a) Whether or not accuseh Salvador, Reyes Tolentino, lMauri,
Anhg and Dominong are guilty beyond reasonable doubt for
having violated Sectlon 3(e) R.A. 3019 and -

(b)Whether or not accused Salvador, Tolentino and Mal‘.lrl are
“guilty beyond reasaonable doubt for having cornnutt d the
crime of Illegal Use of Public Funds under Article 22 , RPC
(Technical Malversatmn) ]

|
3114, : ' ' . ‘.
 Exhibits UU with submarkings and W3 to W3 1 with submarkings i
* Records, Vol. 1, p. 8. . :
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. RULING

A. Violation of Section 3(e), R.A. 3019
Criminal Case No. SB-1 S-CRMJ‘OO%

 The Information in. C'_: mmal Case No. SB- 15 CRM—0096
charges accused Salvador of'vidlating Section 3{e}), R.A. Ng. 3019
with . manifest partiality “anid evident bad. faith in giving
~unwarranted benefit, privilege “or advantage to David Dor inong
by awarding the repair or rehahilitation of the Regional Director’s
Office and' Environmental ‘Information Center located at the
DENR, Baguio City without public bidding as requ1red by R.A. No.

9184, thereby causing undue m_]ury to the government a.nd to the
pubhc as a whole 365 - -

|
- Section S(e) of R.-A'.. 3019-" eis anie'nded provides: ‘

- “Section 3. Con'upt practzces of public officers. In addltldn
to acts or omissions of public officers ‘already penalized by
existing law, the following shall coristitute corrupt practices ' of
. any public officer and are hereby declared to be unlawful:

[e] Causing any undue injury to any party, includi g
 the Goveérnmeént, or -giving dny private party a 1y
tinwatranted bene!‘its, : advantage ‘or preference in the
discharge of his official administrative or judicial functions
. through manifest partiality, ‘evident bad faith or gross

inexcusahle negligence xxx (Itahcs and Emphasis Supphed]

R To be convicted of Vlolatlon of Section 3(e)'of R.A. N ol 3019,
as Mended the followmg elements must concur: I

|

1. The accused ~must. be a publlc ofﬁcer discharging

_ administrative, Judlcial or official functions; |
- 2. He must have acted with manifest partiality, evldent bad

faith or gross inexcusable negligence; and I

3. That his action caused any undue injury to any|party,

| includmg the government, or giving any private party

- unwarranted benefits, advantage or preference _1n the

discharge of his functions,366 :

365 Records, Vol. 1, p. 1 _
% Consigna v. People, et al., G.R. Nos. 175750-51, April 2, 2014
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The first element is present-in the instant case. , The’
prosecutmn and accused Salvador stipulated during pre- tnal that
the latter is the Regional Director of the EMB-CAR, DENR at the
time material to these cases. |

' This Court is thus left to determme the ex1stence of thé other
two elements

The second element enumerates three (3) ways by Wthh a
violation of Section 3(e), R.A. No. 3019 may be committed, i.e.
manifest partiality, evident bad faith or gross lnexcusable
negligence. It has been held that proof of any of these three (3)
means in connection with the prohibited act mentioned [m the
prowsmn is enOUgh to warrant a convictjon.367 - |

l

In the case of ston v, “People of the Philippines, 368 the
Supreme Court propounded on what constitutes evident bad faith
and manifest partiality, to wit: - o -

“Partiality is synonymous with bias which excites !a
disposition to see and report matters as they wished for rather
as they are. Bad faith does not simply connote bad judgment or
negligence; it imputes a ‘dishonest purpose or some moral
obliquity and conscious doing of a wrong; a breach of sworn duty
through some motive or mtent or ill will; it partakes of the natuﬂc
of fraud. xxx” : : 1
: : |
Mere bad faith or partlahty per se are not enough for, ‘one to

be held liable uhder the law since the act of bad faith or partiality

muist, in the first place, be evident or manifest.369 Evident bad
faith was further dCSCI‘led m Consigna v. People37° in this
manner: o |

“Evident bad faith contemplates a state: of mintl
affirmatively operating with furtive design or with some motive
of self-interest or -ill will or for ulterior purposes, whlch
manifested in petitioner’s actuations and representation.” !

At the outset, it is clear: that the procurement of the ervice
contractor, Dominong, is not in -accord with the required public
bidding. The accused spontaneously admitted that there was no
public bidding and instead, the alternative mode of proeurement

B of a service contractor not of works was avalled of DENR EMB

l

37 Ampil v. The Hon. Office of the Ombudsman, el al. G.R. No. 192685, July 31, 2013 citing Slson v.
People of the Philippines, G.R. Nos. 170339 & 170398-403, March 9, 2010. .

38 3 R. Nos. 170339 & 170398-403, March 9, 2010,

3? Constantino v. Hon. Sandianbayan (First Dwnsron) etal. G. R No. 140656 and 154482, Septcrnber
13,2007, - i .
M April 2, 2014, 720 SCRA 350 ° :
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Baguio City decided to proceed with
rehabilitation/construction prOJect by admmlstratlon only

the

On the other hand the Informatlon is very spec1ﬁc and
charged accused Salvador of “awarding the repair/ rehab1htat10r1
of the Regional Director’s Office and Environmental Infortnation
Center located at the Department of Environment and Natural
Resources, Baguio City without public bidding”, which is not the
case.. The contract between accused Salvador and Dominong
clearly states that the contract entered into was a sérmces
contract. Thus, :

4., ’l‘hat due to limited funds to accomplish the proposed pro;ect |
the EMB-CAR managemient intends to conduct the prOJcct
administratively inasmuch that the bureau has competent
licensed Civil and Sanitary Engineers, that is, materials for
construction shall he procured by management and labor
shall be contracted., l=

5. That the SECOND PARTY has agreed to furnish labor
services to the FIRST PARTY particularly the building
-repair/rehabilitation as per the approved scope of work
based on plans and specifi catlons ‘and schedulmg as per bar
chart of work actmtnes : -

In this particular case, the testimonial and docum|entaxy
evidence of both prosecution and accused sufficiently prov: .d that
accused Salvador actually signed a contract for labor sérvices
signifying the parties’ true intent and not the repair, rehabllitatlon
arid/or construction of the EMB-CAR, DENR building, contrary

to the acts charged in the cnminal Information.

The Constitution. _guarantccs that in all criminal ..
prosecutions, the accused shall be informed of the nature and
cause of the accusation against him. To give substance to this
constitutional guarantee,.Section 8 of Rule 110 of the Rules c}f
Court requires that the acts or omissions complained of as
constitutmg the offense must be stated in an ordinary and
concise language so as (a) to enable a person of common
understanding to know,what offense is intended to be charged
and (b) to enable the court to pronounce proper judgment. The
statement need not necessarily be in the language of the statute.
What is important is that the crime is described in intelligible
terms with such particularity as to apprise the accused, with
reasonable certainty, of the offense charged; or stated in such a
way that a person of ordinary intelligence may 1mmed1ateiy
know what is meant, and the court can decide the matter
according to law.37!

M Matilde, Jr, v. Jabson, G.R. No. 1-38392, [December 29, 1975], 160-A PHIL 1098-1106
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The main purpose of this requlrernent is to enable the

accused to suitably prepare for his defense. He is presumed tobe -

innocent and has, therefore, no independent knowledge of the
facts that constitute the offense with which he is charged. 5|372 The
real nature of the criminal charge is determined by the‘
rec:1tal of facts in the complamt or 1nf0rmat10n as the Co t held

'of the Information nor from the spec1ﬁcat10n of the provisi
law alleged to have been waated they being conclusionsx
but by the actual recital’ of facts in the complaj
information."373 _ S _ |

The importance of the proper manner of alleging the
' nature and cause of the accusation in the information shou d
never be taken for granted by the State An accused cannot be
convicted of an offense that is not clearly charged in’ the
-complaint or information. To ‘convict him of an offense oth T
‘than that charged in the complaint or information would °
violative of the Constitutional tight to be informed of the natu
and cause of the accusation. :Indeed, the accused cannot
convicted of a crime, even if duly proven, unless the c:r1me@l
alleged or necessarily mcluded in the information filed against
him.37¢ . _ o g :I
Con51der1ng that the Informatmn fa11ed to allege the 'mrrect ‘
.descnptxon of the act allegedly committed by accused, he could
not be convicted for entering ifito a contract for labor serwces as

the charge is entering into a contract for the constructmn repair
and rehabilitation of the EMB CAR, DENR bu11d1ng _

Even the current procurement law dlﬁ"erentlates between a
contract for works or infrastructure and a contract for services,
“to which the labor services provided by Dominong would fall. In

this case, the construction, repair and rehab111tat1o|i1 was
" undertaken by admm_lstratlon This ‘was never contracted to
Dominong or anyone else. -~ | o |l

Besides, even if this Court would brush aside the defect in
the Information that the true intent of the prosecution was really
ta charge acciised Salvador of dwarding the labor services mstead
of the repalr/rehabihtatlon of the Regional Director’s Office and
Environmental Information Center of EMB-CAR, DENR to
accused Dominong without. the requ1red pubhc bidding and even

if Section 53 of the IRR of R. A. No. 9184 is not appllca‘t?le the

72 Tbid, o '
4 Pepple v. Bernas y Nacario, G.R. Nos 133583-85, [February 20, 2002}, 42? FHIL 649-671. ‘
#4 Patula v. People, G.R. No. 164457, [April 11, 2012] 683 PHIL 376-411. ;
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prosecution still failed to establlsh evident bad faith; mdn1fest
pa.rt1al1ty or gross inexcusable neglect. There’ ‘was no act that -
woulld even tend to show or establish dishonest intent. or'Lgross

negligetice on the part of accused Salvador when he selected
accused Dominong to be the labor/service contractor The1r even

~ had to stop the rehabilitation, construction and repair as the

EMB-CAR, DENR officials had to determine the better vYay to.
proceed utilizing their office savmgs ' .

- Itis to be conceded that 1ndeed there were v1olat1ons;| of the
procrirement act or law and yet, the prosecution did not charge
‘the accused for violation of such law. Instead, they chose to
proceed against the accused for violation of Sec. 3(e), R. Al|3019,

which would entail proof of manifest partiality, evident bad faith
or gross inexcusable neglect - |

 In De Guzman v. The Ofﬁce of the Ombudsman 375 the H1gh
Court tuiled as follows, to wit: |

Sectiot 10, Article I'V in relation to Section 5, par|'
{n} and (o), Article I, .of ‘RA 9184 mandates - that. all
~ acquisition of goods,’ consulting services, and - the
contracting - for infrastructure projects by any branch
‘department, -office, " agency, or: instrumentality of " the
government,  including . state universities and college s
; government-owned . and/or . -controlled corporations,
government financial institutions, and local: .government
units shall be done through competitive bidding This is i
consonance with the law's policy and principle of promotin
transparency in the procurement process, implementatio
of procurement contracts; -and. competitiveness - by
extending equal opportunity to enable private. contracting
parties who are eligible ahd qualified to participate in pubhc
bidding. This prmc1ple is elucidated by this Court in Lagoc ¥
Malaga, thus: _
[A] competitive public bidding aims to |
protect the public interest by giving the public '
the best possible: . advantages thru - open
competition. Another gelf--evident purpose of
public bidding is to avoid or preclude suspicion
‘of favoritism and anomalies in the execution of
' public contracts (Emphasrs Supplied) I

_ Thus, considering that the fact alleged in the Informaltion is
clearly not in attendance inasmuch as the contract entered into
between accused Salvador and Dominong is one of contract for

labor services and not for Works (constructlon], thlS C'ourt is

5 (3.R. No. 229256, November 22, 2017
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- convinced that accused Salvador could not be found ouilty.

Neither could civil liability atfached as there would be nd basis
from which this could arise. i

|

i

Criminal Case No. SB-15-CRM-0097 .

| | L r
On the other hand, the Information in Criminal Case No. SB- -

15-CRM-0097 charges accused Salvador, Reyes, Tolentino and
Mauri of violating Section 3(e), R.A. No. 3019 with me ifest
partiality and evident bad faith and conspiring and confederating

with accused Ang, owner of PHCS, in giving unwarranted benefit,

privilege or advantage to the latter by purchasing from PHCS the
construction materials used in the repair or rehabilitation| of the
Regional Director’s Office and Environmental Information Center
located at the DENR, Baguio City in the amount of Seven H undred
Fifty Eight Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety Eight Pesos and Seven
Centavos (PhP758,998.07) without public bidding as required by
Republic Act No. 9184, which amount was already paid to and
accepted by accused Ang despite the fact that the goods hhd not
been delivered, thereby causing tindue injury to the goverhment
and to the public as a whole. -
. | 1 | |
The first element is already established as to a(lcused

‘Salvador.” Accused Reyes admitted that he held the position of

Officer-in-Charge of the EMB-CAR, DENR at the time bf the
alleged commission of the offense; ' Accused Tolentino ad
that he was the Accountant'II.of EMB-CAR, DENR at the

the Budget Officer in the same office.376- As ‘a private individual,
accused Ang's criminal-liability is dependent on proof that he

conspired with the other accused in committing the acts imputed,

- onthem. Private persons, when acting in conspiracy with [public

officers, may be indicted and, if found guilty, held liable for the

pertinent offenses under Section 3 of R.A. 3019.377 It ha& been’

stipulated that accused Ang is the owner of the PHCS and that

the construction materials used in the repair or rehabilitation of

the Regional Ditector’s Office and Environmental Inforrnation
Center of the DENR, Baguio City, were purchased from hini.378

~ As to the second and third elements, the Court finds that
they were sufficiently proved by the prosecution as to accused
Salvador, Reyes, Mauri and Ang, but not as to accused Tolentino.
The totality of evidence in this case points to the fact thati there

3% Pre-Trial Order dated May 3, 2016.
¥ Go v. Sandiganbayan, et al., G.R. No. 172602, April 13, 2007
¥ Supra note 332. '
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was conspiracy among the accused Salvador, Reyes, Maurl and
Ang for the purchase of construction supplies from accused Ang
in connection with the repair and rehabilitation of the qubjerr

buﬂdlng

The High Court’s disquisition in People of the thhppmeq .
Go,379 citing People v. Peralta,8® as to the nature of and the

principles goveming conspiljacy.is instructive, to wit: 3
xxx A conspiracy exists when two or more persm)s
come to an agreement concerning the commission of ja
felony and decide to commit it. Generally, conspiracy is nota
crime except when the law specifically provides a pcna_lty
- therefor as in treason, rebellion and sedition. The crime of
consplracy khown to the common law is not an mdlctah!e
offenise in the Philippines. An agreement to commit a crime is 'a
reprehensible act from the view-point of morahty, but as long as
the conspirators do not perform overt acts in furtherance of thmr
malevolent design, the sovereignty of the State is not outraged
and the tranqtuhty of the pub]lc remains undisturbed.

However, when m resolute executmn of a comm(l)n
schcme a felony is commlttecl by two or more malefactors, the
existence of a conspiracy assumes pivotal importance in the
determination of the hablhty of the perpetrators. In stressing the
significance of conspiracy in criminal law, this Court in U.S. vs.
Infante and Barreto opined that:- - !

While it is t_;rue that the penalties cannot be
- imposed for the mere act of conspiring to commit a -‘
~crime unless the statute specifically prescribes a
- penalty therefor; nevertheless the existence of a
“conspiracy to commiit a crime is in many cases a
- fact of vital importance, when considered together
with the other evidence of record, in establishing - !
' the existence, of the consummated crime ‘and its !
- commission by the conspirators.

_ Once an express or implied conspiracy is

proved, all of the conspirators are lahle as co- -
principals regardless of the extent and character

‘'of their respective active participation in the

commission of the crime or crimes perpetrated

in furtherance of the conspiracy because in

contemplation of law the act of one is the act of

all. The foregoing rule is anchored on the sound g
principle that "when two or more persons unite ;
to accomplish a. ecriminal object, whether i
‘through the physical volition of one, or all, .
proceeding severally or collectively, each

™ G.R. No. 168539, March 25, 2014
0GR, No. L-19069, October 29, 1968
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conspirator who was remote from the situs of aggression, he

X . .

individual whose evil will actively contributes fo

" the wrong-doing is in law responsible for the
whole, the same as though performed by himself
alone." Although it is axlomatic that no one is |
liable for acts other than his own, "when two or i
more persons agree or conspire to commit a |
crime, each is responsible for all the acts of the

. others, done in furtherance of the agreement or |
conspiracy." The imposition of collective

‘lability upon the conspirators is clearly
explained in one case where this Court held that
x x x it is impossible to graduate the separnte
liability of each (conspirator) withont taling
into consideration the close and inseparahle
relation of each of them with the criminal act,
for the commission of which they all acted by |
"common agreement xxx. The crime mnst |
therefore in view of the solidarity of the act and '
intent which existed between the xxx accused,

_be regarded as the act of the band or perty.
created hy them, and they are -all equnlly
responsible xxx '

 Verily, the moment it is estahlished that the

- “malefactors conspired and confederated in the commission

"of the felony proved, collective liability of the accused

conspirators attaches by reason of the conspiracy, and the

court shall not speculate nor even Investigate ss .to t]lfle-

actual degree of paiticipation of each of the perpetrators
present at the scene of the crime. Of course, as to m;ly
could be drawn within the enveloping ambit of the
conspiracy if it be proved that through his moval

 ascéendancy over the rest of the conspirators the latter were
1

moved or impelled to carry out the conspiracy.

-+ In fine, the convérggnée of the wills of the conspiratorsi?in
the scheming and execution of the crime amply justifies the

imputation to all of them the act of any one of them. It is in this.

light that conspiracy is generally viewed not as a separ#te
indictable offense, but a rule for collectivizing criminal liability.

KK . '

A time-honored rule in the corpus of our ju rispruldenfce _
is that once conspiracy is proved, all of the conspiratqrs

who acted in furthérance of the common design are linble
as co-principals. This rule of collective crimineal liabiljty
emanates from the ensnaring nature of consplracy. The
concerted action of the éphépirators in consummeting thl_l ir
common  purpose .is a patent display of their = il

‘partnetahip,' and for the consequences of such criminal

enterprise they must be held solidarily liable, (_Emphci!sis
Supplied) 3 ' ' o

R
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. Indeed, as correctly pointed out by the prosecutioh, the
individual acts of accused Salvador, Reyes and Mauri, in
‘conspiracy with each other and with accused Ang, iin: (a)
purchasing from accused Ang / PHCS the construction materials
used in the project, without the required competitive public
bidding, despite the fact that Section 53 of the IRR of RA a181 is
" not applicable (no imminent danger to life or property dyring a

 state of calamity; time is not of the essence arising from rjatural

" “or manmade calamities); (b) failing to execute any contract with

_the supplier accused Ang/PHCS; (c) accused Mauri certifying the

allotment as available even if the fund used was intended for
~ ESWM; (d) setting up dccounts payable in favor of accused Ang

- even in the absence of deliveries of construction materials; {e).

~'accused in disbursing the amount of P758,998.70 without legal .

. basis duie to the absence of Purchase Order, which was!paid in
: advance in favor of accused Ang, who accepted the said amount -
- . in'the absence of delivery and other essential documehts; (f)
accused Salvador failing to ensuire the veracity and accuracy of -
.. thie listed claims and authenticity of the supporting docuiments
_siibmitted by the claimants; (g) accused Reyes being responsible
" for the purchases and actual disbursement of the funds despite -
 absence of Purchase Order; and (h) accused Reyes in preparing
- -the necessary documents and making prior commitment with

- accused Ang/PHCS to serve as the payee despite the absence nf

public bidding and exectition of a valid contract constitute

. . manifest partiality, and evident bad faith and gave unwarrantecd

_benefit, privilege or advantage to the supplier Ang, the owner of
PHCS.381 | ;

.. Accused Salvador, Reyes and Mauri attempted to justify the
absence of the public bidding by arguing that there was an

immediate necessity to repair or rehabilitate the subject building

- and that if the EMB-CAR fails to allocate or obligate subject funds

at -the end of the year, it would revert back to the National

" Treasury; hence their decision to follow the.alleged advicelof COA

‘to undertake negotiated procurement. This Court howeyer_is of.

the opinion that this is a flimsy excuse to avoid the condpict of a

public bidding. To reiterate, none of the circumstances as staterd

" in-Section 53 of the IRR of R.A. No. 9184 were present duting th=
'period when the project was allotted. Also, the almost ten (10)

" ‘months deferment of the implementation of the project coifld have

‘béen used by the accused in complying with the required’_ idding
process. ' B , C ' ;
|

- 'Mcmorandum for the Prosecution dated.Apfil 10, 2019 |

S
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" The records also show that the construction material%. were -

purchased through “shopping” under Section 52, R.A. (9181,
instead of the required competitive public bidding. As co{:ectl‘i’ ,
. pointed out by the prosecution, the use of “shopping’ isinot in
accordance with the said provision. Section 52, R.-A.Jj 9181
provides, thus: e | o

Shopping is a method of procurement of goods wherehy
the procuring entity simply réquests for the submission of price
. quotation for readily available off-the-shelf goods or
ordinary/regular _equipment to be procured directly from
suppliers of known dualifications. This method shall be

employed in any of the following cases: |

- (a) When there is uﬁforeseen contingency rcquiri:IJlg
immediate purchase: provided, however, that the amoupt
shall not exceed fifty thousand pesos (P50,000.00); or H

(b) Procutement of - ordinary or'-'regular ofﬂ:1|:e

~ gupplies and equipment not available in the Frocurement

Service involving an amount of not exceeding two
hundred fifty thousand pesos (P250,000.00); Provided,
- however, that the procurement does not result in splitting of
contracts, as provided in Section 54.1 of this IRR-A; provided,
further, that at least three (3) price quotations from bona fide

suppliers shall be obtained. {Emphasis and Underscorig
- Supplied) ' ' '

. The cahvass forms issued to various suppliers ‘.for the
submission of their price quotation proved that indeed there was
no public bidding conducted in the procurement of cohs’t-[ru' ction
supplies.382 In fact, these construction supplies could not have
- béen included in the provié;ion' of Section 52, R.A. 9184 as the
~ supplies covered by the said provision refer only to “off-the-shelf
goods” or “ordinary/regular equipment.” Moreover, even if the
~ construction supplies fall under- the terms “goods” arnd
. “equipment” covered by “shopping,” the cost of the consltruction
materials exceeds the P250,000.00 ceiling price pmvideih by the .
said provision. ~ Also, there was no showing of any unforeseen
contingency = requiring ' “the . immediate purchase Jof the
‘construction supplies. As ‘pointed . out during tl"lf.,J Ccross-
sxamination of Reyes, the rehabilitation of the building started
sometime in October 2004, or ten months after the amount was
‘obligated. Ten months is a long period of time to'condudt public
bidding, yet the accused did not undertake it. s

More impoftantly, payment was made for materialg even if
these were not yet completely delivered. This is a clear !!showing

382 Exhibits KX, LL and MM
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of manifest partiality on the part of accused government o{ﬁcials-
in favor of Ang. . It also appears, based on the records, that

‘was already full payment to accused Ang of the full amount of
P758,998.70 on October 11, 2004.3%2 While accused Reyes insists

that all the orders from accused Ang / PHCS were delivered prior

to payment, such claim is, however, belied by his own admission

that he asked for the return of the excess payment. It 111'Ius}t he
emphasized that the construction commenced only on Oictobr*r
15, 2004 as evidenced by the Notice to Procged38t and that the
delivery of the construction materials commenced o_il"lly‘, 011
October 12, 2014 as evidenced by the Statement of Acconnt

_issued by PCHS dated December 14, 2004.5%

. It is worth stressing, as well, that there was no contract in

favor of accused Ang, no purchase -order, no disbursement
" voucher, no official receipt, no inspection and acceptance report
and no abstract of bids, and yet, accused Mauri obligaked the
amount in his favor even before he made deliveriesi' of the
construction materials. - It is even a wonder how payment was
processed and made when the ‘disbursement voucher was 1yt
processed. In the end, accused Ang had to return a portion of the

said full payment as he could no longer deliver the construction

. materials due to increase in prices. Such advance payment made "

in - favor of accused Ang is prohibited under SECtimL 88 f
~Presidential Decree No. 1445, otherwise known gas the
" Government Auditing Code of the Philippines, which states:

‘ Section 88. Prohibition against advance payment ion
‘government contracts.— (1) Except with the prior approval of the
President (Prime Minister), the government shall not ‘be
'obliged to make an advance payment for services not yet
rendered or for supplies and materials _not yet delivered
uinder any contract therefore. No payment, partial or final, shall
be made on any such contract, except upon certification by the
head of the agency concerned to the effect that the serviceg or
supplies and materials have been rendered or delivered: in
accordance with the terms of the contract and have been duly

" inspected and accepted. (Emphasis, Italics and Underscoring
Supplied) S i

- - All these circumstances taken together clearly clem?onstrn te
the -manifest pattiality of accused Salvador, Reyes and Mauri
towards accused Ang, giving the latter unwarranted benefits o

obtain the government project. ‘ : :

13 Bxhibits BEE, K-2-A, E* and E*1 O
3¢ Bxhibit GG

|
|

I

t

:

- %5 Exhibit HH !§

there
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* As to accused Ang, it bears to reiterate the settled rule that

private persons, when acting in ‘conspiracy with public oflﬁcerf‘
‘may be indicted and, if found guilty, held liable for the pettinent
offenses tinder Section 3 of R.A. 3019, in consonance with the
‘avowed policy of the anti-graft law to repress certain acts ofjpublic
‘officers and private persons alike constituting graft or corrupt
practices act or which may lead thereto 386

In the present case, the prosecution has sufficiently proven
that accused Ang indeed conspired with accused Salvador] Reyes
and Mauri as to the purchase of the construction materials in

connection with the ‘repair or rehabilitation of the leuh]ert

‘building. Accused Ang insists that there was no consburacm
- explaining that payment was made after delivery. He clal s that
~ deliveries were made begmning QOctober 12, 2004 and that he
- received payment by the EMB-CAR, DENR thru accused Peyes at
the Landbank, Harrison Road Branch in the amount of
P401,226.20 only on October 22, 2004 after the dehveﬂqs were
. made He claims that another delivery was made on October 23,
2004 in the amount of P3 1,032. 00, but he remains unpaJd for the
said amount.

' However, this claum that there was dehvery prior to payment
‘is belied by the fact that the amount of 758,998.70 was credited
to the account of a certain Mariano L. Ang under Landbank

o 'Account No. 0221-3223-80 on October 12, 2004387 Accuaed Ang

- ‘Bagliio, that the records speak for itself and that the bank

claims that he is not aware of Landbank Account No. 0221-3223-
80, although his name appears in the Advice/Authority tp Dehit -
~ Account Debit Memo No. 04-10-010 dated October 11, 20 _4 The
' Court. is inclined to give more weight to the teshmony of the
rebuttal witness for the prosecution, the Head of Lathdbank

dis very

.- strict in determining the clients who open the bank with them,

making it unlikely that aniother person other than accused Ang,
would use the account of Mariano Ang and apply a time ﬁepoajt .
‘or 'savings account. Add to that the dubious circumstance that -
accused Ang happened to start making deliveries exactly on
October 12, 2004 and that there was a return of thel excess

- payment in the- amount of P357,772.50 on October 22} 2001
Also, the circumstance that the casual meeting between decused
Reyes and Ang happened to be. in Landbank, Harrison Road
Branch, Baguio City, which is around 2 kilometers away from the
office when it involves an official transaction, fails to convince this.

Court that the transactmns were attended w1th good motwe«;
: y

36 Gregorio Singian, Jr. v. Sandiganbayan, G.R. Nos. 195011-19, September a0, 2013
7 F4 and E4-1-Rebuttal ,

'. l q\fﬂ]’“\ |



Decision

People v. Salvador et al.
$B-15-CRM-0096-0099

Page 87 of 99

X X

All these actuations of accused Salvador, Reyes, Mauri and

.Ang reflect a blatant disregard of the requirements of R.A| 9184
and its IRR and its noble aim of ehsuring the punctilious selection .
of the entity to award a government contract ta. It is thus clear
that there was manifest partiality, evident bad faith in th e! giving
of unwartanted benefits, in-the purchase of the construction
supplies from accused Ang on the part of accused Salvador] Reyes
and. Mauri. These irrégularities could have been avolded if
accused Salvador, Reyes and Mauri only resorted to jpublic
bidding for the purchase of the construction materials. Hqwever,
with manifest partiality.and gvident bad faith, the accused,jin this

" case, acted in conspiracy to give unwarranted benefits, admf,ant age
and preference in favor of accused Ang. !

On the other hand, as to accused Tolentina, to recall, the
Information in Criminal Case No. SB-15-CRM-0097 charges
~accused Tolentino of conspiring with his co-accused in violating

Section 3(e), R.A. No. 3019 through manifest partiality and
_evident bad faith in giving unwarranted benefit, privilege or
advantage to accused Ang. On this note, it must be emphasized
that it is not enough that undue injury was cafsed or

unwarranted benefits were given as these acts must be pell:formed

through manifest partiality and evident bad faith.388 ' In addition,
mere bad faith or partiality per se are not enough for orje to be’
held Hlable under the law since the act of bad faith or partiality

must, in the first place, be evident or manifest,389
The terms partiality and bad faith have been explained as
follows: | | S
il ‘ '!
"Partiality” is synonymous with "bjas" which "excites
a disposition to see and repoit matters as they are wished
for rather than as they are.” "Bad faith does not:simpl
connote bad judgment or negligence; it imputes a dishonest
purpose or some moral obliquity and consclous doing fa

. wrong; a breach of sworn duty through some motive|or

intent or ill will; it partakes of the nature of fraud."
(Emphasis and Underscoring Supplied) f

|

The" established facts show that as to accused Tolentino,
manifest partiality, as well as evident bad faith, are inexistent in
the present case. As pointed out by the prosecution, the

- significant acts of accused Tolentino proven by the prosecution in
relation to this particular case are: (a) certifying that that the list

3 Sison v. People, G.R. Nos. 170339, 170398-403, March 9, 2010
#9 Copstantino v. Hon. Sandianbayan (First Division), et al. G.R. No. 140656 and 154482, September
13, 2007. - ' g :
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of Due and Demandable A/Ps was prepared in accordanc}e with
existing budgeting, accounting rules and regulations; and (b)

certifying the amount P758,998.70 as accounts payable éven if

there was no valid and existing claim by PHCS. Suc | acts,

however, could neither.be read as rp_anifest‘ing partiality or bad
faith, based on the above-mentioned definition. i |

{

. As explained by accused Tolentino, based on COA Circulars
Nos. 2005-001 and 2006-003,3%¢ he has a ministerial duty in
certifying funds. Paragraph 2.4 thereof states that “For Caontract
of Purchase Order, the Head of the Accounting Unit shall |certify
‘the avallability of funds based on the ObR or BUR duly certified
by the Budget Officer.” The ObR used to be the ALOBS.|Under

" the NGAS which took effect in 2002, “funds” is construed to mean
appropriations, allotments or budget. It is not synonymous or
similar with the term “cash.” "It is the Budget Officer who has

control of funds, while it is the Accountant who control of the
cash, or rather, certifies on the availability of cash. On this note,
he certifies funds’ after he receives the ALOBS coming from the

' Budget Officer, which makes his signing merely ministerial in
nature. : i

| i
. He explained that while admittedly the transactions
~ occurred-in 2003 to 2004, COA Circular Nos. 2005-001 and 2006-
003, which were issued on 2005 .and 2006, respectivel’, have
taken effect way back in 2002 and are merely issuances tqg clarify
the. provisions of the. NGAS in 2002 brought about by -the-
confusion during the outseét of the implementation of the| NGAS.
While accused has Tolentino arrogated unto himself the
interpretation of his duty with respect to certifying funds, #here is
insufficient showing of bias or some dishonest purpose or moral
obliquity enough to convince this Court that there was manifest
partiality or-evident bad faith on his part, as alleged |in the
. Information. | ‘ - . P
' The same finding also goes for accused Tol ntino’s
admission that there was a mistake in his Listing of Accounts
 Payable or in his request for. cash allocation as to accused
'Ang/PHCS and Dominong. -Under the NGAS, accounts anable
is actually defined as obligations in which the goods are delivered
or services are rendered and remained unpaid on any patt of the
year, and not necessarily at the end of the year. He admitfed that
" if he was following the definition of accounts payable under the
- old government accounting system, he might probably be correct.
The conifusion or erroneous interpretation was brought about by

30 Bxhibits 6, 6-A, 7 and 7-A-Tolentino

l ’”“”\
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his unfamiliarity with the | changes brought about by t‘he new
government accounting system. Nevertheless, the Court is| of the
view that this is not sufficient to conclude that the second eltement

exists in the instant case.

~ Also, on a side note, the absence of conspiracy, as well as
partiality and bad faith, was. shown with accused’s inclination to
object to the payment and/or disbursement of the funds ar cash
allocation in connection with the project, particularly in the case -
of accused Dominong, unless the requirements are met.  As
previously discussed, jurisprudence dictates that in order for
_conspiracy to exist, two or more persons come to an agréement
concernhing the commission of a felony and decide to commit it.
Moreover, the foregoing rule is anchored on the sound pr:incip]e
. that "when two or more pérsons unite to accomplish a criminal

. object, whether through the physical volition of one, lor all,
proceeding severally or collectively, each individual whose evil will
actively contributes to the wrong-doing is in law responsible for
‘the whole, the same as thouigh performed by himself alont?."”l

The Court is inclined to consider accused Tolentino’s
testimony that he was indeed by-passed with respect ,i to the
Disbursement Vouchers issued in favor of accused Dominong
“'more likely due to his ‘Annotation in the first Disbursement
Voucher requiring several documents which were not ccifmplied
“with. Despite his objection, however, it appedrs that the funds
- have been released which should not have been the casTe. The

Court also gives credence to the statement given by sccused
Tolentino that he checked the ALOBS, although dated Dei:ember :
30, 2004, issued by the Budget Officer Mauri prior to .ceﬁrtifyin_g
the funds availability in the Contract of Service dated Degember
29, 2004, thus negating the existence of partiality or bad faith.
The Court takes judicial notice of the fact that December|30 is a
holiday.392 - o | .'

- In view of the foregoing, the prosecution failed to prove
- beyond reasonable doubt the existence of the second fﬂer}nent in
order to indict accused Tolentino for Violation of Section 3(e), R.A.
3019. In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the
right to be presumed innocent until the contrary is proved 393
Hence, he is entitled to an.acquittal as a matter of course

1 People of the Philippines v. Go, G.R. No. 168539, March 25, 2014
. '%2 Section 2, Rule 129, Revised Rules of Evidence
% Article TTT. Section 14(2), 1987 Constitution
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On the matter of civil liability of the accused who arelfound '

guilty, the following matters should be considered: the return of

P357,772.50 by accused Ang to EMB-CAR, DENR and the delivery

of certain construction supplies. = The prosecution did not,

however, present any evidence to prove the loss that gOver’pment

‘suffered as a result.of failure to comply with the bidding

procedure. Therefore, the loss could not be ascertained.

|

|

.. ;
Decision _ |
. _ i
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3

Criminal Case No. SB-15-CRM-0098 !;
, On the other hand, the Information in Criminal Case No.SB-
15-CRM-0098 charges accused Salvador and Reyes of viplating
Section 3(e), R.A. No. 3019 with manifest partiality and svident _
bad faith and conspiring. and confederating with accused
Dominong and with one another in giving unwarranted benefit,
privilege or advantage to the latter who is a private contractor by
authorizing the payment of retention fee in the amount oj Thirty
Three Thousand. Seven Hundred Seventy Nine Pes f‘s and
" Fourteen Centavos (Php33,779.14) to the latter despite glaring
structural defects in the répair/rehabilitation of the Regional
Director’s Office and Environmental Information Center|of the
. DENR, Baguio City, with accused Dominong accepting the same
amount knowing fully well that he is not entitled thereto, thereby
causing undue injury to the government. :

The first element has already been stipulated as to accused
Salvador and Reyes. As to accused Dominong, his criminal
. liability is dependent on proof that he conspired with his co-
accused Salvador and Reyes in committing the alleged violation
 of Section 3(e), R.A. 3019. . As previously mentioned, :}private
persons, when acting in conspiracy with public officers, cI-nay be
indicted and, if found guilty, held liable for the pertinent qffenses-
under Section 3 of R.A. 3019.39¢ The fact that accused Dominong
. is the service contractor in the instant case is undisputed.

- : - |

As for the second and third elements, an examination of

facts and circumstances of the instant case convinces this Court

that the same were not proven by the prosecution beyond
reasonable doubt. : Do

_ As discussed above, the contract between DENR-EMB-CAR
is for the provision of labor services for the repair, rehabilitation
or construction of the DENR-EMB-CAR building. For accused
Salvador and Reyes to be liable for the release of the retention
money, the prosecution should sufficiently establish -tba.t the

%4 Supra note 334
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government official is duty;bound to withhold retention money for
contract of services. : '

«Retention money” is a sum of money equivalent to ten
percent (10%)} of the total amount due to the contractor r tained
by the procuring entity, which will answer for the purpose for
which it is intended, i.e. to cover uncorrected discovered defects

“and third party liabilities. = . !!

: |

In H.L. Carlos Construction, Inc. v. Marina Properties
Corporation395, the Supreme Court held that in the construction
industry, the 10% retention money is a portion of the contract

price automatically deducted from the contractor's billihgs, as
security for the execution of corrective work — if any — becomes:
necessary. The requirement of withholding the retention money is
usually provided for in the contract of works, services orf:"even of
goods and has become a standard for works contracts: A perusal
of the contract signed by accused Salvador and D'm'pinong, -
however, shows that there is no provision requiring the retention
of 10% of the contract price and since the contract is not a
construction works contract, then the ruling in i| Carlos
Construction is not applicable. ' o

The structiiral defects enumerated in-the inspection‘reports
of COA, which include: (a) The steel deck slab at the seco d floor
deflected by about sixty (60) millimeters; (b) ‘Hairline cr[acks at
regular intervals were noted on the building’s exterior beam
support. At least 2 hairline cracks were noted on’ the |interior
beam near the stair well; {c) Deflection of about 20 millimeters = .
was observed at the roof slab as evidenced by accumulation of
" water at the midspan of the steel deck; and. (d) the more
significant finding of the deflection of the steel deck slab|in most
portions, the left rear second slab showing the most deflection.
The prosecution is correct that this is quite disturbing and
alarming to think that even the maximum allowable defection
should niot be noticed.3% However, the prosecution must be
mindful that this is a projection by administration. The DENR-
EMB-CAR who maintained that they have competent| organic
personnel should have seen these defects. The burden lies with
them and not with the labor service contractor who performed the
. carpentry, masonry and steelworks under the supervision of the
project manager, accused Reyes. In contracting the services of
~laborers instead of a works contractor to undertake the project,

the office took a collective decision to be responsibld for the -

¥5 BF Corp. v. Werdenberg International Cor;.)., G.R. No. 174387, December 9, 2015.
3 Memorandum for the Prosecution, p. 20 :

RS
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defects mentioned. Even the scope of. work of the Service
contractor as contained in the contract does not conceive ‘of any
liability for the construction defects and probably, thisis the

reason why no retentlon fee was requlred o o -;

In view of the foregomg, accused Salvador Reyes and
Dominong could not be held criminally and civilly liable for
violation of Section 3 (e) of R.A. No. 3019 in thlS case. !5

B.Illegal Use of Public Funds penalized under Article 220
of the Revised Penal Code I

Criminal Case No. SB-15-CRM-0099- o g
For this case, accused Salvador, Tolentino and Méjhri are
being charged for IIlegal Use of - Pubhc Funds- penahzed under,
Article 220 of the Revised Penal Code for havmg CODSplI‘ed and
confederated with one another in applying without any legal
authority the public funds under their custody for the re'pau- or
rehabilitation of the Regional Director’s Office and Enviror imental
Information Center, knowing fully well that such public fynd has
been spemﬁcally approprlated by law for the 1mp1ementat10n of
the ESWM project and for the MOOE, thereby causing damage or
embarrassment to the public semce _ - || -

Article 220 of the Rewsed Penal Code prov1des as fol{ows to
wit: : . N
|
1
Art. 220. IHegaI use of public ﬁmds or propenfy - !—|\hy
public officer who shall apply any public fund or property under
his administration to any public use other than that for which
~ such fund or property were appropriated by law or ordmance
shall suffer the penalty of pns:on correccional in its minimum
~period or a fine ranging from one-half to the total of the sum
misapplied, if by reason of such misapplication, any damages or
embarrassment shall have resulted to the public service. IIn
either case, the offended shall also suffer the penalty of
temporary spec1al dlsquahﬁcatmn : ; '
: I
If no damage or embarrassment to the pubhc service Has
resulted, the penalty shall be a fine from 5 to 50 percent of the

sum misapplied. (Emphasis and Italics Supphed)

In Parungao v. Sandtganbayan,397 the ngh Court held that
the essential elements of the crime of violation of Article 220 of
the RPC, more commonly known as technical malversation, are
- as follows: : |

¥ G R. No. 96025, May 15, 1991
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accused Salvador, Tolentino and Mauri hold the posit

(1) That the offender is‘sin accountable public ofﬁcer;':l

(2) That he applies public funds or property under ‘his

administration to some public use; and

(3) That the public use for which the ‘public fupds or

property were applied is different from the purppse for
which they ‘were originally appropriated - by law

ordinance.

As to the first elément, it has already been stipulated that

lons of

' Regional Director, Accountant II and Budget Officer, respectively,

" of the EMB-CAR, DENR and as such are acco

officers at the time material to these cases.

untable! public

o | |
Executive Order (E.Q.) No. 292 or the Administrati&e Code
of 1987 specifies as follows, to wit: ) :

CHAPTER S
FIELD OFFICES -|
. : |

|

Section 23. Administration' of Regional Office. — The

-regional office shall be headed by a Regional Director who

may be assisted by one (1).Assistant Regional Director, except
as may otherwise be provided by law. The Reglonal Direcf{or
shall be responsible for tlie department of agency functions

performed in the region under his direction.
XXX XXX XXX

. CHAPTER® = .
'ACCOUNTABIILITY AND RESPONSIBILITY !

FOR GOVERNMENT FUNDS AND PRO_PERTY ' i

Section 50. Accountable Officers; Board Requireme'nts.-?
(1) Every officer of any govérnmcnt ag"ency'-whos'e duties permit
or tequire the possession or custody of government funds
shall be accountable therefor and for safekeeping thereof in
conformity with law; and . .
(2) Every accountable officer shall be properly bonded | in

accordance with law. :
. : !
Section 51. Primary and Secondary Responsibility.- '

(1) The head of any’ 'agencj of the Governmenti is
immediately and primarily responsible for all

government funds and property pertaining to his agency;
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(2) Persons entrusted with the possession or custody of the
flinds or property  under the agency head “shall be
immediately responsible to him; without prejudice to the
liability of either party to the Government, (Emphasis and
Underscoring Supplied) : !

. L ‘| .

Based on the above; accused Salvador, Tolentino andE/Iauri,

being then the Regional Director; Accountant II and Budget
Officer, respectively, of EMB-CAR, DENR are accountable officers
under the circumstances. . = ',

The second and third elements also exist in the insta'r';t case.
The evidence of the prosecution sufficiently established that the
funds used in the repair or rehabilitation of the Regional
_ Director’s Office and Environmeéntal Information Center of DENR
Baguio City were from Sub-Allotment Advice SAA No. EMB-OS—
11-05 dated November 28, 2003 for the specific puff::ose of
additional operating requirements and for the implementation of
_ Ecological Solid Waste Management Project in the Municiﬁ)ality of
Tuba, Benguet of CAR. - Among the evidence presented Were the
testimonies of all the Witne'sses' and the following docufbentary_
evidence: !

(a) Sub-Allotment. Advice SAA No. EMB.03-11-05 ‘land its
 attachments;38 . | B
(b)Affidavit of Loss of Anabella Laborte, Subpoenas

addressed to Marissa A. Santos and Ruby R. Esteban,
Certification signed by Marissa A. Santos;3%° lj |
(c) Disbursement Vouchers with . attached Requisition and
Issue Slip, Allotment and .Obligation Slips ( \LOBS),
' Canvass Papers and Cash Invoices/Official Receipts;3%°
(d)Inspection Report . from the City - Buildin% and
Architecture Office of Baguio City with attachme
‘Letter dated February 1, 2006;40! | |
(e)Inspection Report from the City Buildings and
Architecture Office of Baguio City with attachments and
Letter dated February. 1, 2006;402 - | |

() Excerpt from the Official Gazette dated May 1 ., 2003

showing the General Appropriations Act for 2003 for EMB
of the DENR;403 S E

ts and

¥8 Exhibit X

» Exhibits V?, X*, Y3, 23 L

@0 Exhibits NN, OO, PP with submarkings, QQ with submarkings
1 Exhibits RR and U? - o ‘

2 Exhibits JU with submarkings and W?* with submarkings

3 Exhibit A’ St

i
o]/') g
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(g) Perspective, Location and Site Development Plan for the
construction of a new Regional Director’s ! Office
building;304 | | o H

(h)Specification for the Proposed Rehabilitation or Repair of
the Regional Director’s Office and the Environmental
Education & Information Center;*°3 - o |

(i) Work Activities and"Bar Chart Work Activities |for the
Proposed - Repair and Rehabilitation of the EMB-CAR
Regional Director’s Office, Environmental Educati{)n and
Information Center, Management Information System

. and Library;¢ - . ' .

(j) Summary of -Agency Estimated Project Cost with
attachments;407 - : o

(k)Financial Report as of December 31, 2003 of DENR EMB-
CAR;408 ¥

(1) Statement of Allotment, Obligations and Balances as of
December 31, 2003 of DENR EMB-CAR;40? ||

(m) Memorandum, of Director Julian D. Amador Re:

'Request of Capital Outlay to Finance Implementation of
'Land and Building Improvements within the EMB—CAR
Baguio City;41° ~ -+ o : K
(n)Audit Survey on the EMB-CAR Project;*!! ;
(0)Memorandum No. 2002-053 dated August 26, 2002 of the
‘Commission on Audit.412 . R .
' |
_ Accused contends that the alleged fund which was used
formed part of the savings. However, there is no sufficient
evidence in the court records which proves that indeed the funds
intended for additional operating requirements and ih‘or the
implementation of ESWM Project in the Municipality of Tuba,

Benguet, CAR, already formed part of the savings of the a:gency.

. Indeed, even assuming for the sake of argument that the
fund used for the repair or rehabilitation of the Regional Djrector’s
office building was taken from the savings, the same would still
be highly irregular. The prosecution was able to prove that the
project entitled “repair or rehabilitation” was indeed a
construction of a new two-storey building. Hence the realignment
should have been- with the authority of the DBM. ft bears

4 Exhibit B?,
4% Exiibits G with submarkings
¢ Exhibit I*
4 Exhibits J* with submarkings
«1 Exhibit R? : . i -
« gxhibit §* : S | '—D’V -
40 Exhibit M ;
4 Exhibits F with submarkings - :

- 42 Ryhibits A* with submarkings
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that the subject SAA was intended for the MOOE and impleme[ntation
of ESWM projects in Tuba, Benguet. In this case, the MOOE c?iuld not
be used for projects intended for capital outlay. Realignment can only
be had if the items are within the same expense class of their respective.
appropriations and the same should have been with a validly enacted
appropriation or ordinance. - This is not the case under -thei ?instant
milieu. : ' ' - ¥

| g ,

- A careful examination of the excerpt from the Official Gazette
‘dated May 12, 2003 showing the General Appropriations iAct for
2003 for EMB of the DENR#13 would show that the EMB-G|AR did
not have capital outlay at that time. This, coupled with ‘the fact -
that the Memorandum of Julian Amador4!4 which categorically
stated that the agency did not have capital outlay manifestl}y show
that itideed accused are guilty of Technical Malversation!

Finally, the prosecution sufficiently established that in the
instant case, accused Salvador and Mauri acted -in concert to
facilitate the illegal release of public funds, which are intended for .
some other purposes, i.e. additional MOOE and implementation
of ESWM projects. The said accused actively participatéqll in the
preparation, processing and/or approval of the disbursement of
public funds relative to the construction of the new Regional
Office building in EMB-CAR. Jurisprudence dictates that
conspiracy is deemed to arise when two or more persons come to
an agreement concerning the commission -of & felony and decide
to commit it. Conspiracy need riot be proven by direct evidence
of prior agreement to commit the crime.#15 In criminal law, where
the quantum of evidence required is proof beyond reabonab'le
doubt, direct proof is not essential to show conspiracy — it may be
deduced from the mode, method and manner by which the offense
was perpetrated, or inferred .from  the acts of the laccused
themselves when such acts point to a joint purpose and|design,

. concerted action and community of interest.416 i

This Court, however, recognizes that while it was th:e intent
or purpose. of the accused to build a new office befitting the
Regional Director of the EMB, it would have been pru| ent for
EMB-CAR to wait for the appropriation for capital outlay before it
proceeded building the new office. Since the offense committed
by accused Salvador and Mauri is not grave, such would warrant
a mere fine.4'7Specifically, no damage or embarrassment was

caused to government and public service.

413 Bxhibit A2 :
4 Exhibit M o .
45 People v. Quirol, G.R. No. 149259, October 20, 2005 : | |
© 4 Philippine Airlines, Inc. v. Court of Appeals, G.R. No. 159556, May 26, 2005 '
a7 Id - .
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‘On the other hand, as for accused Tolentino, he ir{voked
good faith in the performance of his duties and respons1b111t1es
'being the head of the Accounting Unit of EMB-CAR. He also
pointed out that what prevented the SAA funds from}belng
reverted to the National Treasury is the exclusive act' bf the
Budget Officer in obligating it in favor of accused Ang / i’HCS
Admittedly, however, he certified that the List of Due and
Demandable A/P was prepared in accordance with existing
budgeting, accounting rules .and regulatlons and certlﬁed the
amount P758,998.70 as accounts payable, which eve tually |
facilitated the release of the amount corresponding to the c rtified
A/P which was subsequently released to the suppher accused
Ang /PHCS. However, what is most important is that he
(Tolentino) already desisted from participating in the |illegal
disbursement of public funds when he refused to sign. (Lne (1)
disbursement voucher for the release of funds to atcused
Dominong without the required documents and he was byf:uassed'
in the processing of the other dishursement vouchers relating to
the project. While he. may have participated in the preliminary
" acts that paved the way for the eventual release of funds for the
puirpose the money was not intended for, he was no longer a
participant in the final act of releasing the amounts to aé:cused
‘ Dominong and Ang. | _ _ _l

Inasmuch as the public funds were not used for prlvate gam
but was .used for another. government purpose no damage is
found and adjudged. . , | _. ; ; |

WHEREFORE in view of the foregomg, thls Cdurt| hereby-
renders judgment as follows:

- 1. In Criminal Case No. SB-15-CRM-0096, accused JOEL
G. SALVADOR is found NOT GUILTY and is hereby ACQUITTED
of the charge for violation of Section 3(e) of R.A. 3019. He is also
fouhd to be not civilly liable as the Court finds no basis|to hold
 him lable therefor. Let the hold departure order aga_lnst‘ im by
reason of this case be lifted and set aside, and his bond released,
subject to the usual accountmg and audltmg procedure '

2. In Criminal Case No. SB-15-CRM- 0097, accused JOEL
"G. SALVADOR, ROLANDO C. REYES, PERLITA L. MAURI and
MARIANO L. ANG are found GUILTY beyond reasonable doubt of
violation of Section 3(e) of R.A. 3019, and pursuant to Section 9
. thereof, they are hereby sentenced to suffer the 1ndeterﬁmnate :
penalty of imprisonment of six (6) years and one (1) month as
‘minimum up to ten (10) years as maximum, w1th perpetual

T
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d1squa.l1ﬁcat10n from holdlng pubhc office.. No civil hablhty is
adjudged as the Court finds no basis to make them liable therefor

Accused ASTERIO C TOLENTINO JR., is hereby found

‘NOT GUILTY and ACQUITTED of the charges against him for

failure of the prosecutmn to-prove his guilt beyond reasbnable
doubt. No civil liability is adjudged as the Court finds no b sis to
make him liable therefor. Let the hold departure order agalnst
him by reason of this case be lifted and set aside, and h :? bond "
released, subject to the usual aecountmg and audltmg proc|edure “
- )

- 3. InCriminal Case No. SB-15-CRM- 0098 accuseq JOEL
G. SALVADOR, ROLANDO C. REYES and DAVID 0. DOMINONG
are NOT GUILTY of violation of Section 3(e) of R.A. 3019, and are
hereby ACQUITTED of the charge. No civil liability is adjudged

- as the Court finds no basis to make them liable therefor. Let the

hold departure order against them by reason of this case be lifted
and set aside, and their bonds released, subject to the usual
accounting and audltlng procedure o [

4. In Criminal Case No. SB-15-CRM- 0099, accuse'd JOEL
G. SALVADOR and PERLITA L 'MAURI are found guilty, '‘beyond
reasonable doubt of the crime:of Illegal Use of Pubhc Funds
penalized under. Article 220 of the Revised Penal Code and are

3 hereby meted a fine of Sixty Thousand Nine Hundred F1ft)lr Pesos
(P60,950.00), pursuant to the second paragraph of the said

provision. No civil liability is hereby adjudged as the couft does
not find any basxs therefor ' i

Accused ASTERIO C. TOLENTINO, JR. is found NOT
GUILTY of the crime of Illegal Use of Public Funds pepa.hzed’
under Article 220 of the Revised Penal Code and is hereby
ACQUITTED of the charge. No civil liability is hereby ad_]udged as
the court does not find any basis therefor. Let the hold departure
order against him by reason of this case be lifted and set aside,
and his bond released, subject to the usual accountmg and
auditing procedure.

SO ORDERED.
Quezon City, ‘Metro Manila, Philippineé.

GERA% Fah i%oﬂe

- Associate J ustice
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